Improving monitoring methods and determining the breeding success of Grey Crowned Cranes (*Balearica regulorum*) within a key agricultural area in South Africa

by

Carmen Rosa Demmer (Ortmann)

submitted in accordance with the requirements for the degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE

in the subject

LIFE SCIENCES

at the

UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH AFRICA

SUPERVISOR: PROF T MCINTYRE

DECEMBER 2023

Abstract

Endangered Grey Crowned Cranes (*Balearica regulorum*) primarily inhabit unprotected areas subject to substantial land-use transformation. With a limited understanding of this species' reproductive success, this study aimed to i) improve monitoring methods of nesting and social groupings and ii) identify this species' reproductive output in response to environmental conditions. To produce monitoring guidelines, I compared behavioural responses of pairs, families and flocks to traditional on-foot and drone monitoring. Flocks took flight at greater distances when approached on-foot than by drones, while nesting birds were more sensitive to vertical drone approach angles. Breeding metrics from 95 nest sites revealed a low overall breeding success, with most nest sites failing to transition from eggs to hatchlings. Higher success rates were found at nests closer to natural grasslands and human development. Altogether, this crane species would benefit from consistent monitoring, collaborative efforts, and a skilful balance between preserving biodiversity within rapidly developing landscapes.

Key words: behavioural responses; drones; endangered species; environmental influences; Gruidae; human disturbance; land-use transformation; monitoring guidelines; nesting success; unmanned aerial systems; wetlands.

Declaration

I, Carmen Rosa Demmer (Student number: 14771373), declare that this Masters dissertation ("Improving monitoring methods and determining the breeding success of Grey Crowned Cranes, *Balearica regulorum*, within a key agricultural area in South Africa") is my own work and that all the sources that I have used or quoted have been indicated and acknowledged by means of complete references.

I further declare that I submitted the dissertation to the appropriate originality checking software system which is endorsed by UNISA and that it falls within the accepted requirements for originality.

I further declare that I have not previously submitted this work, or part of it, for examination at UNISA for another qualification or at any other higher education institution.

R)emmer

Signed: Carmen Rosa Demmer Date: 14 December 2023 "Be strong and courageous. Do not be frightened, and do not be dismayed, for the Lord your God is with you wherever you go." - **Joshua 1:9**

For Stuart, my husband, who without hesitation,

always stands by my side.

The candidate conducted this research as part of her academic pursuits within the Discipline of Zoology, Department of Life Sciences and Consumer Sciences, College of Agriculture and Environmental Science, University of South Africa, Pretoria, South Africa. The research was carried out under the guidance of Associate Professor Trevor McIntyre. None of the material presented in this dissertation has been previously submitted to or considered by any other university. The results documented in this dissertation are solely the outcome of the candidate's investigations. As a disclaimer, we would like to highlight that Chapters 2 and 3 were written as individual papers. This may result in some repetition in a few sections (e.g., methods) between Chapters 2 and 3.

emmer

Carmen Rosa Demmer (nee Ortmann)

the

Associate Professor Trevor McIntyre



Carmen Demmer – published on the Getaway Magazine's feed, 2022.

"Golden Grey Crowned Cranes with a storm rolling in at sunset. This photograph, and this flock in particular, hold much significance to me as it represents individuals from the flock that initially encouraged me to do my research project on this species. It is also when my love for the cranes first took flight." The outputs of this dissertation would not have been possible without the many who generously dedicated their time, energy, financial assistance, guidance, and words of encouragement.

I would like to thank my supervisor, Trevor McIntyre, for mentoring me through each stage of this degree and for helping me hurdle the challenges of studying an endangered species with a relatively novel research tool. Your thorough feedback and careful editing of my drafts significantly contributed to the quality of this dissertation.

Notably, this endeavour would not have been possible without the farmers and landowners who generously granted me unrestricted access to conduct my research on their property. The remarkable wetlands in the Underberg, Franklin and Kokstad regions have left a lasting impression on me, and their present state is a testament to the dedication and involvement of the landowners in helping to steward our ecosystems. I would like to give a special thanks to Wayne McNamara and Anne Louwrens, whose assistance helped foster connections between landowners and myself in my study areas. I am grateful for the individuals who provided suggestions and insights during the early stages of this project, with particular thanks to Pete Clowes. The time and generosity of those who regularly reported sightings, offered venues for presentations and fundraisers, hosted me for field trips, and provided words of encouragement have also not gone unnoticed.

I am deeply indebted to the funders of this project, who played a pivotal role in bringing this endeavour to fruition. Julie Braby, your optimistic outlook, contributions, and belief in the potential of a project that had yet to demonstrate its worth, were instrumental in turning my initial aspirations into reality. Secondly, to Jon Bates and the members of the KZN Crane Foundation (KZNCF) – your financial contributions towards my fieldwork and equipment expenses helped facilitate further data collection, which contributed to larger sample sizes, strengthening the reliability of this project's findings. While these financial contributions came directly from the KZNCF, I acknowledge and appreciate the support and donations indirectly provided by all stakeholders associated with the Foundation. I have been deeply moved by the KZNCF, their supportive engagement in this project's success and their authentic commitment to crane conservation.

My acknowledgements would not be complete without thanking my friends and family. Each of you has offered a listening ear, understanding, and moral support throughout my academic journey. The greatest gift I received from my parents has been their support for my passions and interests. Because of you, I had the privilege of extensively travelling our beautiful country when I was younger. I remember the many biodiverse areas we visited with fond memories and appreciate how these holidays instilled and grew my love for nature and conservation. Stuart, words cannot describe your steadfast love, support, and encouragement – not only over the past two years, but this was already evident when we first met. Once again, I am reminded that with you by my side, we can make it through all the hills and valleys of life.

Finally, I give all glory to God, who faithfully guides my steps according to His plan for my life. During the many hours I spent in the field, I was constantly amazed at the complexity and purpose of each aspect in an ecosystem. This only boasts our Creator, the One who gave life to us and all the beauty that surrounds us.

Abst	tract	i		
Declarationii				
Dedicationiii				
Preface and disclaimeriv				
Acknowledgements				
Table of Contents				
List of Figures1				
List of Tables1				
List	of Abbreviations	14		
Cha	pter 1: Introduction	15		
1.1	Title	15		
1.2	Brief taxonomy and description of focal species	15		
1.3	Background	17		
1.4 1.4.1 1.4.2 1.4.3 1.4.4 1.4.5	Literature review Conservation status and distribution of South Africa's crane species Breeding biology, nest site selection, and breeding success Wetland bird monitoring for conservation Technology overview Conclusions.	19 20 22 27 28 35		
1.5	The problem statement and justification	36		
1.6	Aims and research questions	36		
1.7	Dissertation structure	38		
1.8	Ethics statement	38		
Chapter 2: Drones as a tool to study and monitor endangered Grey Crowned Cranes (<i>Balearica regulorum</i>): behavioural responses and recommended guidelines				
Dedication				
2.1	Title	40		
2.2	Abstract	40		

2.3	Introduction	.41	
2.4	Materials and methods	. 44	
2.4.1	Study area	44	
2.4.2	Experimental design	44	
2.5 2.5 1	Results	. 53	
2.5.2	Nesting approach study	57	
2.6	Discussion	. 58	
2.6.1	Reaction of GCC groupings to monitoring methods	59	
2.6.2	Species-specific guidelines and future recommendations	61	
2.6.3	Conclusions	63	
Chap enda	oter 3: Breeding success and environmental correlates of angered Grey Crowned Cranes (<i>Balearica regulorum</i>) in cultural areas of KwaZulu-Natal. South Africa	64	
ayın	ation	.04	
Dedic	cation	. 64	
3.1	Title	. 65	
3.2	Abstract	. 65	
3.3	Introduction	. 66	
3.4	Methods and materials	. 68	
3.4.1	Description of the study area	68	
3.4.2	Data collection	69	
2 5	Posulte	75	
3.5.1	Breeding outcomes	.75	
3.5.2	Transition probabilities	77	
3.5.3	Breeding success	78	
3.6	Discussion	. 82	
3.6.1	Overview of breeding outcomes	82	
3.6.2	Transition stages		
3.6.4	Rainfall interactions	84	
3.6.5	Macro-environmental conditions	85	
3.6.6	Conclusions	87	
Chap	oter 4: Synthesis, conclusions and recommendations	.88	
4.1	Research findings in relation to research aims and questions	. 88	
4.2	Limitations and future recommendations	. 89	
4.3	Conclusions	. 90	
References			

List of Figures

- Figure 2.1: Visual depiction of (a) schematic representation of systematic drone flight paths to test bird response to the presence of a traversing drone, B = breeding and NB = nonbreeding social groupings; (b) on-foot methodology, using a range finder to determine distance between observer and subject grouping and a digital camera to capture the behavioural responses of subject groupings as the observer approaches, (c) schematic representation of the breeding bird approach experiment and (d) behaviour response types as seen from drone and on-foot approaches. Behaviour types 1–5 are representative of the behaviour response types used for the majority of analyses. Disturbance responses 1–3 are representative of the responses used for the approach angle investigation.

- Figure 2.4: Mean (± 95 % confidence intervals) Grey Crowned Crane (GCC) behavioural response class observed across decreasing on-foot approach distance and drone flight altitude for three GCC grouping types. Dashed vertical lines indicate the flight height at which the evasive behaviours (moving or flying away) become more likely to occur than non-evasive behaviours. Drone and on-foot results were obtained from two separate analyses because of methodological differences and so are not directly comparable...55
- Figure 2.6: Mean (±95 % confidence intervals) behaviour response class response for Grey Crowned Cranes across flock size. The methods plotted are the result of separate

- Figure 3.5: Mean (± 95 % confidence interval) date at which Grey Crowned Crane developmental stages were observed between successful and unsuccessful sites......75

- Figure 3.9: Model averaged effect sizes. Response variables represent distances from nest sites to the point of interest in meters for all covariates except for wetland area and dam area, which are measured in m²/1000. Positive effect sizes represent a positive relationship between increased distance between the nest site and the point of interest (or size of wetland or dam) and increased nest site success. Negative effect sizes represent

List of Tables

Table 3.1: Description of data collection (counts and means (95 % confidence intervals) and rainfall amounts and intensities during the breeding season (Oct 2022 – May 2023) across different areas where GCC nest sites were identified. Rainfall intensity was measured over 10-day rolling periods throughout the observation period. Rainfall intensity results that share the same superscript letters indicate means that cannot be shown to be different.

List of Abbreviations

- AIC Akaike information criterion
- G grams
- GCC Grey Crowned Crane
- H hours
- Kg kilograms
- KZN KwaZulu-Natal
- KZNCF The KwaZulu-Natal Crane Foundation
- M meters
- Mm millimetres
- Min minutes
- Sec seconds

2

1

3 1.1 Title

4 Improving monitoring methods and determining the breeding success of Grey Crowned

5 Cranes (Balearica regulorum) within a key agricultural area in South Africa

6 1.2 Brief taxonomy and description of focal species

7 Cranes (Aves: Gruidae) are long-lived species with an average generation length of 8 12.5 years (Bird et al., 2020). These waterbirds are usually monogamous, physically 9 large, long-legged and -necked. They are found on all continents except Antarctica and South America (Johnsgard, 1983; Krajewski et al., 2010). Four of the fifteen crane 10 species within the Gruidae bird family are endemic to Africa, among them the Grey 11 12 Crowned Crane, which is the focal species of this study. Grey Crowned Cranes and 13 Black Crowned Cranes (*Balearica pavonina*) are among the oldest species within the 14 crane family, and they are the only two species belonging to the sub-family 15 Balearicinae. The gene pool of Crowned Cranes is split into two sub-species: the 16 Eastern African Grey Crowned Crane (*B. regulorum gibbericeps*), which has a larger



Figure 1.1: Photograph of an adult Grey Crowned Crane (
 : Carmen Demmer).

area of bare red skin above the white cheek patch, and the Southern African Grey 17 Crowned Crane (B. regulorum regulorum, hereafter GCC) (Figure 1.1) (Beilfuss et al., 18 2007). Grey Crowned Crane adults (which live up to 20 – 30 years in the wild – Allan, 19 1996; Wamiti et al., 2021) are easily recognisable by their above-average height (± 1 20 21 m), grey body feathers, white circular shape on their closed wings, red gular sack under 22 the chin, and characteristic crown of stiff golden feathers (Johnsgard, 1983). Other 23 than their characteristic crown, Crowned Cranes differ from the sub-family Gruine as they have a short, uncoiled trachea which allows them to produce a distinct honking 24 25 noise (Johnsgard, 1983), and they possess hind toes which enable them to grasp onto structures for roosting or perching (Olupot, 2016). Their taxonomic classification is as 26 27 follows:

Conservation status:	Endangered
Domain:	Eukaryota
Kingdom:	Animalia
Phylum:	Chordata
Class:	Aves
Order:	Gruiformes
Family:	Gruidae
Sub-family:	Balearicinae
Genus:	Balearica
Species:	B. regulorum

28 Grey Crowned Cranes were considered Africa's most common crane in 2004, with an 29 estimated population of 50 000 – 64 000 individuals (Beilfuss et al., 2007). Since then, their population has declined by about 65 - 79 %, which resulted in their up-listing from 30 31 Vulnerable to Endangered on the International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN) Red List of Threatened Species (hereafter "IUCN Red List") in 2012 (BirdLife 32 33 International, 2024b). The two primary causes of their decline include the destruction and fragmentation of their habitat which has resulted in greater exposure to human 34 pressures and secondly, the illegal removal of birds and their eggs from their natural 35 surroundings (Meine & Archibald, 1996; Olupot et al., 2010; Fakarayi et al., 2016). 36

1.3 Background

Globally, biodiversity and economic growth compete for the same resources (Olupot, 38 2016; Tilman et al., 2017), but with economic development progressing at a faster rate, 39 habitat loss and species decline have been on the rise (Stevens & Conway, 2020). 40 Although agricultural landscapes can promote biodiversity (Tyrrell et al., 2020), 41 42 intensive farming practices commonly drive the transformation of important natural 43 ecosystems, which may negatively affect species diversity (Zedler, 2003). Wetlands 44 are key natural systems that provide unique ecosystem services and habitats for 45 numerous threatened and habitat-specialist species (Donnelly et al., 2022; Hemminger 46 et al., 2022). These ecosystems are vulnerable to intensive agricultural practices such as damming, draining and cultivation, which change their structure and functioning 47 48 (Sievers et al., 2018; Xu et al., 2019). This, in turn, affects wetland inhabitants when requirements for specific life events become mismatched from the resources provided 49 50 by the ecosystem (Both et al., 2006; Visser et al., 2015). The cascading effects resulting from modifications to natural ecosystems, together with the loss of habitat 51 52 specialists, results in a positive feedback loop, causing the loss of fundamental ecosystem functions and services provided by both biotic and abiotic elements 53 (Thackeray et al., 2010; Sievers et al., 2018; Toussaint et al., 2021). Breaking this 54 55 positive feedback loop by maintaining or encouraging biodiversity could help prevent 56 further function loss (Tilman et al., 2014).

57 Effectively monitoring and conserving an entire habitat or ecosystem is resource-58 intensive and challenging, especially when funding is limited (Tyrrell et al., 2020). 59 However, the grave consequences of ecosystem destruction on both humanity and 60 biodiversity have increased global concern and efforts to better maintain and conserve remaining ecosystems and biodiversity (Oliver et al., 2015; Xu et al., 2019; Howard et 61 62 al., 2020). A commonly employed strategy has been to identify and conserve a 63 particular charismatic species that relies on the habitat in question (i.e., a flagship or 64 indicator species, Murali et al., 2021). The expected outcome is that successfully conserving the charismatic species will also benefit and sustain other community 65 66 members and overall ecosystem functioning (Toussaint et al., 2021). Cranes (Gruidae) 67 are among the world's most ancient and threatened avian families (Beilfuss et al., 2007; Krajewski et al., 2010; Harris & Mirande, 2013). Their cultural value and 68 charismatic features have resulted in their use as flagship species to encourage the 69 70 conservation of natural grasslands and wetlands, thereby also benefiting other species

within these habitats (Kanyamibwa, 1993; Marcelino et al., 2020; Fraixedas et al.,2020).

73 Three of the fifteen extant crane species inhabit southern Africa. The Blue Crane 74 (Anthropoides paradiseus) is near endemic to South Africa, occupying a small geographical range in largely grassland ecosystems (BirdLife International, 2024a), 75 76 while the Wattled Crane (*Bugeranus carunculatus*) is more dependent on wetlands (McCann & Benn, 2006; Altwegg & Anderson, 2009). Grey Crowned Cranes rely on 77 78 wetlands largely for breeding and grasslands for foraging (Harris & Mirande, 2013; 79 Austin et al., 2018). Although cranes are considered habitat specialists, numerous 80 species are known to benefit from using agricultural land for foraging (Nowald et al., 2018; van Niekerk, 2018; Wamiti et al., 2021). For example, van Velden et al., (2017) 81 report an increase in the survival rates of Blue Cranes in regions where grain crops are 82 grown compared with intact natural habitats. Yet, Su and Zou, (2012) found that Red-83 crowned Crane (Grus japonensis) populations decrease following wetland draining and 84 degradation, since the latter results in a loss of breeding sites. While cranes may 85 86 attempt to adapt to landscape changes, farmer-crane conflicts continue to increase (Olupot et al., 2010; van Niekerk, 2018). As predictions highlight an increase in land 87 88 transformation in sub-Saharan Africa in the coming decades (Tilman et al., 2017), there 89 appears to be no end in sight for this conflict. This is particularly concerning for the GCC, sub-Saharan Africa's most threatened crane species (Harris & Mirande, 2013). 90

Since the GCC occupies a mixture of grassland-wetland ecosystems and is closely 91 92 associated with agricultural lands, they are a potentially interesting indicator species 93 for monitoring agricultural impacts on wetlands in the eastern parts of sub-Saharan 94 Africa. Monitoring birds for conservation purposes has been a longstanding practice (Nichols & Williams, 2006; Greenwood, 2007; Neate-Clegg et al., 2020). However, on-95 foot monitoring of birds that utilise difficult-to-access habitats such as wetlands (one of 96 the primary habitats of the GCCs) poses various challenges in collecting key data 97 98 metrics when solely reliant on such traditional monitoring methods (Wen et al., 2021; 99 Galloway-Griesel et al., 2022). This has been a major hinderance in informing 100 conservation strategies to safeguard the remainder of this crane species' population 101 (Linchant et al., 2015). While human population growth and economic development are inevitable, careful monitoring and conservation programmes need to be 102 103 implemented to cater for this growth and development while ensuring the stability and 104 preservation of the earth's natural ecosystems and biodiversity (Oliver et al., 2015;

105 Tilman et al., 2017; Grêt-Regamey et al., 2019; Lavorel et al., 2020).

106 **1.4 Literature review**

107 The present human population growth trajectory is stimulating demand for natural 108 resources at an unprecedented rate (Rawat & Agarwal, 2015; Tilman et al., 2017), 109 resulting in substantial transformation of natural ecosystems to agricultural land-use 110 types. Although this poses numerous impacts on the environment, among the most 111 important is the reduction of habitats through increased fragmentation, significantly 112 impacting biodiversity loss (Drouilly et al., 2018). Grasslands and wetlands are two of 113 the main habitats identified for agricultural development, as these habitats already 114 have optimum conditions for cereal crops and water storage for irrigation (Olupot et al., 115 2010; Austin et al., 2018). Although landowners can benefit from increased agricultural 116 production when foraging birds assist in pest control, birds can also cause losses by consuming fruits and grains (Anderson et al., 2013; Peisley et al., 2015; Nilsson et al., 117 118 2019).

119 Cranes exhibit both positive and negative responses to agricultural expansion and 120 intensification (Austin et al., 2018). For example, the conservation success of some 121 crane species (e.g., Sandhill Cranes Antigone canadensis tabida, and Common 122 Cranes *Grus grus*) should, in part, be attributed to increased agricultural developments 123 (Hemminger et al., 2022). However, GCCs have a specialised life history requiring 124 wetland areas for breeding and grassland habitats for foraging, and unlike many other 125 crane species, they do not migrate (Amulike et al., 2020), although they are known to 126 make periodic local movements in response to food availability and rainfall patterns 127 (Pomeroy, 1980). These life history strategies make the GCC susceptible to 128 disturbances on multiple fronts, likely contributing to their up-listing from Vulnerable to 129 Endangered in 2012. Yet, the habitat preferences of cranes need to be better 130 understood by landowners so that changes to natural habitats do not interfere with the 131 success of crane populations (Fakarayi et al., 2016). While greater awareness is vital, 132 we need to overcome the primary challenge of data scarcity through effective and consistent monitoring and data collection. 133

To better understand the GCC's response to increasingly developed agroecosystems,
this literature review aimed to contextualise and identify essential knowledge gaps,
with greater emphasis on the GCC's breeding and habitat requirements. Secondly, I
contextualised data collection and monitoring challenges that may impede the effective

138 conservation of wetland-dependent bird species by detailing prior and recent 139 monitoring developments. And lastly, building on the ideas developed from the 140 previous two aims, I suggest possible improvements to traditional monitoring methods 141 to address the growing data paucity concerning GCCs and other large, threatened 142 wetland breeding birds.

143 1.4.1 Conservation status and distribution of South Africa's crane

144 species

Safeguarding biodiversity has been a global objective, yet population declines and 145 146 extinction remain a grim reality (Both et al., 2006; Ceballos et al., 2017; Howard et al., 147 2020). Major land transformations for agricultural development appear inevitable (e.g., 148 sub-Saharan Africa is predicted to undergo prolific agricultural development to support 149 a growing human population – Tilman et al., 2017), however, agricultural lands will 150 remain a key biodiversity pool as numerous species are found in these landscapes in 151 preference to protected areas (Tyrrell et al. 2020). South Africa is considered an internationally important conservation site for the Blue, Wattled, and Grey Crowned 152 153 Crane (GCC), where these species are primarily reliant on unprotected grasslands and wetlands (Fakarayi et al., 2016; Galloway-Griesel et al., 2022). KwaZulu-Natal (KZN), 154 155 one of the few provinces supporting all three crane species, has already seen major 156 transformations of these natural habitats into plantations, pastures, and croplands 157 (Morrison & Bothma, 1998; Weyer et al., 2015). The reliance of cranes on these vulnerable habitats, together with their slow reproductive rate, generally small clutch 158 159 sizes, and extended parental care, all contribute to a greater extinction risk of these 160 birds (Owens & Bennett, 2000; Simmons et al., 2004; Toussaint et al., 2021).

161 Species decline and aspects affecting their decline are bound to differ between regions 162 (Ceballos et al., 2017). This means that conservation strategies employed in one 163 region or on a particular species may not work for another elsewhere. Eleven of the 15 164 extant crane species are categorised as threatened (Beilfuss et al., 2007), primarily because of habitat loss. The sensitivity of cranes in response to changes in their 165 environment has highlighted their ecological importance as indicator species 166 167 (Kanyamibwa, 1993; Harris & Mirande, 2013; Han et al., 2018; Nováková & Robovský, 168 2021). Uncommon or rare species have been shown to contribute novel and distinct 169 functions towards ecosystems, emphasising their importance for conservation 170 strategies (Mouillot et al., 2013). Because of this, several authors argue that functional 171 diversity is a more practical measure of ecosystem health (Rawat & Agarwal, 2015;

172 Toussaint et al., 2021). Yet, ecological theories such as the mass-ratio hypothesis 173 downplay the importance of less abundant species (e.g., the Blue Crane and GCC) 174 because of their low contribution to biomass (Grime, 1998). To overcome these 175 conflicting views, others have viewed species richness as a measure of ecosystem 176 health and rare species as an insurance for ecosystem functionality; however, this still 177 downplays the importance of rare species in providing novel functions. As such, rare, 178 functionally distinct species should be given higher priority in conservation 179 programmes (Both et al., 2006; Thackeray et al., 2010; Mouillot et al., 2013; 180 Charmantier & Gienapp, 2014). Altogether, this suggests that maintaining endemism 181 and increasing focus on smaller-ranging species (i.e., most threatened species) with 182 unique ecological functions may help preserve the biodiversity in smaller hotspots, 183 ultimately assisting in improving biodiversity at a larger scale (Murali et al., 2021). 184 Whilst cranes may be useful in such a conservation approach, significant knowledge 185 gaps still exist in our understanding of these birds.

186 Blue and Wattled Cranes have been relatively well-studied, and in recent years, their IUCN Red List rating has been down-listed to "Vulnerable" following stable population 187 trends (Harris & Mirande, 2013; Olupot, 2016; Galloway-Griesel et al., 2022; Wamiti et 188 189 al., 2022). Although Galloway-Griesel et al. (2022) indicate greater stability of the 190 current number of GCCs in KwaZulu-Natal, their numbers are still declining elsewhere. 191 They were up-listed from Vulnerable to Endangered in 2012 following a significant (30 192 - 49 %) decline in their global population over recent decades (Morrison, 2015; 193 Morrison et al., 2019). With their natural habitats increasingly shifting towards human-194 dominated landscapes, GCCs have experienced increased incidences of poisoning, 195 breeding failures following damming and drainage of wetlands, powerline collisions, 196 hunting, illegal trading, disease, and predation (Harris & Mirande, 2013; Olupot, 2016; 197 Amulike et al., 2020; Galloway-Griesel et al., 2022). Furthermore, a poor understanding 198 of this species' breeding success, nest site preferences, and habitat availability have 199 hindered effective conservation (Fakarayi et al., 2016; Wamiti et al., 2022) – especially 200 in response to increased anthropogenic presence. This species' vulnerability to habitat 201 loss highlights the need to assess their historical and present breeding status and habitat utilisation to assist in developing baselines and addressing data paucity 202 203 (Stevens & Conway, 2020). Given the close associations of GCCs with wetland areas 204 for breeding, their risk of extinction may increase unless they can readily adapt to a 205 changing environment (Wamiti et al., 2022).

1.4.2 Breeding biology, nest site selection, and breeding success

207 Breeding biology

208 Before becoming sexually mature, juveniles generally travel further than adults to 209 locate new foraging grounds and mating opportunities, thereby acting as a form of 210 dispersal (Wolfson et al., 2020; Thompson et al., 2022). Conversely, adults (specifically 211 of non-migratory crane species) tend to undertake shorter movements to defend 212 territory and raise young. Most crane species are highly social and gather in medium $(n \ge 30)$ to large $(n \ge 150)$ "floater flocks" during their non-breeding season (Miller & 213 214 Barzen, 2016; Austin et al., 2018; Ojaste et al., 2020; Galloway-Griesel et al., 2022). 215 These floater flocks provide interaction opportunities among individuals and allow 216 immature cranes to identify a suitable mate. During flocking periods, cranes are often 217 seen displaying in the form of a dance, a behaviour that improves bonding or pairing 218 up for the next breeding season. Whooping Crane (Grus americana) breeding pairs 219 begin associating some years before commencing breeding and even before reaching 220 sexual maturity (Teitelbaum et al., 2017). Comparable findings have been noted in a 221 marked cohort of GCCs at Lake Ol' Bolossat in Kenya, where pairs had formed at approximately two years of age and, under favourable conditions, started breeding at 222 223 around five years of age (Wamiti, pers. Obs., 2024). This close association may have 224 some post-breeding benefits with greater familiarity between partners reducing the 225 chance of separation and thus improving parenting ability. These findings highlight the 226 valuable role of these flocking periods in the reproductive success of these species and perhaps cranes in general. 227

228 After reaching sexual maturity between four and six years, GCC pairs associate and 229 become highly territorial during their breeding season, often then mating for life 230 (Pomeroy, 1980; Morrison, 2015; Wamiti et al., 2022). Crowned Cranes generally nest 231 during the wet season (Geldenhuys, 1984; Sundar, 2009; Wu et al., 2009; Hayes & Barzen, 2016). In South Africa, the peak egg-laying period of GCCs occurs between 232 233 November and January; however, in other geographical regions such as Kenya, this species breeds all year round (Morrison, 2015; Wamiti et al., 2022). Breeding during 234 235 higher rainfall allows them to take advantage of the greater seed and insect abundance to ensure good chick growth and parent condition (Gichuki, 2000; Austin et al., 2018; 236 237 Wamiti et al., 2022). Grey Crowned Cranes construct large platform nests amongst the 238 tall, damp vegetation in wetlands (Wamiti et al., 2020). This helps to conceal the nest 239 and their young from land predators (e.g., serval Leptailurus serval, and black-backed

jackal *Lupulella mesomelas*). Another strategy employed by GCC parents is synchronised incubation, whereby both parents share incubation responsibilities to protect eggs from aerial predators (Wamiti et al., 2020; Wen et al., 2021).

243 Grey Crowned Cranes are among the smallest crane species, yet their clutch sizes are 244 larger (n = 2 - 3 and rarely 4 eggs) than those of other cranes (Wamiti et al., 2022). 245 They also attempt to rear all hatchlings in a season rather than selecting to raise just 246 one of their offspring (e.g., Wattled Crane) (Morrison, 2015; Zelelew et al., 2019). Other 247 species, such as the Blue, Whooping and Sarus (Grus antigone) Cranes, also lay multiple eqgs (n = 2) and attempt to rear both offspring; however, only one offspring 248 249 generally survives (Bidwell, 2004; Sundar & Choudhury, 2005). Egg manipulation can 250 be an effective conservation tool, especially when more than one egg is laid. For 251 example, removing Whooping Crane eggs during incubation can improve overall nest 252 success by rearing captive young whilst allowing parents to provide increased attention 253 to a single offspring (Boyce et al., 2005). As with other crane species, GCC parents 254 share responsibilities throughout their (28 – 31 days) incubation period (e.g., Sundar 255 & Choudhury, 2005; Zhang et al., 2017) and during chick rearing. Following hatching, 256 parents teach their offspring foraging skills and anti-predator behaviours. The GCC's 257 anti-predator behaviours usually take the form of hiding their chicks, leaving the area 258 to divert attention from the nest or offspring, and returning only once it is safe to do so 259 (Morrison & Bothma, 1998). Combined parental care allows young cranes to spend 260 more time foraging while parents remain vigilant (Alonso & Alonso, 1993; Hartup & 261 Horwich, 1994; Nowald, 2001). Once GCC chicks fledge (55 – 100 days after hatching 262 - Gichuki, 2000), parents and their sub-adult offspring usually join nearby floater flocks 263 for the non-breeding season. The adult pair then returns to their breeding site in the 264 following season to reinitiate breeding, leaving their offspring from the previous season 265 in the floater flock (Johnsgard, 1983; Morrison, 1998).

266 Longer-lived species display a delayed life-history curve where reproductive output 267 tapers off as they reach senescence (Brown & Orians, 1970; Ekman et al., 2004; 268 Hammers et al., 2012; Barwisch et al., 2022). This general pattern also holds true for 269 cranes. Members belonging to the crane family display generational lengths of 270 approximately 12 years, which is substantially longer than the average of about three years for all bird species (Owens & Bennett, 2000; Zelelew et al., 2019; Bird et al., 271 2020; Edwards et al., 2022). However, the delayed sexual maturity of juvenile cranes 272 (Tacha et al., 1989; Coverdale & McCann, 2003; Brown et al., 2019) is a major limiting 273

factor of successful crane conservation efforts (Donaldson et al., 2023). Identifying reproductive metrics and the factors that inhibit or promote reproductive success is therefore key to ensuring successful conservation outcomes, especially in long-lived species such as cranes (Nisbet, 2001; Wamiti et al., 2022).

278 Nest site selection

279 Cranes usually show a strong separation in their breeding and foraging habitats. While 280 foraging habitats are fairly exposed, their breeding site choice is more conservative, 281 with most crane species nesting at higher altitude sites and wetlands (Morrison & 282 Bothma, 1998; Borad et al., 2001; Wu et al., 2009; Han et al., 2017). A significant 283 challenge in crane conservation is the declining availability of these sites within 284 intensively farmed landscapes (Beilfuss et al., 2007). Grey Crowned Cranes may be more vulnerable to changes in their environment because of their non-migratory 285 286 behaviour and life-history traits, which may limit long-distance movements in search of 287 alternative foraging and nesting sites during harsh periods (Ramírez et al., 2018; 288 Donnelly et al., 2022; Wamiti et al., 2022). In some regions GCCs avoid nesting near 289 disturbed wetlands (Morrison & Bothma, 1998), but over the subsequent decade there 290 were increased reports of GCCs utilising disturbed waterbodies (Olupot et al., 2010). 291 Although this may suggest some adaptation of GCCs to changes in their environment, 292 more frequent nesting in human-modified habitats does not necessarily translate into 293 successful breeding outcomes. Disturbances to vulnerable breeding habitats generally 294 affect the environmental factors surrounding the breeding site, which can directly or 295 indirectly influence a species' reproductive success (e.g., Wu et al., 2009; Zhang, An, 296 Shu, & Yang, 2017; Wamiti et al., 2022).

297 Spatial scale and environmental factors (e.g., disturbances from nearby settlements 298 and roads, water body proximity, vegetation height and density) are known to influence 299 the White-naped Crane's (Grus vipio) perception of habitat availability and nest site 300 suitability (Wu et al., 2014). Like White-naped Cranes, GCCs also tend to select nest 301 sites that are associated with tall vegetation (Morrison & Bothma, 1998), while water 302 depth and distances to open water edges further influence the likelihood of nest sites 303 being located in specific areas (Wamiti et al., 2020; Wamiti et al., 2022). These micro-304 habitat characteristics can influence the survival of young by improving egg and chick 305 protection, modifying the physical conditions around the nest (e.g., temperature and humidity) that affect egg development, or reducing the distance to food sources (Wu 306 307 et al., 2014). Although cranes seldom re-use the same nest for subsequent breeding

attempts, successfully raising young at a nest site may increase the likelihood of a pair
returning to the same wetland or waterbody in the following breeding season (Morrison,
2015).

311 An alternative explanation for increased nesting in disturbed locations might be that 312 cranes have little choice but to select nest sites in these areas since preferred sites 313 have become saturated (Fox et al., 2019). Yet a greater understanding is needed of 314 GCC nesting requirements and the resilience and adaptation of their breeding 315 strategies in response to particular land-use types. One tool that may be useful in this regard is a species/habitat distribution model (Franklin, 2013). Species/habitat models 316 317 already exist for some crane species in specific regions (Han et al., 2017; Mi et al., 318 2017; Zacarias, 2018) and for GCCs in Uganda (Stabach et al., 2009) but they do not 319 yet exist for GCCs in KZN. Assembling such a model could greatly assist with predicting the future habitat availability and survival rates of GCCs in response to 320 321 climatic and land-use projections in the southern Drakensberg – an internationally 322 important site for crane conservation (Galloway-Griesel et al., 2022). If GCCs can 323 breed in urban or disturbed wetlands successfully, this could sustain their population 324 sizes, as is seen with the well-adapted Sarus, Demoiselle (Grus virgo), and Sandhill 325 Cranes (Fox et al., 2019; Zelelew et al., 2021).

326 Breeding success

327 A species' ability to breed and successfully raise young positively contributes to the stability of its population (Caswell, 2000; Crone, 2001; Kerr, 2020). Since hatching 328 329 failure is a common challenge amongst threatened bird species (Assersohn et al., 2021), improving reproductive output is a fundamental component of successful 330 331 conservation programmes (e.g., Ekman et al., 2004; Lacy et al., 2015). Several key reproductive metrics require consideration for a general understanding of a species' 332 333 life history (e.g., egg success, nest success – Murray, 2000) and to inform conservation decisions (age at first reproduction – Nisbet, 2001). Breeding programmes attempt to 334 335 assist in this aspect by raising young in a captive setting for re-introduction into the wild 336 (Jones et al., 1995; Bowkett, 2009; Bussolini et al., 2023). Such programmes have 337 commonly been trialled for crane species, but population recovery has not been consistently successful (Coverdale & McCann, 2003; Beilfuss et al., 2007; Edwards et 338 al., 2022; Thompson et al., 2022; Donaldson et al., 2023). This is mainly because of 339 340 challenges relating to offspring viability and the extended period required to reach 341 sexual maturity.

342 The finer details of GCC breeding success, specifically concerning the influences of 343 environmental conditions, are largely unknown. Previous related research on GCCs 344 investigated some of these metrics, but conclusions were largely unsuccessful. This has been because of challenges in locating nest sites and difficulties in monitoring 345 346 nests from eggs through to fledglings (metrics required for determining comprehensive 347 breeding success) (Morrison, 1998). Nonetheless, their research provided measures 348 of GCC average clutch sizes, reportedly the largest (approximately 2.5 eggs) of all 349 crane species (Morrison, 1998). This species' preference for tall vegetation could also 350 make nest sites vulnerable to intensive grazing since this could affect the nest's 351 structural integrity and may expose the nest to predators (Olupot et al., 2010). On the 352 other hand, moderate grazing around GCC nest sites could be beneficial, as grazing 353 animals attract insects (e.g., dung attracts soil invertebrates while new plant growth 354 and greater plant species richness resulting from large grazing herbivores has shown 355 to increase grasshopper abundance – Zhu et al., 2012) and deter domestic predators such as dogs and cats (Gichuki, 1993). Furthermore, geographic variation in the 356 probability of breeding success may be associated with latitude. Since GCCs can 357 358 breed over extended periods in the mid and southern latitudes, this allows more 359 opportunity to renest if a nest fails early in the season (Meine & Archibald, 1996).

360 Grey Crowned Crane breeding success in South Africa was previously reported as a 361 100 % hatching rate (likely over-estimated) and a fledging rate of 42.5 % (McCann & 362 Wilkins, 1995), whilst later reports from Kenya suggested hatching rates of 94.3 % and 363 fledging rates of 67.3 % (Gichuki, 1996). Fledging mortality rates during the first year 364 for GCCs in KZN were estimated to be 35.3 %, dropping by 7.2 % in subsequent years (McCann & Wilkins, 1995). Low fledging rates and substantial declines in GCC 365 366 populations have heightened the urgency of conservation efforts to ensure the 367 sustainability of this species (Beilfuss et al., 2007). While historical breeding metrics 368 may provide some insight into this species' breeding success in previously intact and 369 untransformed habitats, updated and current metrics may be even more concerning 370 than previously predicted.



371

Figure 1.2: A Grey Crowned Crane with two chicks walking in a dairy pasture in southern KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa (: Carmen Demmer).

1.4.3 Wetland bird monitoring for conservation

To maintain biodiversity and ecosystem functioning, ecologists and conservationists 375 376 should prioritise effective and accurate data collection through regular monitoring to 377 best inform conservation decisions of extant species (Znidersic, 2017; Robinson et al., 378 2018). To achieve this, they need to consider the cost-effectiveness of projects, potential limitations of ecological tools, and the characteristics of the focal species (i.e., 379 380 abundance, visibility, and habitat type or range of the species) before implementing 381 data collection or monitoring (Singh & Milner-Gulland, 2011; Trolliet et al., 2014). 382 Conventional sampling and observational methods may be adequate for abundant and 383 conspicuous species that inhabit open vegetation (Belton et al., 2018; Qufa & Bekele, 384 2019; Rime et al., 2020). However, alternative methods are required for optimal data 385 collection for rare or inconspicuous species that inhabit logistically challenging 386 environments (Znidersic, 2017; Schad & Fischer, 2022). This section outlines the 387 challenges surrounding data collection at breeding sites of uncommon waterbirds with 388 specific reference to the GCC. It also discusses the advantages and disadvantages of 389 traditional and novel monitoring methods, whilst identifying present and future technologies that could improve data collection and the impact of this information on 390

391 existing conservation programmes.

392 Grey Crowned Cranes mostly forage and socialise in grasslands and croplands 393 (Stabach et al., 2009; Fakarayi et al., 2016). Monitoring cranes and other large birds 394 under these conditions with traditional methods can be relatively simple, with 395 researchers generally employing spotting scopes and aerial photography to monitor 396 their behaviour and to count individuals (Reintsma et al., 2018; Galloway-Griesel et al., 397 2022). But, as already highlighted, GCCs nest among tall reeds in wetlands and other 398 inland water bodies. This makes their nest sites challenging to locate and monitor 399 (Wamiti et al., 2020; Wen et al., 2021). Collecting breeding metrics is important for 400 informing targeted aspects of conservation management through a better 401 understanding of variables that may influence a species' nest site selection and 402 breeding success (Conover et al., 2011; Assandri et al., 2017; Wamiti et al., 2020). As 403 such, valuable data have been obtained to date by accessing wetland nest sites via 404 wading or boating, thereby physically measuring nest site factors (involving invasive 405 procedures such as close proximity to birds on nests and handling of eggs) (Ruiz-406 Guerra & Echeverry-Galvis, 2019; Zelelew et al., 2019). Despite the value of this 407 information, collecting data in this manner creates pathways to nest sites – which make 408 nesting birds more vulnerable to natural predators, whilst disturbances to nesting birds 409 may result in nest abandonment and reduced chick survival rates (Coverdale, 2006; 410 Champagnon et al., 2019; Wamiti et al., 2020). In KZN, these challenges are partially 411 overcome by monitoring crane populations and breeding sites through aerial surveys using aeroplanes (Galloway-Griesel et al., 2022). While this method can monitor 412 413 population trends of the focal species, aerial monitoring in KZN is limited to annual 414 flights during the non-breeding season of the GCC. This is primarily because of the 415 high costs involved in implementing this monitoring method, which would rise 416 significantly if extended to monitoring the breeding periods of the other two local crane 417 species (Galloway-Griesel et al., 2022). Effective and regular monitoring of the focal 418 species' breeding via traditional methods has thus remained challenging (on-foot 419 methods) and is virtually non-existent (aerial surveys).

- 420 1.4.4 Technology overview
- 421 Traditional methods

422 Marshland and wetland birds have been, and still are, often detected by their 423 vocalisations, while monitoring relies primarily on presence/absence estimates through 424 direct observations, bioacoustic techniques, and call-playbacks of birds (Nasirwa &

425 Bennun, 2000; Conway, 2011; Frommolt & Tauchert, 2014; Frommolt, 2017). These 426 traditional methods may be cost-effective, but they are also time-consuming and easily 427 biased by external factors such as the distance of the birds to the caller, vegetation 428 density, and weather conditions (Conway & Gibbs, 2011; Verhoeven et al., 2020). On-429 foot methods are valuable for dry terrain (when the focal species is abundant and less 430 sensitive); however, covering larger areas may become less effective and more 431 resource-intensive (Francis et al., 2020). Aeroplanes have thus long been employed 432 as a monitoring tool to help gather data in logistically challenging habitats, such as 433 wetlands (Kingsford & Porter, 2009; Galloway-Griesel et al., 2022). Aerial surveys are 434 useful to determine a species' density, and large areas can be quickly covered over a 435 short period. This minimises the chance of detecting a bird or flock multiple times – as 436 might occur when observations take place over weeks or months (Kingsford & Porter, 437 2009). Furthermore, aerial photographs provide a lasting data record that can be used 438 for subsequent *post-hoc* data analysis allowing for exact counts of individuals, which, 439 if repeated annually, can provide comprehensive population trends (Galloway-Griese) 440 et al., 2022). However, this method is costly (Anderson & Gaston, 2013) and vulnerable 441 to biases or errors relating to species size and reaction to aerial threats and noise, 442 weather conditions, and vegetation cover (thus limited to larger-sized animals, open 443 habitats, and clear weather, flight path, aircraft type and observers' ability and fatigue) 444 (Hedges & O'Brien, 2012). Although traditional methods mentioned earlier facilitate 445 interaction with community members and volunteers, some argue that using aerial 446 surveys reduces such opportunities for community engagement (Wamiti & Kimani, 447 2020).

448 Another challenge in monitoring birds is identifying an individual's movement through 449 an area or across the globe. Although aerial surveys may provide a snapshot of a 450 species' distribution throughout an area, it is challenging to determine which habitats 451 are preferred at the individual level. Bird rings can be used as an alternative to obtain 452 such behavioural and ecological information (Webster et al., 2002; Anderson & Green, 453 2009; Thorup et al., 2014). Rings are generally placed on a bird's leg from fledging 454 onwards, with combinations of numbers and colours used to identify individuals, and 455 recorded morphological measurements describe the ringed subject (Griesser et al., 456 2012). Ringing is relatively cost-effective, but it does require regular monitoring and a 457 substantial number of ringed individuals to improve the chances of finding a ringed bird 458 during subsequent observations, which can be time-consuming (van Velden et al., 459 2017). However, this method has proven useful in East Africa (specifically Kenya and

460 Uganda), where an ongoing programme for ringing crane juveniles not only identifies 461 individual birds but also populations through selected colour ring combinations 462 (Wamiti, pers. comm., 2024). This methodology has also been implemented on some 463 crane species in KZN (Morrison, 1998; McCann & Benn, 2006; van Velden et al., 464 2017). One of these studies (van Velden et al., 2017), reported ringing 649 Blue Cranes 465 and obtained valuable course-scale insights into Blue Crane movement patterns. 466 However, they suggested using alternative methods (e.g., animal-borne GPS (Global 467 Positioning System) tags) to improve post-tagging collection efficiency and to provide 468 a more robust and accurate understanding of fine-scale movement patterns of this 469 species. Despite the accuracy and potentially high spatio-temporal frequency of rings, 470 there is always a risk of physically harming the bird by selecting an incorrectly sized 471 ring, which can result in inflammation or crippling of the leg (Griesser et al., 2012). 472 These traditional approaches have provided substantial data and insight into bird 473 population dynamics and ecosystem functioning. But there are certainly costs (in the 474 form of financial, physical handling and disturbance) associated with these methods that could be overcome through newer technologies and methods. 475

476 Novel methods

477 The many possible limitations experienced through direct observations, aerial surveys, 478 and ringing or tagging can, to some extent, be overcome by adopting newer 479 technologies – often providing more effective and efficient data collection than direct 480 methods (Fiedler, 2009; Verstraeten et al., 2010; Hodgson et al., 2016, 2018; Lee et 481 al., 2019). More advanced methods used to monitor rare and inconspicuous species 482 found in challenging terrain include camera traps, animal-borne tags (including high frequency, GPS, and satellite-linked tags), and use of unmanned aerial vehicles (UAV) 483 484 commonly known as drones (Vas et al., 2015; Borrelle & Fletcher, 2017; Lyons et al., 485 2018; Afán et al., 2018; Francis et al., 2020; Wen et al., 2021; Wilson et al., 2021). 486 Animal-borne tags provide more detailed information on waterbird movement patterns and habitat utilisation and reduce the amount of time required to directly monitor the 487 488 subject (e.g., Sandhill Cranes – Donnelly et al., 2021; ducks – McDuie et al., 2019). 489 However, these tracking devices can impede a bird's locomotive ability, increase the 490 time spent foraging, and raise divorce rates, which may reduce the chance of nesting 491 (Culik et al., 1994; Barron et al., 2010; Bodey et al., 2018; Lameris et al., 2018). To 492 minimise this impact on an animal's locomotor ability (especially swimming or flying 493 animals), researchers have been encouraged to optimise the tag design and 494 positioning on the animal by using computational fluid dynamics. Doing so has shown

495 to reduce the drag imposed by a generic tag on seals by up to 22 % (Kay et al., 2019). 496 Attaching GPS tracking devices is more complicated than ringing, which prolong the 497 handling process and causes greater stress on the subject, potentially resulting in 498 death (Barron et al., 2010). While this approach may be costly, advancements in 499 technology aimed at reducing the size and enhancing the suitability of devices for 500 specific target species are expected to decrease the costs associated with deploying 501 these devices (Kay et al., 2019).

502 Camera trapping is another monitoring method that has been successfully implemented for detecting rare, cryptic, and nocturnal animals – often being used to 503 504 study the abundance, density, and behaviour of wildlife (Trolliet et al., 2014; Swanson 505 et al., 2015; Znidersic, 2017; Colyn et al., 2020; Ortmann & Johnson, 2021; Moore et 506 al., 2021; Cordier et al., 2022; Laux et al., 2022). Animals are more likely to display 507 natural behaviour in front of camera traps than in the presence of human researchers 508 (Singh & Milner-Gulland, 2011). Although this is a significant benefit, the initial and 509 recurring monitoring costs may be high as sites need regular visiting to ensure that 510 camera traps are still functioning optimally. For example, researchers must ensure that vegetation has not altered the fields of view of camera traps, Secure Digital cards have 511 512 not reached their storage capacity (if camera traps do not have transmission 513 capability), batteries are functional, and camera traps have not been stolen or 514 damaged (Singh & Milner-Gulland, 2011). With specific reference to bird monitoring, 515 camera traps have made a significant contribution to research on elusive and rare 516 species (e.g., the White-winged Flufftail Sarothrura ayresi – Colyn et al., 2020; and the 517 critically endangered Hooded Vulture Necrosyrtes monachus - Fern et al., 2022). 518 Other research has employed this tool to monitor nesting and foraging behaviours, 519 detect predator-prey interactions, and estimate species composition and abundance 520 within a community (Moore et al., 2021; Laux et al., 2022). Camera traps become less 521 effective for research questions beyond this as the number of camera traps needed 522 often becomes excessive (Kays et al., 2020). Extracting data from the resulting images or video clips also becomes more time-consuming, especially when there are many 523 524 false positives. To overcome this, citizen scientists and machine learning techniques can be used together, to produce a model that can detect empty images and 525 526 successfully differentiate between mammalian species with a high degree of accuracy 527 (Willi et al., 2019).

528 The limitations of the methods discussed above seem to outweigh their benefits in

529 relation to the research questions of this study. Aerial surveys are irregular and costly. 530 while positioning camera traps amongst waterlogged vegetation is likely to pose as 531 much disturbance as visiting nest sites on foot. As such, newer technologies might 532 have greater potential. Remotely Piloted Aircraft Systems (hereafter drones) have 533 become increasingly popular, and numerous studies boast their affordability (in 534 comparison to aeroplanes) and versatility in better understanding animal behaviour 535 and population dynamics (Anderson & Gaston, 2013; Ivosevic et al., 2015; Linchant et 536 al., 2015; Han et al., 2017; Wen et al., 2021; Corcoran et al., 2021; Sorrell et al., 2023). 537 Their manoeuvrability and wide field of view have enabled precise counts and accurate 538 identification of breeding populations for both waterbirds and seabirds (Afán et al., 539 2018; Hodgson et al., 2018; Lyons et al., 2018; Wen et al., 2021). Monitoring and data collection can also be completed more quickly (e.g., Gallego & Sarasola, 2021), 540 541 thereby improving in-field monitoring effectiveness and potentially reducing the stress 542 experienced by subjects. Furthermore, drone software allows for entire areas to be 543 quickly and systematically mapped, enabling multiple species to be detected remotely 544 without handling subject animals and with minimal disturbance to the surrounding 545 habitat (Christie et al., 2016; Han et al., 2017). Despite the wide-ranging use of drones, Callaghan et al. (2018) stress that drone monitoring should be coupled with traditional 546 fieldwork methods when determining the breeding success of birds, as this promotes 547 548 a more holistic dataset collection.

549 Introducing any monitoring tool into an animal's environment will likely introduce at 550 least some disturbance. The noise and unusual movement patterns of drones are no 551 different. Recent studies investigated the response of animals to the presence of 552 drones and revealed that birds are more sensitive to drone monitoring than other 553 vertebrate types (Mulero-Pázmány et al., 2017; Rebolo-Ifrán et al., 2019). However, 554 these responses are species-specific (Vas et al., 2015; Barr et al., 2020; Duporge et 555 al., 2021; Wilson et al., 2021). Presently, no drone monitoring protocols exist for cranes 556 in general or GCCs specifically. Vas et al. (2015) conducted various trials on medium to large waterbirds (mallards Anas platyrhynchos, flamingos Phoenicopterus roseus, 557 and greenshanks Tringa nebularia). The birds in their study showed no significant 558 559 differences in behavioural response when drones were flown at different speeds, but 560 approach angles were important. Birds were less responsive to diagonal approach angles but showed increased responsiveness indicative of stress when approached at 561 562 90° (Vas et al., 2015) or when hovering above birds (Lyons et al., 2017). Generally, 563 data collection benefits from lower drone flight heights, but closer approaches to animal

subjects generally also impose greater disturbance (Lyons et al., 2018; Francis et al.,
2020; Schad & Fischer, 2022). Therefore, some studies have provided guidelines in
this regard, suggesting taking off at specific minimum distances from the area of
interest and generally flying at higher altitudes to reduce the probability that animals
will attempt to escape (e.g., Weston et al., 2020) (although this behaviour can also be
highly species-specific – Barr et al., 2020).

570 The use of drones for monitoring waterbirds

571 Drones are typically flown in low-lying airspaces (< 120 m above the ground), 572 potentially influencing visual and acoustic activities of species that utilise this space 573 (Scholten et al., 2020). Despite the increasing number of publications that advocate for using drones in wildlife monitoring, relatively few studies have actively compared 574 disturbance levels between drones and traditional data collection methods. One study 575 approached wading birds on foot and used a range finder to determine the distance 576 577 from the observer to the birds, recording behavioural changes that may allude to a 578 disturbance effect associated with their approach (Reintsma et al., 2018). Through 579 direct comparisons, their findings concluded that drones were more efficient and 580 caused less immediate disturbance to wading birds. Similarly, Chinstrap Penguins 581 (*Pygoscelis antarcticus*) responded more negatively to human observers conducting 582 ground surveys than to drones flying 30 m above them (Krause et al., 2021). Others have also suggested that drones are more effective at collecting data, once again 583 584 emphasising guicker (and likely less disturbance) data collection with drones than with 585 traditional fieldwork methods (Valle & Scarton, 2020; Gallego & Sarasola, 2021). However, while such studies made inferences about disturbances incurred by the 586 587 animal subjects when monitored with traditional and drone-based methods, levels of 588 disturbance were not quantified. It is also important to note that immediate responses 589 may not fully describe the overall level of stress experienced by the animal (Zink et al., 590 2023). For example, Eurasian Oystercatchers (*Haematopus ostralegus*) temporarily abandoned their nests, whether monitored with drones or on-foot methods (Valle & 591 592 Scarton, 2019). Yet, Oystercatcher parents spent lengthier periods away from their 593 nests when disturbed by drones. These examples show that no single monitoring 594 method is preferred by all species, but the consequence of employing the wrong 595 monitoring method can be severe.

596 A primary consideration before implementing drones in an environment includes 597 assessing any potentially harmful effects (stress) of using drones on the subject

598 species as well as other surrounding species (by-catch) (Vas et al., 2015; Reintsma et 599 al., 2018). Stress is generally measured through physiological changes such as 600 corticosterone levels or behavioural changes in the subject species (Weimerskirch et al., 2018). Ideally, both behavioural and physiological changes should be measured. 601 602 However, measuring the latter usually includes physically handling the species to 603 attach internal (e.g., Zebra Finches Taeniopygia guttatal – Zagkle et al., 2020) or 604 external data loggers (e.g., sub-Antarctic seabirds – Weimerskirch et al., 2018). 605 Alternatively, blood or tissue samples can also be collected for subsequent analysis 606 which can cause further stress. Assessing associated metabolites from faecal samples 607 is also possible, but measuring metabolites in avian species is complicated – urine and 608 faeces are often excreted simultaneously, leading to unknown proportional estimates of hormones in urine or faeces (Sheriff et al., 2011). It is important to note that 609 610 physiological changes may either be expressed immediately or may be delayed 611 (Borrelle & Fletcher, 2017). Birds may therefore not physically manifest stress via 612 behavioural cues. Considering drone-based research studies, those that quantify stress experienced by animals generally did so by measuring behavioural changes 613 614 (Altena & Goedemé, 2014). Behavioural changes can be widely categorised according 615 to the severity of disturbance expressed through behavioural cues, ranging from least 616 to most disturbed (Vas et al., 2015; Brisson-Curadeau et al., 2017; Albores-Barajas et al., 2018; Wen et al., 2021; Fudala & Bialik, 2022). If the target species displays 617 minimal physiological or behavioural changes, particularly when using existing 618 619 monitoring methods, drones could be trialled as an alternative method for monitoring 620 and data collection of the species (Schad & Fischer, 2022).

621 In its unprocessed form, data obtained from drone sensors typically consists of images 622 or videos, while further information can be extracted by using post-processing 623 methods. Manual data extraction may be sufficient for smaller studies (e.g., 624 determining the number of individuals in a specific area, species composition, 625 behaviour responses, Tuia et al., 2022). Larger and more complex biogeographic studies that involve measuring distances, areas and extracting location type data will 626 627 likely require further post-processing in a geographical information system. These larger-scaled monitoring projects may benefit from developing and training 628 629 classification and object detection models via machine-learning techniques (often used 630 for species abundance counts) to improve their data processing rate (Tuia et al., 2022). 631 Although machine learning techniques are useful, they are not always perfect. The 632 variable nature of the imagery collected by drones in terrestrial systems incurs frequent

633 misidentification of objects since subjects may not be well contrasted from their 634 background or differences between similarly sized and coloured heterospecifics may 635 not be detected (Francis et al., 2020; Schad & Fischer, 2022). The initially time-636 consuming task of assembling manually annotated datasets to train a model of the 637 target species and the technical ability required to develop a machine learning model can increase the chance of introducing potentially costly mistakes into the data 638 639 extraction and analysis workflow (Francis et al., 2020). As such, researchers should 640 proceed cautiously with these methods and, where necessary, employ the expertise of 641 those well-versed in these techniques to ensure that the maximal value can be 642 obtained from these data.

643 Although being a relatively recent development, drones have been employed across a 644 wide variety of species. However, limited research shows the use of drones for 645 monitoring cranes. I found three studies that reported the use of drones for crane 646 research. The earliest of these studies demonstrated the effective use of drones and 647 detection algorithms to count roosting Sandhill Cranes (Stark et al., 2017). While the 648 others determined the abundance of Siberian Cranes (Leucogeranus leucogeranus) in China (Wen et al., 2021) and more recently, detecting and counting Common Cranes 649 650 (Chen et al., 2023). Several studies have attempted to compare the accuracy of drone 651 and ground counts. The findings of Wen et al. (2021) corroborated the results reported 652 by Francis et al. (2020), who used semi-automated means of counting waterbirds and 653 highlighted accuracy rates of > 90 % when using freely available software options. Yet 654 the species-specific nature of using drones requires tailoring guidelines according to 655 the response of a certain species to the possible disturbances emitted by a drone. 656 While the previously stated studies revealed useful information when using drones for 657 research on cranes, no specific guidelines exist for cranes in general, or for GCCs 658 specifically.

659 1.4.5 Conclusions

Maintaining viable crane populations in globally important conservation sites is crucial to allow for their ongoing persistence and important contributions to ecosystems. Unfortunately, traditional monitoring methods are time-consuming and inefficient, impeding conservation efforts and neglecting the study of crane species that inhabit difficult-to-access areas. Technological advancements have proven useful in obtaining essential information for other endangered species undergoing comparable challenges. Therefore, adopting comparable monitoring methods could improve data
667 collection without causing major disturbances to the target species. This data would be
668 invaluable for future conservation planning and the continued survival of these
669 threatened, wetland nesting crane species.

1.5 The problem statement and justification

The GCC, a charismatic and endangered icon of Africa's wetlands and grasslands 671 (Morrison, 2015), faces population decline due to habitat loss and human disturbance 672 from agricultural expansion. Their dependence on intact ecosystems necessitates 673 674 prioritizing conservation efforts. However, effective strategies require a deeper 675 understanding of the species' habitat use, behaviour, movement, and ecology. The 676 Drakensberg emerges as a critical site for international crane conservation as all three local crane species reside here (Galloway-Griesel et al., 2022). This biodiversity 677 678 hotspot faces threats from land-use changes which are impacting key habitat sites of cranes and other endangered species. Studying GCCs in this area would not only 679 inform regional conservation but could also contribute globally by emphasizing the 680 importance of protecting this species and the habitats it relies on. While traditional 681 682 aerial surveys offer limited data collection during the non-breeding season (Anderson 683 & Gaston, 2013; Galloway-Griesel et al., 2022), on-foot monitoring at nest sites, though 684 valuable for breeding metrics, can disrupt incubation and lead to parental abandonment (Coverdale, 2006; Fakarayi et al., 2016; Harris & Mirande, 2013; Wen 685 686 et al., 2021). Consequently, inconsistent monitoring and limited knowledge about this species' breeding success, nest site selection, and habitat availability (particularly in 687 KZN) hinder the development of effective conservation plans for this endangered 688 689 species. Enhancing these methods is essential for data collection and informing future conservation strategies. 690

1.6 Aims and research questions

692 Many of the research problems mentioned above stem from the constraints of 693 traditional monitoring techniques. As such, the initial objective of this research was to 694 compare the use of drones and traditional monitoring methods (i.e., on-foot), to 695 determine whether drones could improve the efficiency and accuracy of monitoring and 696 data collection. Provided that drones can be shown to safely and effectively monitor 697 GCC groupings, this study further aimed to utilise drones to identify the breeding 698 success of GCCs in the southern Drakensberg by collecting breeding metrics at nest 699 sites. The data obtained from the second aim could then be used for the last aim, which

sets out to describe important macro-environmental factors that influence GCC
breeding success. These aims were developed with the intention of answering the
following research questions (predictions stated below the questions):

- What are the behavioural responses of GCC social groupings (pairs, families, and flocks) when monitored by on-foot and drone methods?
- Can drones obtain accurate breeding metrics at nest sites without causing major
 disturbance to breeding pairs and nesting activities? How should drones be
 used to minimise the disturbance to breeding pairs while collecting breeding
 metrics from nest sites?
- If drones were used to monitor GCC social groupings, how should the drone be
 operated (e.g., take-off point, flight height and drone approach angle) to
 effectively obtain accurate data without disturbing groupings?
- Does overall breeding success of GCCs in the southern Drakensberg align with
 similar metrics collected in other regions?
- Which macro-environmental factors promote or hinder GCC breeding success
 and why?
- Do GCCs show a tolerance to human presence and land-use change?

717 This study therefore aims to investigate the potential of drones as a monitoring tool for GCCs. I hypothesize that drones can be effective, but with varying levels of 718 719 disturbance, depending on the social grouping type (hypothesis 1). Because of the 720 presence of offspring, I predict that family group types would potentially be more 721 sensitive than others and might exhibit increased calling, flushing, or aggression 722 towards the unfamiliar aerial presence (hypothesis 2). As humans are often viewed as 723 a threat, I hypothesised that on-foot monitoring might elicit similar responses but that drones (which are smaller and may be viewed by a GCC as another bird) would 724 725 achieve closer approaches (hypothesis 3). When monitoring nest sites that may be 726 vulnerable to aerial predators, I hypothesised that drone flights that mimic the 727 behaviour or aerial predators will increase the flight chance of nesting birds (hypothesis 728 4). Although GCCs exhibit some tolerance to human disturbances, I hypothesis that 729 breeding success will be lower at nest sites located closer to increased human 730 presence (hypothesis 5).

731 1.7 Dissertation structure

732 This dissertation comprises four chapters. The first chapter introduces cranes and the 733 factors affecting their decline. The literature review extends this focus but shifts towards this study's focal species, the GCC. I focus on this species' breeding and the 734 challenges of monitoring wetland nesting birds and end the review by discussing 735 736 traditional and novel monitoring methods to identify an improved monitoring method 737 for the focal species' breeding. I also outline this dissertation's aims and research 738 questions in this chapter. Chapters 2 and 3 follow the formatting of a formal scientific 739 publication. Chapter 2 focuses on the first aim and explores the behavioural responses 740 of GCCs to drone monitoring. Based on these responses several recommended 741 guidelines are presented here for using drones to monitor GCCs. The third chapter 742 addresses the second and third aims and provides insights into the breeding success of GCCs in the southern Drakensberg, KwaZulu-Natal. I also outline the macro-743 744 environmental factors associated with this species' breeding success. The fourth 745 chapter outlines the study's key findings in relation to its research aims and research 746 questions, the implications of these findings and areas of focus for future studies and 747 research.

1.8 Ethics statement

This study was performed under the ethics clearance obtained from the University of South Africa's Animal Research Ethics Committee (2022/CAES_AREC/173), and experiments were permitted under a permit granted by Ezemvelo KZN Wildlife (permit no. OP 3311/2022). All drone flights were conducted following the regulations of the South African Civil Aviation Authority.

Chapter 2: Drones as a tool to study and monitor 1 endangered Grey Crowned Cranes (Balearica 2 regulorum): behavioural responses and 3 recommended guidelines 4 5 Dedication 6 7 I dedicate this chapter to Pete Clowes and Julie Braby, without whom this chapter would not have been initiated. The following quote can describe your selfless 8 9 contributions: 10 "The true meaning of life is to plant trees, under whose shade 11 you do not expect to sit." - Nelson Henderson



13 2.1 Title

Drones as a tool to study and monitor endangered Grey Crowned Cranes (*Balearica regulorum*): behavioural responses and recommended guidelines.

16 2.2 Abstract

17 Crane populations are declining worldwide, with anthropogenically exacerbated habitat loss emerging as the primary causal threat. The endangered Grey Crowned Crane 18 19 (Balearica regulorum) is the least studied of the three crane species that reside in southern Africa. This data paucity hinders essential conservation planning and is 20 21 primarily because of ineffective monitoring methods and this species' use of 22 inaccessible habitats. In this study, I compared the behavioural responses of different 23 Grey Crowned Crane social groupings to traditional on-foot monitoring methods and the pioneering use of drones. Grey Crowned Cranes demonstrated a lower tolerance 24 25 for on-foot monitoring approaches when compared with drone flights. They also 26 allowed closer monitoring approaches with drones (22.72 (95 % confidence intervals 27 - 13.75, 37.52) m) than on-foot (97.59 (86.13, 110.59) m) before displaying evasive behaviours. The behavioural response of flocks was minimal at flight heights above 50 28 29 m, whilst larger flocks were more likely to display evasive behaviours in response to monitoring by either method. Families displayed the least evasive behaviours to lower 30 31 flights, whereas nesting birds were sensitive to the angles of drone approaches. These findings confirm the usefulness of drones for monitoring wetland-nesting species and 32 33 provide valuable species-specific guidelines for monitoring Grey Crowned Cranes. However, future studies on wetland breeding birds are encouraged to develop species-34 specific protocols before implementing drone methodologies. 35

36 *Keywords:* breeding; disturbance effects; drones; on-foot monitoring; protocol.

37 2.3 Introduction

38 Wetlands are among the most efficient and diverse ecosystems globally (Balwan & Kour, 2021). They play a crucial role in controlling climate change, sustaining the global 39 hydrological cycle, conserving biodiversity, and improving human well-being (Mitsch et 40 al., 2015; Kingsford et al., 2016; Xu et al., 2019; Nováková & Robovský, 2021). Despite 41 42 their importance, almost 50 % of wetlands have been lost globally, thereby negatively 43 affecting biodiversity and ecosystem functioning (Xu et al., 2019). Effectively 44 implementing monitoring programmes is essential for safeguarding the remaining wetland ecosystems and their distinct contributions (Bal et al., 2018; Lindenmayer & 45 Likens, 2011; Malhi et al., 2020; Williams et al., 2021). Birds often play a key role in 46 these efforts, serving as reliable ecological indicators because of their well-established 47 48 research history, widespread distribution across various habitats, and predictable responses to environmental changes (Fraixedas et al., 2020). 49

50 Cranes belong to the *Gruidae* bird family and commonly act as ambassadors of natural 51 ecosystems. However, following significant declines in their populations, eleven of the 52 fifteen crane species are classified as threatened, placing them among the most endangered bird families in the world (Harris & Mirande, 2013; Krajewski et al., 2010). 53 Their decline is primarily attributed to habitat loss (Harris & Mirande, 2013; Austin et 54 al., 2018; Amulike et al., 2020) with numerous species struggling to obtain successful 55 breeding outcomes as a result of breeding site loss or degradation (e.g., Su & Zou, 56 57 2012; Fakarayi et al., 2016). Yet other crane species have shown greater resilience 58 and a noticeable population growth following increased foraging opportunities in 59 agricultural landscapes (e.g., van Velden et al., 2017; Fox et al., 2019; Hemminger et 60 al., 2022). While the revival of these populations can be seen as a success, an 61 increased dependence of cranes on croplands has also led to a conflict between 62 farmers and cranes, presenting its own set of challenges (Lacy et al., 2015; Austin et al., 2018; Hemminger et al., 2022). This poses a particular concern for South Africa's 63 64 endemic, small-ranging Blue Crane, and the Grey Crowned Crane (Balearica regulorum, hereafter GCC), sub-Saharan Africa's most endangered crane species 65 66 (Beilfuss et al., 2007; Harris & Mirande, 2013).

Despite its precarious status, the GCC, like other crane species, exhibits significant potential as an indicator species for wetland-grassland ecosystems (Kanyamibwa, 1993; Han et al., 2017; Austin et al., 2018; Fraixedas et al., 2020) and will be the focal species of this study. Grey Crowned Cranes generally aggregate in three kinds of

71 groupings: pairs prior to nesting, families after hatching, and flocks after fledging 72 (Wamiti et al., 2020). Monitoring this species, especially during their breeding period (when gathered as pairs or families), is challenging as they prefer to nest in dense, 73 74 inaccessible vegetation among tall reeds in wetlands and inland waterbodies (Harris & 75 Mirande, 2013; Fakarayi et al., 2016; Olupot, 2016; Wamiti et al., 2020; Wen et al., 76 2021; Francis et al., 2022). The most common method for collecting breeding metrics 77 at crane nest sites is by utilising lengthy, physical on-foot observations to identify 78 breeding cues followed by wading to nest sites (Wamiti et al., 2020; Wen et al., 2021). 79 This method can be unreliable and invasive (Zelelew et al., 2019), potentially disturbing breeding activities through nest abandonment and creating direct pathways to the nest 80 81 sites for natural predators (Coverdale, 2006; Champagnon et al., 2019; Wamiti et al., 2020; Francis et al., 2022; Wamiti et al., 2022). The nesting preference of GCCs and 82 83 ineffective monitoring methods have resulted in major knowledge gaps in GCC ecology 84 and reproductive success, hindering the development of effective conservation 85 strategies.

86 Piloted aeroplane surveys are beneficial when covering large areas over short periods, 87 which minimises the chance of repeatedly detecting individual birds or flocks and 88 improving population estimates (Kingsford & Porter, 2009; Galloway-Griesel et al., 89 2022). However, apart from being a major cause of research-related mortalities (Sasse, 2003), aerial surveys are generally suited to larger-sized animals, open 90 91 habitats, and clear weather and often require specific flight paths (Hedges & O'Brien, 2012; Marchowski et al., 2018). Financially, aerial surveys can be more costly 92 93 (Anderson & Gaston, 2013) but could be more cost-effective if on-foot observers 94 require payment or if the area to be monitored is difficult to access (Marchowski et al., 95 2018). Because of these limitations, aeroplane-based monitoring of cranes in 96 KwaZulu-Natal are only conducted once a year during winter, primarily focusing on 97 monitoring the previously declining Wattled Crane (Bugeranus carunculatus) breeding 98 populations (Galloway-Griesel et al., 2022). Although this method has effectively 99 monitored GCC population trends (as GCCs flock during winter), it does not allow for 100 effective monitoring of this species' breeding, which takes place during the summer 101 months.

Drones have often been demonstrated to be a more versatile and cost-effective
alternative to traditional monitoring methods (Hodgson et al., 2016; Sorrell et al., 2023).
Numerous studies have reported using drones to obtain precise counts and accurate

105 identification of breeding populations of multiple bird species (Afán et al., 2018; 106 Hodgson et al., 2018; Lyons et al., 2018; Marchowski et al., 2018; Wen et al., 2021). 107 Using drones to monitor breeding outcomes can also reduce the time spent around 108 nest sites (Sikora & Marchowski, 2023). Despite their usefulness, drones can cause 109 disturbance to animals (Mulero-Pázmány et al., 2017; Schroeder et al., 2020; Duporge 110 et al., 2021; Schad & Fischer, 2022), with birds being, on average, more sensitive to 111 drone monitoring than other vertebrate types (Mulero-Pázmány et al., 2017; Rebolo-112 Ifrán et al., 2019). Guidelines for using drones to study animals usually suggest that 113 small drone sizes (< 2 kg), implementing further take-off distances from animals, higher 114 flight heights, slow speeds and horizontal rather than vertical approaches can reduce 115 the disturbance imposed on birds, but these responses can vary between species (Vas 116 et al., 2015; Lyons et al., 2018; Weimerskirch et al., 2018; Barr et al., 2020; Duporge 117 et al., 2021; Marchowski, 2021; Wilson et al., 2021; Sorrell et al., 2023). Drone use in 118 crane research and monitoring is in its infancy, with studies generally using drones to estimate population densities (e.g., Sandhill Cranes Grus canadensis (Stark et al., 119 120 2017), Siberian Cranes Leucogeranus leucogeranus (Wen et al., 2021) and Common 121 Cranes (Grus grus) (Chen et al., 2023)). Exploratory work investigating 33 bird species 122 has shown that drones generally impart minimal disturbance when counting 123 populations; however, the responses of Common Cranes in this study were 124 inconclusive (Marchowski, 2021). As such, a formal investigation into whether drones 125 can effectively monitor cranes and, if so, how they should be flown needs to be 126 undertaken.

127 This study compared the behavioural responses of three GCC social groupings (pairs, 128 families, and flocks) to two monitoring methods: on-foot approaches at varying 129 distances by a human observer and different drone flight heights. It also evaluated the 130 responses of breeding birds (pairs and families) to two distinct approach angles 131 (diagonal versus vertical). I predicted that closer on-foot distances, lower drone flight 132 heights, and vertical drone approach angles would increase disturbances to crane 133 groupings. Finally, this study determined the distances at which the probability of GCC 134 groupings displaying evasive behaviours (e.g., walking or flying away) exceeded the probability of no evasive behaviour. These findings collectively contributed to 135 136 developing appropriate monitoring guidelines for GCCs and other large bird species 137 residing in difficult-to-access environments.

138 2.4 Materials and methods

139 2.4.1 Study area

This study took place in the southern parts of KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa, primarily around the Underberg, Franklin, and Kokstad regions. This summer-rainfall region (650 to 1000 mm per annum) has large areas of open grasslands and wetlands. Agriculture (intensive cropping and dairying, extensive beef, and sheep) and commercial forestry (*Pinus spp.* and *Eucalyptus spp.*) are the primary land-use types in these regions.

146 2.4.2 Experimental design

147 Experiment 1: Monitoring method comparison experiment

Although physiological measurements provide the ultimate indication of stress in 148 149 animals and should be encouraged where possible (Weimerskirch et al., 2018; Geldart 150 et al., 2022; Zink et al., 2023), changes in animal behaviour are often immediate (Borrelle & Fletcher, 2017) and can provide cost-effective metrics of animal stress. Trial 151 152 observations included recording the behavioural cues of GCC groupings (pairs, families, and flocks) in response to either of the two monitoring methods (on-foot, 153 154 drone) across various distances and flight heights. Behavioural cues were categorised 155 similarly to those outlined in Vas et al. (2015) and Cantu De Leija et al. (2023) and with personal observations of GCC behaviours. These categories were as follows: no 156 157 behaviour change (1), heads raised to observe surroundings (2), wings raised (3), 158 moving away (4), and flying away (5) (Figure 2.1). All trial observations were 159 undertaken by the same observer (CRD), and care was taken to wear similarly 160 coloured clothing for each of the trials to control for the impact that certain clothing 161 colours can have on bird flight initiation distances in rural areas (Zhou & Liang, 2020). 162 Most observations took place on days when weather was suitable for drone flights (clear and warmer days), while early mornings and late afternoons were generally 163 164 avoided as shadows from surrounding vegetation obstructed visuals of nesting activities during these periods (Demmer pers. obs.). 165

166 On-foot monitoring

Upon locating a GCC grouping, the observer approached the group at a normal walking
speed of approximately 1 m.s⁻¹ (e.g., Mikula et al., 2023), making a reasonable effort
not to disturb the grouping (e.g., avoiding noises and sudden movements).

Observations were noted at the start of each trial, every 10 – 15th step thereafter, and again if any change in GCC behaviour was observed. Each observation included measuring the distance between the observer and the grouping using a range finder (Vortex Crossfire HD LRF-CF1400 Rangefinder) and taking a photograph (Nikon D7200 with 100-400 mm Sigma lens) of the group, which enabled *post-hoc* behaviour coding. Observations were recorded until groupings displayed a type 5 response (flying away) (Figure 2.1).



Figure 2.1: Visual depiction of (a) schematic representation of systematic drone flight paths to test bird response to the presence of a traversing drone, B = breeding and NB = non-breeding social groupings; (b) on-foot methodology, using a range finder to determine distance between observer and subject grouping and a digital camera to capture the behavioural responses of subject groupings as the observer approaches. (c) schematic representation of the breeding bird approach experiment and (d) behaviour response types as seen from drone and on-foot approaches. Behaviour types 1–5 are representative of the behaviour response types used for the majority of analyses. Disturbance responses 1–3 are representative of the responses used for the approach angle investigation.

178 Drone methodology

179 The drone pilot was positioned at least 100 m from GCC groupings before drone take-180 off, as per Vas et al. (2015), and at a similar elevation to the GCC grouping. On some 181 occasions, the pilot found it practically impossible to position herself at 100 m from the 182 grouping. When this was the case, the drone was deployed from at least 80 m from 183 the GCC groupings. The drone was deployed from the pilot's location to a randomly 184 pre-selected flight height (10, 30, 50, or 70 m above the deploy point), then flown over 185 the grouping at the selected flight height at a speed approximating 5 m.s⁻¹ with video 186 recording activated to facilitate *post-hoc* behaviour coding (Figure 2.2). After reaching 187 the grouping, the drone was flown approximately 80 m beyond the grouping and then 188 returned to the deployment point to avoid flying over the grouping during the return flight. All drone flights were conducted using a standard Mavic Air 2S drone (DJI 189 Technology Co., Shenzhen, China) (595 g, 1-inch 20 MP sensor, 8× zoom, 65 dB low 190 noise propeller). 191

192 It was challenging to determine the precise height of the drone above the grouping *in* 193 *situ* as the drone only reports flight height relative to the take-off point. The flight heights 194 above GCC groupings were therefore determined *post-hoc* by extracting elevation 195 values for the drone deployment and subject locations from a high-resolution (± 2 m) 196 digital elevation model (GeoSmart Space, 2019) of the study area using the 197 coordinates as recorded by the drone's Global Positioning System. The drone's actual 198 height was therefore calculated as:

$flight height = elevation_{deploy} + height_{UAV} - elevation_{group}$

where flight height is the actual height of the drone above the grouping, elevation_{deploy} is the elevation above sea level of the point from which the drone was deployed, height_{drone} is the flight height reported by the drone flight log for the point at which the drone was above the grouping and elevation_{group} is the elevation above sea level for the point where the grouping was located.



Figure 2.2: Example footage captured during monitoring observations. Individual birds were numbered with different colours to differentiate between behavioural responses.

205 Data collection from each grouping continued until a maximum of four trials had been 206 recorded (with a 10-minute interval between trials to allow birds to return to their prior 207 behaviour) or until the subjects flew beyond the range of the drone. As a precaution, 208 the drone was always flown manually to allow the pilot to easily manoeuvre and control 209 the drone to avoid any potentially aggressive behaviour from the target or non-target 210 species in the study area. Each site was scanned for non-target species using 211 binoculars before beginning a drone mission. Whilst in flight, the pilot remained aware 212 of any new individuals of the target or non-target species entering the site. As far as 213 practically possible, flights over any non-target species were avoided. If any non-target 214 species displayed behavioural signs of discomfort in the drone's presence (e.g., 215 aggressive behaviour towards the drone from territorial or breeding birds or birds of 216 prey, obvious fleeing from the environment after launching the drone demonstrating 217 substantial fear, evidence of nesting or breeding by non-target species) the pilot 218 avoided flying whilst that species was near the flight route; if territorial, future flights at 219 that site were terminated.

220 Post-hoc behavioural coding

221 Each photograph taken during the on-foot monitoring experiment was considered an 222 observation. From each video recorded during the drone monitoring experiment, the 223 frame directly above the grouping was extracted and used as the observation. If birds 224 responded with a type 5 response before the drone reached the grouping, the frame 225 closest in time was used to determine the drone's position whilst focusing on the 226 initiated flight response of the grouping. Individual birds' behaviour (type 1 - 5) was 227 identified and noted at each observation, and the total number of subjects displaying 228 each of the five behaviours was recorded.

229 Experiment 2: Nesting approach experiment

230 Breeding behavioural cues consisted primarily of a lone crane foraging near a water 231 body or wetland (Wamiti et al., 2020). Breeding birds were observed both during 232 nesting (parents and chicks situated at the nest) and after nesting (parents and chicks 233 observed away from the nest, either in reeds or foraging along the shoreline or in 234 croplands, grasslands or pastures). Once identified, I used a drone to locate the 235 potential nest site or the breeding birds. If either of these were found, I recorded it as 236 an observation. At approximately 20 m from the subject, the drone was lowered to a 237 flight height of approximately 20 m. The drone was then manoeuvred towards the 238 subjects either by flying diagonally (an angle of approximately 45°) or vertically (flying

239 horizontally until above the subjects and then descending at an angle of approximately 240 90°), slowly descending until approximately 7.5 m from the subjects. The distances 241 reported here are approximate because of the limitations of determining distances in 242 situ via the drone. Video recording was enabled throughout the approach to facilitate 243 *post-hoc* behavioural coding as follows: (1) little disturbance (either looking, remaining) 244 sitting, holding ground, or standing up), (2) moderate disturbance (raising wings, 245 walking, or running away from offspring), or (3) major disturbance (flying away from 246 offspring). A schematic representation of this method is provided in Figure 2.1C.

247 2.4.3 Statistical analyses

Individual images represented ordinal trials, and coded behavioural responses served
as the independent variable. The number of birds displaying each response was then
determined for each image.

251 Three analyses were conducted to assess the impact of either monitoring method on 252 the behaviour of GCCs. I evaluated i) the average distance at which a particular 253 behavioural response was observed when monitoring non-nesting GCCs on foot 254 (monitoring method comparison experiment), ii) the effect of drone flight height on the behavioural scores of non-nesting GCC group types (drone flight height experiment) 255 256 and iii) the effect of approach angle on the behavioural response of nesting GCCs 257 (nesting approach angle experiment). All analyses were conducted using R 4.2.2 (R 258 Core Team, 2022), and *post-hoc* comparisons were generated using the *emmeans* R 259 package (Lenth, 2023) with p-values adjusted using the Tukey method for multiple 260 comparisons. Averages are presented as means (± 95 % confidence intervals) both 261 in-text and in figures. Significance was determined at p < 0.05.

262 Experiment 1: Monitoring method comparison experiment

The distance at which the categorised GCC behaviours were observed between the 263 264 two methods was modelled using a linear mixed effect regression (Equation 1) using the "Imer" function from the Ime4 R package (Bates et al., 2015). Behavioural response 265 266 (categorical with five levels), monitoring method (categorical with two levels - "On-267 foot", "Drone") and their interaction were included as fixed effects. Subject grouping ID 268 was included as a random effect to control for repeated measurements on distinct subject groupings (random effect LRX² = 24.35, df = 1, p < 0.001). Controlling for 269 270 subject grouping also assisted in controlling for variation in start distance during the 271 on-foot monitoring approach. The model was weighted by the proportion of birds within the observation exhibiting the behaviour type at each distance, and the distance waslog-transformed to improve the normality of the residuals (Zuur & leno, 2016).

274
$$Distance_{ij} \sim N(\mu_{ij})$$

275
$$E(Distance_{ij}) = \mu_{ij}$$

276
$$\log(\mu_{ij}) = Behaviour_{ij} + Method_{ij} + Behaviour_{ij} \times Method_{ij}$$

277 Subject
$$ID_i \sim N(0, \sigma^2)$$

278

(Equation 1)

where $Distance_{ij}$ is the *j*th observation of *SubjectID i*, and *SubjectID*_{*i*} is the random intercept with is assumed to be normally distributed with a variance of σ^2 .

281 The second analysis considered the type of behavioural responses exhibited across 282 group types and the distance between the observer and the subject grouping when 283 being monitored on-foot (Equation 2). I used a cumulative link mixed effects model 284 (clmm) with a logit link function (implemented using the ordinal R package, 285 (Christensen, 2022) to model the behaviour response (an ordinal, non-normally distributed measurement). Cumulative link models are used to handle ordinal, non-286 287 continuous response data with the output determining the probability of each level of 288 the response occurring. Group type (a factor with three levels; "Pair", "Family", "Flock"), 289 distance to the subject grouping (covariate) and the interaction of these two variables 290 were included as fixed effects. Although the inclusion of subject grouping ID as a 291 random effect to control for both repeated measurements and differences in monitoring 292 start distance did not significantly improve the model (LRX² = 0.418, df = 1, p = 0.518), 293 it was included as the results were more conservative under the model with the random effect structure compared with the model without this structure. 294

295
$$P(Behaviour_{ijk} \le k) \sim multinom(\mu_{ijk}, 1) \text{ for } k = 1, 2, ..., 5$$

296

$$E(Behaviour_{ijk}) = \mu_{ijk}$$

297
$$logit(Behaviour_{ijk}) = \beta 0_k - (GroupType_{ij} + Distance_{ij} + GroupType_{ij} \times Distance_{ij})$$
298
$$SubjectID_i \sim N(0, \sigma^2)$$

298 299

(Equation 2)

300 where *Behaviour*_{*ijk*} is the *j*th observation of the *k*th behaviour response type of 301 *SubjectID i*, $\beta 0_k$ is the threshold parameter for behaviour response type *k* and 302 *SubjectID_i* is the random intercept with is assumed to be normally distributed with a 303 variance of σ^2 .

304 A cumulative link model (clm) was used to model the behavioural responses to drone monitoring using a similar approach to that described in Equation 2 (but without the 305 306 random effect structure) in the ordinal R package. The effect of individual subjects was 307 considered minimal because of i) the extended nature of these observations, ii) the random ordering of heights flown, and iii) the movement of individuals between 308 309 groupings and between trials, and it was therefore not recorded or incorporated into 310 this analysis. Behaviour responses did not vary significantly because of drone deployment distance (χ^2 = 1.429, df = 1, p = 0.232), so its effect was not incorporated 311 312 into the model. Drone height above the GCC grouping (covariate) and the group type 313 being observed (a factor with three levels – "Pair", "Family", and "Flock"), together with 314 the interaction of these two variables, were included as fixed effects. I determined the distance at which the most evasive behaviours (moving and flying away) would occur 315 316 more than 50 % of the time for both monitoring methods. This indicated the grouping's 317 flight initiation distance – a standard metric used to compare stress induced through 318 bird monitoring methods (Blumstein, 2006).

A separate clm was used to assess the behavioural response of flocks to the number of birds in the flock (covariate) and the distance to the flock (covariate) for each monitoring method (Equation 3). Because of the smaller sample size used for on-foot monitoring, the clmm did not converge, so the effect of flock ID was ignored. The interactions of these two fixed effects were non-significant in both models and were therefore excluded from the final models. Test statistics for clm models are presented as X² values and as likelihood ratio X² (LRX²) values for clmm models.

326
$$P(Behaviour_{jk} \le k) \sim multinom(\mu_{ijk}, 1) \text{ for } k = 1, 2, ..., 5$$

327
$$E(Behaviour_{jk}) = \mu_{jk}$$

329

(Equation 3)

330 where *Behaviour_{jk}* is the *j*th observation of the *k*th behaviour response type and $\beta 0_k$

 $logit(Behaviour_{ik}) = \beta 0_k - (FlockSize_i + Distance_i)$

is the threshold parameter for behaviour response type k.

332 Experiment 2: Nesting approach experiment

333 This experiment assessed the level of disturbance experienced by breeding GCCs at

334 diagonal or vertical approach angles. Disturbance level was an ordinal, non-normally distributed response variable, and data collection included reoccurring observations 335 336 made on the same GCC breeding subjects at specific nest sites. To account for this, I 337 modelled the disturbance level using a clmm from the ordinal R package (Equation 4). 338 Approach angle (a factor with two levels – "Vertical", "Diagonal") and reproductive 339 stage (a factor with two levels - "During nesting", "After nesting") were included as fixed 340 effects together with their interaction. Breeding pair ID was incorporated as a random 341 effect to control for reoccurring observations on the same breeding subjects (LRX² = 342 5.435, df = 1, p = 0.0197).

343
$$P(Disturbance_{ijk} \le k) \sim multinom(\mu_{ijk}, 1) \text{ for } k = 1, 2, 3$$

344 $E(Disturbance_{ijk}) = \mu_{ijk}$

 $345 \quad logit(Disturbance_{ijk})$

346 $= \beta 0_k - (Angle_{ij} + ReproductiveStage_{ij} + Angle_{ij} \times ReproductiveStage_{ij})$

347 BreedingPairID_i~ $N(0, \sigma^2)$

348

349 where *Disturbance_{ijk}* is the *j*th observation of the *k*th behaviour response type of 350 *BreedingPairID i*, $\beta 0_k$ is the threshold parameter for behaviour response type *k* and 351 *BreedingPairID_i* is the random intercept with is assumed to be normally distributed 352 with a variance of σ^2 .

(Equation 4)

353 2.5 Results

In total, 313 drone flights were conducted: 110 over pairs, 66 over families, and 110
over flocks. The flight time totalled 2108 min and approximated 6 min and 44 sec per
flight. Of 56 on-foot approaches, 26 were to pairs, seven to families, and 23 to flocks.
The mean number of birds (± 95 % confidence intervals) in each grouping was 2 (2, 2)
for pairs, 3.66 (3.20, 4.13) for families, and 34.4 (34.04, 36.08) for flocks.

359 2.5.1 Monitoring methodology study

Regardless of the method used, individual birds within a grouping displayed distinct differences in their behaviour type depending on the distance of the observer or drone from the bird grouping (F_{4, 789.77} = 23.704, p < 0.001; Figure 2.3A). Birds showed no response at the furthest distances. As the observer moved closer to the bird, it was more likely that the bird would look, move away, and finally fly (Figure 2.3A). Wings



Figure 2.3: A – Mean (\pm 95 % confidence intervals - CI) distance (m) at which Grey Crowned Cranes (GCC) exhibited behaviour responses using both monitoring methods. B – Mean (\pm 95 % CI) distance (m) at which GCC monitoring methods observed different behavioural response types. Responses within each panel with the same letters indicate that no evidence was found for significant differences between their means.

365 raised was significantly more likely to occur at closer distances than no response but 366 often co-occurred with looking, moving away, or flying (Figure 2.3A). When the two 367 monitoring methods are compared, the average on-foot observation was recorded at 368 117.52 (104.89, 131.66) m from birds being observed, and the average of all drone flight recordings was 31.39 (19.16, 51.43) m from observed birds (F_{1, 17.27} = 29.572, p 369 370 < 0.001, Figure 2.3B). Flight responses were initiated at 97.59 (86.13, 110.59) m when 371 monitored on-foot and at 22.72 (13.75, 37.52) m when monitored by drone. A 372 interaction effect indicated that the change in behaviour responses across monitoring 373 distance was not consistent across monitoring methods ($F_{4, 789, 77} = 2.858$, p = 0.023, 374 Figure 2.3B). The distances at which behavioural responses were recorded were more 375 similar when recorded with a drone than on-foot. This was primarily because of the 376 substantial overlap in wings being raised when birds were approached on-foot whereas raised wings was delayed and occurred at similar distances to moving away when a 377 378 drone was used. On-foot monitoring induced more evasive responses as the distance between the observer and the grouping decreased (LR χ^2 = 41.511, df = 1, p < 0.001). 379 Evasive responses (moving or flying away) had a 50 % chance of occurring at 109 m 380 381 when using on-foot monitoring. The type of social grouping did not affect the rate at which a particular behaviour response was observed (LR χ^2 = 2.431, df = 2, p = 0.297). 382 383 However, the type of behavioural response changed depending on the distance from the observer between group types (LR χ^2 = 7.691, df = 2, p = 0.021; Figure 2.4). 384

Families displayed no change in their behavioural responses across all distances (Zratio = 0.825, p = 0.410), whilst both pairs (Z-ratio = 3.715, p < 0.001) and flocks (Zratio = 4.014, p < 0.001) displayed more evasive responses as the distance between the observer and the subjects (cranes) decreased. The point at which evasive responses had more than a 50 % chance of occurring was at 107 m for pairs, 52 m for families, and 123 m for flocks (Figure 2.4). significant interaction effect between the



Figure 2.4: Mean (± 95 % confidence intervals) Grey Crowned Crane (GCC) behavioural response class observed across decreasing on-foot approach distance and drone flight altitude for three GCC grouping types. Dashed vertical lines indicate the flight height at which the evasive behaviours (moving or flying away) become more likely to occur than non-evasive behaviours. Drone and on-foot results were obtained from two separate analyses because of methodological differences and so are not directly comparable.

391 monitoring method and behaviour type.

392 Drone flight height study

As drone flight height decreased, GCC groupings were more likely to display evasive behaviours ($\chi^2 = 177.304$, df = 2, p < 0.01; Figure 2.5A). Considering the changes in GCC behaviours, the probability of no response and looking decreased as drone height decreased, while the likelihood of cranes moving or flying away increased (Figure 2.5B). There was little change in the response of raising wings. The point at which evasive behaviours (moving and flying away) became more likely to occur than all other behaviour types was at 9 m.



400

Figure 2.5: Bird responses to drone flight height. A – Mean (\pm 95 % confidence intervals) behaviour response class observed across decreasing drone flight altitude. Dashed vertical line indicates the point at which evasive behaviours (moving and flying away) become more likely to occur than non-evasive behaviours. B – Mean probability of a particular behavioural response being exhibited across decreasing drone flight altitude (error bars excluded for clarity).

Group types responded differently regardless of the drone's flight height ($\chi^2 = 34.142$, df = 2, p < 0.001). Pairs and families did not differ in the type of behavioural response, with the mean behaviour class observed being between looking and raising wings (mean score = 2.55 and 2.54, respectively; Z-ratio = 0.063, *p* = 0.998). However, flocks generally displayed raised wings (mean score = 3.07) and were significantly more likely to evade the drone than were pairs (Z-ratio = 3.162, *p* = 0.005) or families (Z-ratio = 2.861, *p* = 0.012).

Grey Crowned Crane group types responded differently to variations in drone flight heights ($\chi 2 = 95.175$, df = 2, p < 0.001, Figure 2.4). Families showed no change in their behavioural responses across all flight heights (Z-ratio = 0.923, *p* = 0.356), whilst both pairs (Z-ratio = 4.571, p < 0.001) and flocks (Z-ratio = 3.720, p < 0.001) showed more evasive responses as the drone flight height decreased. Pairs displayed evasive behaviour at 13 m, whilst flocks displayed evasive behaviour at 30 m. Evasive responses were consistently less likely to occur than non-evasive responses for families across the range of drone flight heights used in this study.

There were significant changes in behaviour associated with distance to the flock and the number of birds in the flock across both monitoring methods. Reduced distance to flocks (on-foot: $\chi^2 = 23.572$, df = 1, p < 0.001; drone: $\chi^2 = 12.526$, df = 1, p < 0.001, Figure 2.6) and increased flock size (on-foot: $\chi^2 = 4.300$, df = 1, p = 0.038, drone: $\chi^2 =$ 5.801, df = 1, p = 0.016; Figure 2.6) increased the chance of evasive behaviours across both monitoring methods.



Figure 2.6: Mean (±95 % confidence intervals) behaviour response class response for Grey Crowned Cranes across flock size. The methods plotted are the result of separate statistical models. Different ranges in flock size reflect the actual range of flock sizes observed when monitoring with either method.

422 2.5.2 Nesting approach study

Behavioural responses of GCCs were significantly related to drone approach angles to nests or families ($LR\chi^2 = 13.989$, df = 1, *p* < 0.001, Figure 2.7), with vertical approaches causing a greater disturbance. There was also a difference in the type of responses observed between breeding stages (LR χ^2 = 9.032, df = 1, *p* = 0.003), with more evasive responses being observed after nesting (difference in mean class = 0.167 ± 0.07 standard errors). The interaction of these two factors (LR χ^2 = 9.032, df = 1, *p* = 0.003) showed that different responses to the approach angle occurred during nesting (Figure 2.7).

431



Figure 2.7: Mean probability (\pm 95 % confidence intervals) of perceived level of disturbance imposed on breeding Grey Crowned Cranes during and after nesting across two drone approach angles. Letters indicate the response of post-hoc analyses conducted between approach angles for each disturbance level within breeding stage. Responses within each panel with the same letters indicate that no evidence was found for significant differences between their means.

432 2.6 Discussion

433 The findings of this study confirm the usefulness of drones for monitoring wetland-434 nesting species and provide valuable species-specific guidelines for monitoring GCCs. 435 By conducting a total of 313 drone flights over three GCC social groupings (pairs, 436 families, and flocks), I found that all groups displayed disturbance cues earlier when 437 approached on-foot than when using a drone (Figure 2.3). Flocks experienced minimal 438 disturbance when the drone was flown above 30 meters. However, larger flocks 439 demonstrated a higher probability of evasive responses to either of the monitoring 440 methods. Nesting birds were sensitive to the angle at which a drone approached their 441 nest site, but after hatching, family groupings displayed the least likelihood of evading 442 lower flight heights. Apart from addressing important practical considerations relating

to improving the monitoring of the focal species, the experiments I conducted alsoallowed me to explore several ethological theories, which are elaborated upon below.

- 445 2.6.1 Reaction of GCC groupings to monitoring methods
- 446 Flight initiation distance and monitoring methods

447 Bird body mass is positively correlated with flight initiation distance, suggesting that 448 larger birds flee from potential threats at greater distances because they require longer 449 take-off (Møller et al., 2016). Large-sized South African waterbirds follow this principle, 450 displaying a flight initiation distance of approximately 100 m when approached on-foot 451 (Coetzer & Bouwman, 2017). However, one might assume that the close association 452 of cranes with agriculture has habituated them to human disturbances, making them 453 less sensitive to on-foot monitoring approaches (Okes et al., 2008; Samia et al., 2015; Weston et al., 2020). Nevertheless, Black-necked Cranes (Grus nigricollis) flee 454 455 observer approaches at 88.33 m (Kong et al., 2021), and my findings revealed that 456 GCCs initiated flights at 97.59 m. Therefore, GCC groupings are equally tolerant of on-457 foot approaches as their local counterparts. These flight distances also suggest that 458 cranes are sensitive to human disturbances (Coverdale, 2006; Végvári et al., 2011; 459 Wang et al., 2011), yet most crane species are still monitored using on-foot methods. 460 Monitoring GCCs with drones substantially reduced their average flight initiation 461 distance to 22.7 m. This distance was 4.29 times closer than what on-foot monitoring 462 could achieve. Thus, when monitoring from equal distances one can assume that 463 drones impart less disturbance than traditional monitoring methods.

464 Response of flocks to monitoring methods

465 Flocks demonstrated evasive behaviours sooner than other social groupings, 466 regardless of the monitoring method used. While several potential explanations could 467 account for their alarmed response, I discuss here three of the more frequently 468 encountered explanations. Firstly, this finding may support the vigilance hypothesis, 469 which states that flocks with more individuals have an improved probability of detecting 470 threats, which further escalates the likelihood of evasive flight behaviours (Morelli et 471 al., 2019). Secondly, a flock's vigilance may depend on the type of habitat they utilise, and the number of threats associated with that habitat. Agricultural areas, for example, 472 473 are known to attract opportunistic predators (Drouilly et al., 2018). Hooded Cranes 474 (Grus monacha) gathering in rice paddies surrounded by human activities display 475 higher vigilance in these areas compared with their natural habitats (Li et al., 2015). Therefore, it is perhaps not surprising to note a similar response among GCCs that 476

477 gather in harvested crop fields and pastures. Samia et al. (2015) explained that birds 478 inhabiting agricultural landscapes must learn to identify deviations from a predator or 479 human's routine behaviour. They suggest that when such deviations occur, birds 480 usually re-elicit a cautious or evasive response to avoid possibly lethal threats. And 481 thirdly, GCC flocks contain numerous younger, non-breeding juveniles. These 482 individuals may be more sensitive to anthropogenic disturbances because of 483 inexperience. When juveniles are present, Black-necked Crane flocks increase their 484 vigilance time, likely to compensate for a lack of experience among younger cranes 485 (Xu et al., 2013). Flocks consisting of younger birds can also display "false alarm 486 flighting" as practice to prepare for encountering a real threat (Root-Bernstein, 2021). 487 Monitoring GCC flocks, which often have a higher proportion of juveniles, should thus 488 be done with care whilst maximising the distance or flight height to reduce their flight 489 probability.

490 Response of breeding birds to monitoring methods

491 Before employing new monitoring methods, it is essential to carefully consider any 492 possible disturbances to a species' breeding behaviour and their environment 493 (Coverdale, 2006; Hodgson et al., 2018; Francis et al., 2022; Wamiti et al., 2022; Cantu 494 De Leija et al., 2023; Zink et al., 2023). The nesting phase is the most vulnerable period 495 for many threatened ground-breeding birds (Assersohn et al., 2021). Findings indicate 496 that half of Whooping Crane (Grus americana) chick mortalities occur during hatching 497 and before the chicks are one month old (King et al., 2013), while the hatching rate of 498 GCCs is also low (Chapter 3; Gichuki, 2000). While any approach to a nest site or 499 family grouping for monitoring purposes likely causes some level of disturbance, 500 researchers should note the response of the parents, which may vary depending on 501 the perceived level of danger to either themselves or their offspring (Lima, 2009; 502 Dowling and Bonier, 2018). For example, Piping Plover (Charadrius melodus) parents 503 flee their nest at greater distances when the approaching subject is a dog in contrast 504 to approaching humans or vehicles since the latter is likely perceived as less 505 threatening (Jorgensen et al., 2016; Dowling and Bonier, 2018).

Nesting GCCs generally showed increased vigilance when monitoring with either method. Although drones could obtain closer distances, birds tended to flee from nest sites when approached vertically (tactics often employed by aerial predators – Vas et al., 2015) as opposed to diagonally. Days after hatching, cranes leave the security of their nest and undertake substantial movements with their young (Veltheim et al.,

511 2019). During this period, parents were less sensitive to approach angles and were 512 less likely to leave their chicks. When approached by either method at closer distances. 513 GCC parents called, hopped, and raised their wings (with younger chicks hiding under 514 their parents' wings). The behaviours allude to their instinctive priority to protect their 515 offspring by distracting predators from their offspring or to increase their perceived size 516 as a predation deterrent (Humphreys & Ruxton, 2020; Gallego & Sarasola, 2021), likely 517 hoping that the potential threat might eventually stop or change direction. Their 518 behaviour during and after nesting thus appears to align with the parental theory, which 519 suggests a positive correlation between parental defence and offspring age (Boucher, 520 1977). When applied to this species, this would mean that incubating cranes likely 521 prioritise their own safety over the success of their eggs yet appear to undergo a switch 522 once eggs have hatched since the probability of successfully rearing young increases 523 after hatching (similar findings shown by Ge et al., 2011 and Kong et al., 2021).

524 2.6.2 Species-specific guidelines and future recommendations

525 While drones may emit some disturbance to GCC groupings and collisions of a drone 526 and target or non-target species are possible, the latter is rare and did not occur once 527 during the 313 flights of this study (similar results have been obtained by Marchowski, 528 2021). The risk of disturbance and collisions from drones should thus be placed within 529 the context of the risks and inefficiencies of on-foot monitoring. For example, 530 monitoring tern nests with drones is 2.89 times faster than on-foot observations (based 531 on information provided in Valle & Scarton, 2021). Also, if Stork (Ciconia Ciconia) 532 parents leave their nests during monitoring events, their return time to the nest is 533 shorter when monitored with drones than on-foot monitoring (Zbyryt et al., 2021), 534 further emphasising the reduction in stress from drone monitoring. Although I did not 535 explicitly measure return timing, informal observations suggest similar trends when 536 monitoring GCCs with drones. In summary, the discussed findings thus far indicate 537 clear advantages in utilising drones for GCC monitoring and guidelines for doing so 538 will be expanded upon below. Although drones have many benefits, they do require 539 greater postprocessing to extract data from the images or videos (Gonzalez et al., 2016). Additionally, factors like the drone's initial cost and civil aviation requirements, 540 541 including drone pilot training and registration, must be considered before adopting this 542 monitoring tool (Hodgson et al., 2016; Sorrell et al., 2023). When considering 543 vulnerable species that are sensitive to human disturbances, the trade-off of longer 544 postprocessing times in exchange for shorter exposure times may well be worth it.

545 Monitoring flocks with drones

546 Drones are generally used to monitor flocks for census purposes (Hodgson et al., 2018; 547 Valle & Scarton, 2020; Marchowski, 2021; Wen et al., 2021). However, in this study, 548 flocks responded negatively to flight heights below 30 m. Drones should then be flown 549 at elevated flight heights to flight responses. Censuses typically require flying at greater 550 altitudes (> 50 m) to capture more individuals in the frame, so there is little trade-off in 551 higher flight heights. Notably, using drones as an alternative to annual aeroplane 552 surveys would serve as a more regular and cost-effective method to obtain valuable 553 data which can be used to inform this species' conservation strategies.

554 Monitoring breeding birds with drones

555 Drones were very effective in monitoring GCC breeding pairs and family groupings. To 556 capture breeding activities clearly, I suggest monitoring nest sites after early mornings 557 and before late afternoons (Demmer pers. obs.). Once a potential nest site has been 558 located, the drone should be manoeuvred in a way that minimises the angle of approach in order to minimise the parents' escape probability. Researchers should 559 560 also note that displaying no behavioural response to a disturbance stimulus does not necessarily mean that the subject is not stressed, since stress may manifest through 561 562 physiological responses instead (Zink et al., 2023). As such, I discourage 563 unnecessarily disturbing incubation and parental activities (both of which are 564 energetically costly to the parents – Geldart et al., 2022) and suggest limiting flights 565 during these initial breeding stages, as parents are more likely to leave the nest. The 566 drone should therefore be flown at higher flight altitudes to record a nest's co-ordinates 567 and the drone's digital zoom capabilities should be used to capture a photo of the nest 568 activities when parents are not actively incubating (e.g., standing, flying off, or during 569 incubation shifts). Although parents showed no behavioural change in response to 570 drone approach angles after nesting, I suggest continued caution when flying at closer 571 distances and suggest using diagonal approaches throughout all flights over pairs and 572 families (birds may find it uncomfortable to rotate their heads to assess vertically 573 approaching threats and crane groupings generally fled when approached from 574 above).

575 Future studies should also employ regular monitoring, especially when tracking 576 families with older chicks at wetlands (as opposed to human-constructed waterbodies) 577 since these waterbodies often have multiple nest sites, which can lead to confusion 578 and inaccurate data capturing. Families with older or fledged chicks travelled further

(Wolfson et al., 2020; Thompson et al., 2022; Wamiti et al., 2022) and were sometimes
more easily located by surveying the area with a vehicle instead of a drone. In some
scenarios, attaching GPS bands has proven useful in monitoring Brolga Crane chicks
(*Antigone rubicunda*) with minimal fatalities (Veltheim et al., 2019), but this was not the
focus of my study.

584 2.6.3 Conclusions

585 This study illustrates that GCCs display differential responses according to their 586 perceived risk of the threat (on-foot or drone approaches). Whilst on-foot monitoring 587 methods remain effective when subjects are conspicuous, drones are more efficient 588 and accurate for counting individuals in flocks, identifying nest site locations, and conducting egg and chick counts. The inclusion of drones as a monitoring tool for 589 590 GCCs should thus be dependent on the aim of the study and budget requirements (equipment costs and legislative requirements). My results corroborate those of 591 592 existing drone methodology studies, which suggest that it is not simply the employment 593 of drones but how they are employed that makes them an effective data collection tool 594 (Vas et al., 2015; Lyons et al., 2018; Weston et al., 2020; Mo & Bonatakis, 2022). 595 Whilst this study may provide comprehensive guidelines for the research and 596 monitoring of other large, threatened, and difficult-to-study waterbirds, utilising drones for wildlife monitoring is highly species-specific (Vas et al., 2015; Weimerskirch et al., 597 2018; Weston et al., 2020). I caution that future studies should first develop species-598 599 specific protocols before implementing drone methodologies.

1	Chapter 3: Breeding success and environmental
2	correlates of endangered Grey Crowned Cranes
3	(Balearica regulorum) in agricultural areas of
4	KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa
5	
6	Dedication
7 8	"Conservation will ultimately boil down to rewarding the private landowner who conserves the public interest." – Aldo Leopold
9 10 11 12 13	I dedicate this chapter to the landowners in the Kokstad area. Some individuals whom I would like to thank and give recognition to specifically are Anne Louwrens, who expressed initial interest in my project and put me in contact with others; Mike and Jeanette Rennie, the most generous and kind-hearted hosts; Rory Bryden and Richard Mingay.



1 3.1 Title

2 Breeding success and environmental correlates of endangered Grey Crowned Cranes

3 (Balearica regulorum) in agricultural areas of KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa.

4 3.2 Abstract

5 Birds are often used as ecological indicators because they are widely distributed across diverse habitats and display distinct behavioural responses to environmental 6 7 changes. The endangered Grey Crowned Crane (Balearica regulorum) is an iconic 8 species of wetland and grassland habitats, both of which are undergoing substantial 9 transformation to alternative land-uses. The delayed reproductive strategies and 10 habitat specialisation of Grey Crowned Cranes make them more vulnerable to extinction, but this risk is further compounded by data paucity. I employed traditional 11 12 and contemporary methods to collect breeding metrics to determine this species' 13 breeding success and to identify possible macro-environmental factors that promote 14 or hinder their success in a key agricultural area in KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. My 15 results illustrate that Grey Crowned Cranes are sensitive to high rainfall intensity during 16 the nesting stage but not during the hatchling/fledging stages. Multivariate analyses 17 and multi-model inference revealed that successful nest sites were generally 18 associated with larger open waterbodies, greater distances from shore, and increased proximity to secondary roads, buildings, and natural grasslands. Although increased 19 20 agricultural activities might promote greater foraging opportunities, the overall breeding 21 success of this species was low in this key agricultural region. The findings of this study 22 stress the urgent need for further fine-scale data collection and monitoring activities, to 23 better inform conservation actions for this species. I explicitly encourage future studies 24 to focus on aspects affecting Grey Crowned Crane breeding in regions where proximity 25 to human activities is inevitable.

Keywords: agriculture; disturbance; conservation; reproductive output; macro environmental effects.

28 3.3 Introduction

29 Birds are exceptionally diverse and species-rich, occupying almost all habitats on Earth (Lees et al., 2022; Pillay et al., 2022). Since they demonstrate predictable responses 30 to environmental changes in these wide-ranging habitats, they are considered useful 31 ecological indicators (Fraixedas et al., 2020; Marcelino et al., 2020; Lees et al., 2022). 32 33 For instance, if environmental shifts cause a misalignment of resources during key life stages, migratory species adjust their migration patterns (reaching destinations earlier 34 35 or later than usual), while non-migratory bird species may attempt to shift their home range (Sillett et al., 2000; Visser et al., 2015; Teitelbaum et al., 2016). Climatic changes 36 37 exacerbate these challenges whereby temperature variability and droughts delay insect emergence, affecting food availability (Charmantier & Gienapp, 2014). This can 38 39 influence offspring growth and the opportunity to replenish the energetic costs that adults incur while breeding (Møller et al., 2008; Pearce-Higgins et al., 2010). 40

41 Larger birds with extended generation times, delayed reproduction, and greater dependence on specialised habitats face a higher extinction risk, especially if they 42 cannot adapt to rapidly changing environments (Brown & Orians, 1970; Owens & 43 44 Bennett, 2000; Ekman et al., 2004; Bird et al., 2020; Toussaint et al., 2021). The crane (Gruidae) family exhibits these traits and is one of the most threatened bird families 45 46 globally (Beilfuss et al., 2007; Krajewski et al., 2010; Harris & Mirande, 2013). Most crane species traditionally rely on wetlands for breeding and grasslands for foraging 47 48 (Beilfuss et al., 2007); however, commercial afforestation and agricultural 49 intensification have transformed much of their natural habitat into timber plantations, pastures, and croplands (Morrison & Bothma, 1998; Weyer et al., 2015; Fakarayi et 50 51 al., 2016; Wamiti et al., 2022). Although these landscapes provide greater foraging 52 opportunities for cranes, a closer association with agriculture also increases their 53 vulnerability to conflict with humans (Olupot, 2016; Austin et al., 2018; van Niekerk, 54 2018). Competing for similar resources in agricultural areas (Harris & Mirande, 2013; 55 Fakarayi et al., 2016; Tilman et al., 2017; Amulike et al., 2020) has also led to increased reports of breeding failures following damming and drainage of wetlands, powerline 56 57 electrocution and collisions, disease, and predation while poisoning, hunting, and illegal trading of these birds are also increasing (Bas et al., 2009; Harris & Mirande, 58 2013; Amulike et al., 2020; Galloway-Griesel et al., 2022). 59

A declining population's long-term persistence depends on an individual's reproductive
output per breeding event (or lifetime) and the likelihood of their offspring reaching

sexual maturity (De Villemereuil et al., 2019; Assersohn et al., 2021). Sub-Saharan 62 Africa's most vulnerable crane species, the Grey Crowned Crane (Balearica 63 64 regulorum, hereafter GCC) (Harris & Mirande, 2013), breeds during rainy seasons (high food availability) and produces among the largest clutch sizes of all crane species 65 66 (Austin et al., 2018; Gichuki, 2000; Wamiti et al., 2022). Grey Crowned Cranes utilise synchronised parental incubation to guard eggs against aerial predators, while nesting 67 in tall vegetation among inaccessible wetlands helps deter terrestrial predators (Wamiti 68 et al., 2020; Wen et al., 2021). Despite all this, they are still experiencing major 69 70 population declines. Although these nest selection preferences may effectively exclude 71 natural predators from breeding sites, they also make it increasingly challenging to 72 obtain accurate breeding metrics via traditional on-foot monitoring (Morrison, 1998), 73 hindering conservation efforts. To better inform their conservation strategies (Soriano-74 Redondo et al., 2023), future studies should document nest site location and 75 environmental factors that may directly or indirectly impact adults, eggs, or chicks, all of which ultimately influences breeding success (e.g., fluctuating incubation 76 temperatures, food quality and availability, or protection - Wu et al., 2009; Wu et al., 77 2014; Wamiti et al., 2022). 78

79 To my knowledge, no study to date considers how the macro-environmental 80 characteristics that surround GCC nest sites influence reproductive outcomes, and there remains a lack of comprehensive breeding data to determine this species' 81 82 breeding success. This study aimed to address this by 1) determining the overall 83 breeding success of this species, 2) identifying the reproductive stage at which GCCs are most at risk of reproductive failure, and 3) determining which macro-environmental 84 85 factors (both anthropogenic and natural) influence breeding success across a range of 86 land-use intensity sites in a key agricultural area in the southern Drakensberg. 87 KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. This study hypothesized that GCCs would exhibit a low 88 overall breeding success. I further predicted that factors influencing hatching rate, a 89 known vulnerability for many endangered species, would be a key contributor to this species' low reproductive output (Assersohn et al., 2021). Additionally, I anticipated 90 91 that anthropogenic factors which disrupt breeding activities or alter breeding sites 92 would be the primary macro-environmental determinants of low breeding success.

93 3.4 Methods and materials

94 3.4.1 Description of the study area



Figure 3.1: Distribution of study areas across an altitudinal gradient in the southern Drakensberg, KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa.

95 Nest site monitoring occurred in the southern regions of KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa, primarily in the Underberg, Himeville, Franklin, and Kokstad areas (Figure 3.1)¹. This 96 region receives an annual summer rainfall of between 650 and 1000 mm. However, 97 during the 2022 – 2023 breeding season, this region experienced above-average 98 99 rainfall attributed to a La Niña event (Jones, 2022). Indeed, rainfall data obtained from individual farmers in each study region indicated that precipitation during the 2022 -100 101 2023 breeding season surpassed the yearly average recorded in previous years (Table 3.1). While open grasslands and wetlands are common in the southern regions of 102 103 KwaZulu-Natal, the predominant land-uses in these areas are allocated to agriculture 104 (intensive cropping and dairying, extensive beef, and sheep) and commercial forestry

¹Specific nest site locations have been omitted because this is potentially sensitive information that could be exploited by collectors, and I do not have the landowner's permission to share this information publicly.

- 105 (Pinus spp. and Eucalyptus spp.).
- 106 3.4.2 Data collection
- 107 Breeding success

During the 2022 – 2023 breeding season, I identified potential GCC breeding pairs
using behavioural cues following Wamiti et al. (2020) – the primary indication of an
active breeding site was that of a lone crane foraging near a waterbody, implying that
its partner was at a nearby nest site. Because GCCs nest in difficult-to-access areas,
I used a standard Mavic Air 2S drone (DJI Technology Co., Shenzhen, China) (595 g,
1-inch 20 MP sensor, 8× zoom, 65 dB low noise propeller) to monitor all nests following
the GCC nest site approaching methodology detailed above (Figure 3.2).



Figure 3.2: Schematic presentation of the general drone approach manoeuvre for monitoring GCC nest sites and family groups.

- 115 The number of drone flights during initial breeding stages (incubation and hatching)
- were kept to a minimum² to decrease disturbance and to lower the risk of nest or chick 116
- abandonment by parents. However, the small size and cryptic colouring of GCC
- 118 hatchlings required closer and lower flights for accurate counts. Where possible, the

² To account for potential variation in egg-laying timing, researchers should conduct a follow-up nest check one week after the initial flight, especially if only one egg was observed. This is particularly important for GCCs which can lay clutches of up to three eggs, with two-three days separating each egg. However, to minimize disturbance during the critical incubation period (28-31 days), no more than three nest visits should be conducted within this timeframe.

pilot used higher flights and the drone's zoom sensor to capture breeding metrics accurately. All flights involved cautiously manoeuvring the drone, approaching the pair and their chicks at an acute angle without hovering (spending ± 20 seconds at the nest). A schematic representation of the general approach manoeuvre is presented in Figure 3.2. Furthermore, video recording was enabled throughout the approach to facilitate *post-hoc* recording of breeding success metrics, thereby minimising monitoring time at nest sites.

126 A nest site was considered "active" if eggs were present or a crane was sitting on an 127 identified nesting platform (i.e., incubating). If a pair displayed courtship behaviour but 128 was not yet seen attending to a nest or chicks, the site was revisited at two-to-three-129 week intervals to determine whether the pair had progressed to a breeding attempt. 130 During each breeding site observation, I counted the number of eggs, hatchlings, 131 juveniles, and fledglings and differentiated between these stages based on their size 132 and plumage. Distinguishing juveniles from fledglings was dependent on whether 133 chicks could fly (whereby plumage development and fledging commonly take place 55 134 to 100 days after hatching – Gichuki, 2000). Throughout the breeding season, each 135 nest site was revisited at two-to-three-week intervals from incubation until the offspring 136 could fly or until there was no evidence of the family after two subsequent monitoring 137 events. If a nest site was not monitored from incubation, it was excluded - since 138 missing the initial nesting stage results in biases towards identifying nest sites that 139 successfully hatch chicks and does not produce comprehensive breeding metrics 140 (Jehle et al., 2004).

141 Nest site characteristics

142 Daily rainfall data for the 2022 – 2023 breeding season were sourced from local 143 farmers who kept accurate records by measuring millimetres of rainfall with standard 144 10cm² rain gauges. These data were collected for each of the five regions where nest 145 sites were situated. I also collected macro-environmental data describing the broader 146 patch and landscape-scale habitat type around each nest site (Figure 3.3). I used GIS 147 software to measure direct distances between the nest site and important 148 environmental descriptors (i.e., nearest building, road, agricultural land, and water 149 type) and to determine the dam and wetland surface areas (measured in square 150 meters). The sole categorical descriptor, vegetation height, was categorised through 151 *post-hoc* assessments using drone photographs taken within one meter of each nest 152 site. The five vegetation height categories included "short" for grass, "medium" for

reeds, and "tall" for bulrushes. Nest sites with a combination of these vegetation types were labelled as "short to medium" or "medium to tall." Several of the chosen environmental descriptors were informed by prior research which highlighted their significance for describing the nesting habits of other wetland-nesting crane species (e.g., Ivey & Dugger, 2008; Wamiti et al., 2020; Gulati & Rana, 2021).

158 Breeding success metrics

159 Breeding success was assessed through three measures: 1) the total counts of 160 offspring stages, 2) the probability of an offspring progressing from one stage to another (calculated as the total count in the subsequent stage divided by the total count 161 162 in the previous stage), and 3) nest site success, determined when at least one juvenile 163 or fledgling was observed. The identification of families became challenging once chicks gained the ability to fly, as they exhibited increased mobility. Therefore, I 164 considered a breeding attempt successful when the offspring reached the juvenile/ 165 166 fledging stage. In most cases these subjects could fly (i.e., between 80 and 140 days 167 after hatching; see Figure 3.6 B) but had not yet left their parents or the area in which



Figure 3.3: Visual representation of the macro-environmental descriptors assessed for each nest site. Non-categorical descriptors, excluding dam and wetland surface areas (square meters), depict measurements between the nest sites and the closest identifiable point of interest (meters).
their parents nested. This typically included fledged chicks, but in some instances,
families already joined nearby flocks shortly after chicks became more mobile, making
it difficult to identify specific families.

171 3.4.3 Statistical analyses

172 All statistical analyses were conducted in R version 4.3.1 (R Core Team, 2022). A 173 generalised linear model was used to evaluate the number of observations at each 174 nest site, with the "region" serving as the independent variable. Residuals were 175 modelled using a Poisson distribution, while using a log link function ensured a positive 176 fit. I estimated the date (an integer with 1 denoting the first observation in the breeding 177 season) at which each developmental stage was most likely to be detected by using a log-linear mixed effects model (using the "Imer" function from the Ime4 package -178 179 Bates et al., 2015). The developmental stage (a factor with four levels: eggs, hatchlings) 180 < 3 weeks, juveniles 3 – 12 weeks, and fledglings > 12 weeks of age) and breeding 181 outcome (factor with two levels: success, failure) were included as independent 182 variables with their interaction. Since repeated observations took place at each nest 183 site throughout the breeding season, I controlled for this in all the mixed effects models 184 by including "nest site" as a random intercept.

185 Offspring counts were then predicted for each developmental stage using a 186 generalised linear mixed effects model (GLMM - "glmer" function from the lme4 187 package) with "offspring counts" as the independent variable and "developmental 188 stage" as the response variable. Residuals were modelled using a Poisson distribution 189 and a log link function to ensure positive fits. I further assessed the change in the 190 number of offspring through time by using a GLMM with a Poisson distribution and a 191 log link function. The number of days since the initial observation of the breeding 192 attempt was incorporated as a third-order polynomial covariate. The developmental 193 stage, categorised into four levels (eggs, hatchlings, juveniles, and fledglings), was 194 included as a factor, and the interaction between these two independent variables was 195 also included.

The probability of transitioning from one stage to the next was assessed using a GLM with residuals modelled using a binomial distribution and a logit link function to ensure proportional fits. First, I evaluated the probability of the different transition types succeeding. These included three sequential transition types (eggs to hatchlings, hatchlings to juveniles, juveniles to fledglings). The egg to juvenile transition was added to this model as a measure of nest site success – the probability that an egg

would result in a juvenile indicating the overall survival probability of an egg. I then
determined whether all eggs would transition to juveniles, i.e., the chance of obtaining
100 % success at the nest site.

205 In a second model, I assessed how transition probabilities of two transition types (factor 206 with two levels, namely eggs - hatchlings and hatchlings - juveniles) change across a 207 gradient of rainfall intensity (covariate) and the interaction of these two. A GLMM with a binomial distribution and a logit link function was used to conduct this analysis. 208 209 Rainfall intensity (mm.day⁻¹) was calculated as the sum of the daily rainfall during each transition divided by the number of days the transition took to complete. Higher values 210 211 indicate greater rainfall in a shorter amount of time. Here, I included a random intercept of "region" to control for differences in total rainfall between the regions. There was 212 213 also a difference in the mean rainfall intensity experienced during these two transition types (χ^2 = 17.366, df = 1, *p* < 0.001) and months (F_{7,1236} = 340.34, p < 0.001, Figure 214 3.4) - since rainfall intensity was greater earlier in the breeding season. This was 215 controlled for by incorporating a random slope effect of rainfall intensity within months 216 217 to capture the variable rainfall intensity observed between the months. Juvenile to 218 fledgling transitions did not occur in all regions, so this transition was excluded from 219 this analysis. Unless otherwise stated, all results from these regression models are 220 presented as means ± 95 % confidence intervals (CI). Unless otherwise stated, 221 significance was determined at p < 0.05.



Figure 3.4: Rolling 30 - day rainfall intensity (mean ± 95 % confidence interval) across the 2022 - 2023 Grey Crowned Crane breeding season.

222 The biophysical descriptors collected for each nest site were used to explore trends in 223 GCC breeding success using a principal components analysis (PCA). As the environmental descriptors differed by orders of magnitude, these measurements were 224 225 $\log (x + 1)$ transformed and then standardised by dividing each measurement by the 226 maximum transformed distance recorded for that measurement type to scale each 227 measurement between zero and one. The PCA was then conducted using the "rda" 228 function from the vegan package (Oksanen et al., 2022). I tested for the separation of 229 centroids between successful and unsuccessful hatchings (hatching success) and the 230 production of juveniles (overall success) by implementing analysis of variance using 231 distance matrices (from the "adonis2" function in the vegan package). Euclidean 232 distances were used in this analysis. Centroids and 95 % confidence envelopes were 233 extracted from the "ordiplot" and "ordiellipse" functions from the vegan package for 234 plotting purposes.

235 Using multi-model inference to complement the multivariate analyses, I identified the 236 most important environmental descriptors, beginning with a complete model including all main effects. Models with all possible combinations of predictor variables were then 237 238 assessed using the "dredge" function from the MuMIn package (Barton, 2023). The 239 best-performing model of all the models within two AIC (Akaike information criterion) 240 units of the best performing model ($\triangle AIC \le 2$) was selected. To reduce the influence of 241 potentially non-significant parameters included in these selected models, I applied a 242 model averaging procedure using the "model.avg" function from the MuMIn package 243 (Arnold, 2010). Since there is a strong correlation between likelihood ratio tests and 244 \triangle AIC with \triangle AIC = 2 (translating to a confidence level of *p* < 0.157 as opposed to the more conservative p < 0.05 – Arnold, 2010), I report both the 95 % and 85 % 245 246 confidence intervals (with 85 % confidence intervals being approximately equivalent to 247 p < 0.157) in the final averaged model's presentation for these analyses (Arnold, 2010; 248 Sutherland et al., 2023). If a parameter was significant at the 85 % and not the 95 % 249 level, I referred to this as a "moderately significant" effect.

For both the multivariate and the multi-model inference analyses, a nest site was considered to have successfully hatched offspring if at least one egg hatched. Similarly, a nest site was considered successful overall if at least one juvenile was observed at the nest.

254 3.5 Results

255 Ninety-five nests were identified and monitored across the five regions during the 2022 256 - 2023 breeding season (Table 3.1). On average, each nest site was observed 3.72 (3.44, 4.00) times, totalling 351 observations across all 95 nest sites. These 257 258 observations were equally distributed across nest sites (i.e., no difference between 259 sites: $\chi^2 = 3.238$, df = 4, p = 0.519, Table 3.1), showing no bias in nest site selection and monitoring. Rainfall intensity varied across regions, with Himeville recording the 260 261 greatest rainfall intensity and Kokstad the lowest rainfall intensity (F_{4,1239} = 2.523, p = 0.039, Table 3.1). 262

Table 3.1: Description of data collection (counts and means (95 % confidence intervals) and rainfall amounts and intensities during the breeding season (Oct 2022 – May 2023) across different areas where GCC nest sites were identified. Rainfall intensity was measured over 10-day rolling periods throughout the observation period. Rainfall intensity results that share the same superscript letters indicate means that cannot be shown to be different.

Dogion	Number of	Observations per Rain		Rainfall intensity		
Region	nest sites	nest site	(mm)	(mm.day ⁻¹)		
Franklin	8	3.38 (2.31, 4.92)	906	2.88 (2.52, 3.28) ^{ab}		
Himeville	19	4.11 (3.29, 5.13)	1 192	3.54 (3.14, 3.98) ^a		
Kokstad	36	3.35 (2.81, 4.00)	697	2.73 (2.38, 3.11) ^b		
Underberg West	24	4.08 (3.35, 4.98)	1 054	3.19 (2.80, 3.62) ^{ab}		
Underberg East	8	3.62 (2.52, 5.22)	1 077	3.21 (2.82, 3.64) ^{ab}		

The average dates of observations throughout the breeding season (eggs, hatchlings, juveniles, and fledglings) are illustrated in Figure 3.5. These dates were significantly different between developmental stages ($F_{1,618.43} = 106.14$, p < 0.001) but did not differ between successful and unsuccessful nests ($F_{1,110.00} = 0.01$, p = 0.913). The interaction

between these two variables was also non-significant ($F_{1,946.65} = 0.41$, p = 0.666).

273 3.5.1 Breeding outcomes

The number of individual offspring per nest differed between development stages, with significantly more eggs recorded than juveniles or fledglings ($\chi^2 = 27.079$, df = 3, *p* < 0.001, Figure 3.6A). The average number of eggs detected was 2.53 (2.30, 2.78). This average includes interesting observations of four nest sites, each with four eggs. The number of eggs continuously declined and were no longer detected after ± 30 days (estimated-df = 3.823, F = 70.69, *p* < 0.001). Hatchlings (estimated-df = 3.952, F =

- 280 29.19, *p* < 0.001), juveniles (estimated-df = 4.491, F = 23.26, *p* < 0.001), and fledglings
- (estimated-df = 3.129, F = 35.32, p < 0.001) all showed unimodal type responses with
- peak counts occurring at 24, 48 and 146 days, respectively (Figure 3.6B).



Figure 3.5: Mean (± 95 % confidence interval) date at which Grey Crowned Crane developmental
stages were observed between successful and unsuccessful sites.



Figure 3.6: A) Number of Grey Crowned Crane offspring observed across the different developmental stages (mean ± 95 % confidence intervals). Shared letters denote that there is no evidence for significant differences. B) The number of observed offspring since the initial identification of the nest site. Dashed vertical lines represent the days at which the maximum number of offspring at a particular stage was observed.

290 3.5.2 Transition probabilities

The probability that a GCC would transition from one stage to the next differed 291 significantly depending on the type of transition ($\chi^2 = 30.733$, df = 2, p < 0.001, Figure 292 293 3.7A). No significant difference was found in the probability of transitioning from eggs 294 to hatchlings (38.4 (29.3; 48.4) %) in comparison to either transitioning from eggs to juveniles (31.1 (26.6; 36.1) %) or transitioning from juveniles to fledglings. However, 295 296 transitioning from eggs to hatchlings was less likely to occur than the transition from 297 hatchlings to juveniles (66.0 (52.1; 77.6) %), but the probability of transitioning from hatchlings to juveniles was not different from the probability of transitioning from 298 299 juveniles to fledglings (59.0 (43.2; 73.1) %). Transitioning from eggs to juveniles was less frequent than transitioning from hatchlings to juveniles and from juveniles to 300 301 fledglings. Furthermore, 10.6 (7.8; 14.2) % of nests showed a 100 % success rate 302 where all eggs transitioned to juveniles - significantly less than all other transition types considered. By controlling for the general effect of rainfall intensity within the different 303 regions, I found that the probability of developing from eggs into hatchlings was 304 negatively affected by increased rainfall intensity ($\chi^2 = 4.071$, df = 1, p = 0.044, Figure 305



Figure 3.7: A) Probability of transitioning (mean \pm 95 % confidence intervals) from one development stage to the next, where i) shared letters denote no difference, ii) "eggs-juveniles" explains the probability of an egg being successfully reared, and iii) "100 % success" indicates the probability of all eggs in each nest being raised successfully. B) Probability of transitioning from one stage to the next across a gradient of rainfall intensity (points are empty and jittered around p(x) = 0 or 1 to show overlap).

306 3.7B) but transitioning from hatchlings to fledglings was not (χ^2 = 0.0539, df = 1, p = 307 0.816, Figure 3.7B).

308 3.5.3 Breeding success

309 Principle component analysis revealed associations between the nest sites and environmental variables (Figure 3.8). The first principal component (PC1) explained 310 311 22.84 % of the variation in nest locations (eigenvalue: 0.16). It included wetland areas (21.2 %) and distances to buildings (16.0 %), water edge (15.6 %), tar roads (14.8 %), 312 313 and farm roads (13.3 %) as the most closely related descriptors. The second principal component (PC2) explained 16.10 % of the variation (eigenvalue: 0.11) and 314 315 represented distances to natural grassland (20.1%), buildings (15.7%), tar roads (14.8 %), rivers (11.9 %) and water edges (10.7 %). I found significant differences in the 316 317 composition of nest site metrics when considering hatching success (PERMANOVA, 999 permutations, pseudo-F1,95 = 3.041, p = 0.006, Figure 3.8 – empty circles) but 318 319 not in their overall success (PERMANOVA, 999 permutations, pseudo-F1,95 = 1.856, p = 0.073, Figure 3.8 – filled circles). These separations occurred along PC1. 320



Figure 3.8: Plot of environmental descriptors of Grey Crowned Crane nest sites along axes one
 and two of a principal components analysis.³

Multi-model inference identified 11 candidate models to explain hatching success and eight models to define overall breeding success. Model averaging procedures applied to models where the Δ AlCc was less than 2 (Figure 3.9; Table 3.2) revealed that hatching success decreased when nest sites were further away from natural grasslands and buildings. Moderate negative associations (significant at the 85 % but not 95 % level) with hatching success were also identified from increased distances to

³ Eigenvalues for PC1 and PC2 were 0.16 and 0.11, respectively. Black points represent the ordination of nest sites concerning the environmental descriptors. Larger, coloured points indicate the centroids of either successful or failed nest sites. Envelopes represent the 95 % confidence interval. Dashed envelopes and empty points represent hatching success (whether at least one hatchling was observed at the nest site). Solid envelopes and filled points represent overall success (whether at least one juvenile was observed at the nest site). All descriptors are distance metrics except for island, which indicates the presence of a nest on an island, and vegetation height, which represents the vegetation height class around the nest site.

dirt roads. Considering overall success, nest sites further away from buildings were less successful, while the reduced distance to natural grasslands was moderately associated with increased breeding success. Overall breeding success also had a moderately positive association with larger nearby dam surface areas.



Figure 3.9: Model averaged effect sizes. Response variables represent distances from nest sites to the point of interest in meters for all covariates except for wetland area and dam area, which are measured in m²/1000. Positive effect sizes represent a positive relationship between increased distance between the nest site and the point of interest (or size of wetland or dam) and increased nest site success. Negative effect sizes represent a negative relationship between increased distance between the nest site and the point of interest (or negative relationship between increased distance between the nest site and the point of interest (or increased size of wetland or dam) and decreased nest site success.⁴

⁴ Error bars indicate 95 % (red) and 85 % (blue) confidence intervals. A dashed vertical line indicates no effect. Shaded effect sizes are non-significant at the p < 0.157 level (representative of Δ AIC = 2).

Table 3.2: Summary of the model selection procedure applied to hatching and overall breeding success. Only models with an $\Delta AICc \le 2$ are included. For each model, we reported the model formula, the model's degrees of freedom (df), the log-likelihood (log(L)), the AICc criterion, $\Delta AICci = AICci - minAICc$, Akaike weight (Weight). Models are ordered according to $\Delta AICc$. LL – Log likelihood.

	Model	df	LL	AICc	Δ AICc	Weight
Hatching success	natural_grassland+dam_area+buildings+dirt_road	5	-55.5	121.8	0	0.18
	natural_grassland+buildings+dirt_road	4	-57.2	122.7	0.99	0.11
	natural_grassland+dam_area+buildings	4	-57.2	122.8	1.09	0.104
	natural_grassland+buildings	3	-58.5	123.2	1.47	0.086
	natural_grassland+dam_area+buildings+dirt_road+open_water	6	-55.1	123.2	1.47	0.086
	pasture+natural_grassland+dam_area+buildings+dirt_road	6	-55.2	123.4	1.67	0.078
	natural_grassland+dam_area+buildings+dirt_road+river	6	-55.2	123.4	1.67	0.078
	natural_grassland+dam_area+wetland_area+buildings+dirt_road	6	-55.3	123.5	1.73	0.076
	natural_grassland+buildings+dirt_road+open_water	5	-56.5	123.7	1.92	0.069
	natural_grassland+dam_area+dirt_road	4	-57.6	123.7	1.95	0.068
	crops+natural_grassland+dam_area+buildings+dirt_road	6	-55.4	123.8	2	0.066
Overall success	natural_grassland+dam_area+buildings	4	-56.2	120.9	0	0.234
	natural_grassland+dam_area+buildings+farm_road	5	-55.8	122.2	1.26	0.125
	natural_grassland+dam_area+buildings+dirt_road	5	-55.8	122.3	1.38	0.117
	crops+natural_grassland+dam_area+buildings	5	-55.8	122.3	1.38	0.117
	natural_grassland+dam_area+buildings+open_water	5	-55.9	122.4	1.48	0.112
	dam_area+buildings	3	-58.2	122.6	1.66	0.102
	natural_grassland+dam_area+buildings+river	5	-56	122.7	1.76	0.097
	natural_grassland+dam_area+wetland_area+buildings	5	-56	122.7	1.79	0.096

347 3.6 Discussion

348 3.6.1 Overview of breeding outcomes

349 The distribution of any species is ultimately dictated by the availability and accessibility 350 of critical resources (Wiens, 2011). For crane species facing resource scarcity within 351 protected areas, survival often hinges on venturing into unprotected zones to meet 352 their needs (Austin et al., 2018). However, reviving declining crane populations in these unprotected areas is highly dependent on successful breeding outcomes within the 353 354 species, which commonly necessitates adaptation to changing environments (Charmantier & Gienapp, 2014; Wamiti et al., 2022). Non-migratory species (e.g., 355 356 GCC) cannot easily shift their home range to preferable environmental conditions or land-use types (Ramírez et al., 2018; Donnelly et al., 2022), which increases their 357 358 reliance on habitats in unprotected areas (Burnham et al., 2017; Hemminger et al., 359 2022). Therefore, implementing effective conservation strategies to assist private 360 landowners in conservation management requires a deeper understanding of a species' utilisation of the habitat and, concerning breeding, understanding their current 361 362 breeding outcomes and the possible factors hindering or promoting breeding success.

363 To the best of my knowledge, this study is the first to employ a drone to successfully 364 monitor GCC nest sites in largely unprotected landscapes. In a single breeding season, 365 95 nest sites were consistently monitored, which is substantially higher than what has 366 been achieved with traditional on-foot monitoring methods (e.g., Wamiti et al. (2022) managed to monitor 33 out of a possible 63 active GCC nest sites by on-foot wading 367 368 to nests). Throughout these monitoring events, I found that a) the typical GCC clutch 369 size consisted of approximately 2.5 eggs, aligning with findings from GCC clutch sizes 370 in Kenya (Wamiti et al., 2022); b) the most sensitive stage of GCC breeding was their 371 hatching stage which was affected by several environmental and climatic factors; and 372 c) the low overall breeding success of this species emphasises the need for improved 373 conservation strategies aimed at improving this species' hatching rate.

374 3.6.2 Hatching and fledging rates

Several studies suggest that the reproductive success of cranes increases when monogamous pairs become more familiar with one another through frequent socialising, which also strengthens pair bonds and matures their breeding experience (Ivey & Dugger, 2008; Hammers et al., 2012; Teitelbaum et al., 2017; Barwisch et al., 2022). However, gaining experience takes time and increases this family's extinction

380 risk (Stevens & Conway, 2020). One of the most common conservation challenges of 381 stagnant or declining populations of threatened bird species is the failure of eggs to 382 hatch (Assersohn et al., 2021). Previous GCC hatching rates in Kenya were 83.6 % 383 (Gichuki, 1993) and 91.3 % in Ethiopia for Black Crowned Cranes (Zelelew et al., 384 2019), but both inferred a low overall breeding success since less than half of the 385 clutches in their study fledged. I observed a substantially lower hatching rate than these 386 earlier studies with only 38.4 % of eggs hatching, 66.0 % of hatchlings transitioning 387 into the juvenile stage, and 59.0 % of juveniles surviving to the fledging stage. These 388 findings suggest that the nesting phase represents the most susceptible period in GCC 389 breeding, aligning with the concern previously expressed by Assersohn et al. (2021). 390 After hatching, crane chicks remain vulnerable to predation and environmental 391 challenges for 75 – 90 days until they fledge. The likelihood of chick survival typically 392 rises as they mature and become more adept at identifying threats and evading 393 predators themselves (Fox et al., 2019).

394 3.6.3 Transition stages

395 Unlike other species, which only invest parental care in one of two hatchlings (e.g., 396 Wattled Cranes Bugeranus carunculatus), GCCs attempt to raise all hatchlings 397 (Morrison & Bothma, 1998; Morrison, 2015; Zelelew et al., 2019). This supports my findings, demonstrating that 10.6 % of GCC pairs managed to raise all eggs in their 398 clutch until the fledging stage. The transition probability of GCC hatchlings to 399 400 juveniles/fledglings (one to two fledglings per pair) was also higher than that of other 401 crane species. For example, Wattled Cranes in Mozambique produced 0.42 chicks per 402 pair in 1999 and ± 0.25 chicks per pair in the two wetter years that followed (Bento et 403 al., 2007). During an eight-year study on the critically endangered Whooping Crane 404 (Grus americana), another investigation reported a 30 % hatching rate, with 47 % of 405 these hatchlings surviving until the fledging stage (Spalding et al., 2009). This equates 406 to an overall breeding success of approximately 14 %. Subsequent studies 407 emphasised that the recovery of this critically endangered species is highly dependent 408 on their ability to improve their low breeding outcomes (Butler et al., 2017). Although 409 the transition probabilities of GCC were higher than those of the Whooping Crane, their 410 overall breeding success remains comparable. Consequently, my findings support the 411 2012 IUCN up-listing of GCCs to an "Endangered" status.

412 3.6.4 Rainfall interactions

413 Breeding birds incur high energetic costs when defending territories, incubating eggs, 414 and raising young (Gichuki, 2000; Geldart et al., 2022). However, these costs are even 415 higher during suboptimal environmental conditions, which are predicted to become 416 more frequent (i.e., droughts and high rainfall in alternating years - Marcelino et al., 417 2020; Connell et al., 2021). While rainfall generally enhances avian breeding success 418 by optimising habitat conditions (Woolley et al., 2022), prolonged and heavy rain 419 (especially over a short period) may lead to flooding or cooler weather and wet nest 420 conditions, affecting the temperature of the eggs (Ivey & Dugger, 2008). Maintaining 421 egg temperature is especially important for species where both sexes share incubation duties (including most crane species), as eggs are regularly exposed to varying 422 423 ambient temperature extremes and predators during rotation (Ivey & Dugger, 2008; Du 424 Rant et al., 2013). My results indicate that the incubation phase (eggs) experienced 425 greater vulnerability than hatchlings when exposed to intense rainfall. Furthermore, I noted instances of nest abandonment by GCCs shortly after heavy rainfall and hail 426 427 events (Demmer, pers. obs.). Similar observations have been made with Greater 428 Sandhill Cranes (Antigone canadensis tabida), which abandoned flooded nests 429 following high rainfall events (> 50 mm of rain within 24 h), leading to a significant 430 number of nest failures (Nesbitt, 1988; Fox et al., 2019).

431 Interestingly, several crane species tend to renest after initial failed breeding attempts 432 (Nesbitt, 1988; Thompson et al., 2022; Woolley et al., 2022). However, the decision to 433 renest depends on various factors, including the time available to renest, 434 environmental conditions and parental body conditions, and the species' breeding 435 strategy (Saalfeld et al., 2021). While renesting efforts have improved the breeding 436 success in various bird families (e.g., family Gruidae – Hayes, 2022 and family Laridae 437 - Ledwoń et al., 2023), this trend also has exceptions (Jones et al., 1995). For 438 example, threatened Piping Plovers (Charadrius melodus) produce smaller and less 439 successful clutches from renesting events than those from their initial breeding 440 attempt. Frequent renesting can also lead to the bird's energetic costs outweighing 441 their long-term reproductive success (Swift et al., 2020). I noted some (n = 4 - excluded442 from analyses in this study) renesting attempts among breeding pairs after initial 443 failures (suspected to have failed because of flooding). These pairs commonly 444 renested near (30 – 500 m) initial nest sites, or closer to locations where water entered 445 the waterbody, perhaps to reduce the risk of subsequent flooding. Either way, pairs

446 usually stayed or renested within the same area as their initial breeding attempt (Demmer, pers. obs) but likely in a new territory (i.e., Wamiti et al. (2022) considered 447 448 the distance between any two active nests as the minimum territory size which they found to be about 47 m in their study area). While success was observed in some 449 450 cases, others attempted renesting later in the breeding season when rainfall was low, 451 and temperatures were considerably cooler (showing no shift in breeding strategies or 452 attempts in anticipation of the risks of higher rainfall). Delayed renesting may have led 453 to a mismatch between resource requirements and the vulnerable developmental 454 stage of their chicks (as reported by Zelelew et al., 2019 and Martay et al., 2023). Nevertheless, I acknowledge that this study was limited to a single breeding season, 455 456 and future investigations could provide insights into i) potential variations in breeding 457 strategies of GCCs across seasons in response to long-term climatic changes and ii) 458 the impact of renesting attempts on the overall breeding success of this species.

459 3.6.5 Macro-environmental conditions

460 Meine and Archibald, (1996) theorised that the generalised foraging behaviour of 461 GCCs might be advantageous for adapting to future habitat changes. Subsequent 462 research has shown that several crane species benefit from increased foraging opportunities after cropping seasons in agricultural landscapes (Austin et al., 2018). 463 464 The ability of cranes to pass learned behaviours from experienced to non-experienced 465 individuals (the phenomenal cultural transmission) may partially explain why more 466 cranes are taking advantage of more accessible foraging opportunities in agricultural 467 landscapes (Hayes & Barzen, 2016; Teitelbaum et al., 2019). However, despite the 468 benefits of increased foraging opportunities, the intensity of agricultural practices (e.g., 469 grazing, cropping, and damming – Dalu et al., 2017) drastically transforms natural 470 ecosystems, modifying sensitive breeding habitats (Bartzen et al., 2010; Sica et al., 471 2018). The close nesting proximity to human disturbances during vulnerable and 472 energetically taxing breeding stages (e.g., incubation) may also lower breeding success (Olupot, 2016; Seress et al., 2020; Geldart et al., 2022). This is supported by 473 474 observations of the migratory White-naped Cranes (Grus vipio), which have 475 continuously been shifting their nest sites further away from disturbances such as 476 roads and settlements (Wu et al., 2014).

When species shift breeding grounds towards human disturbances, it may suggest decreased suitability of breeding habitats (Fox et al., 2019), forcing birds to select nest sites in less optimal locations (also observed in cranes – Lacy et al., 2015). A second

480 suggestion implies a certain tolerance level to, if not a preference for, certain human 481 disturbances (Meine & Archibald, 1996 and Wamiti et al., 2022 infer that this may be 482 the case for the GCCs). I found that GCCs nesting closer to disturbances (secondary 483 roads and buildings) enhanced the hatching success of GCCs. I believe this may be in 484 response to habitat loss and some level of preference for nesting in these landscapes. 485 Other crane species have also shown hatching success in highly disturbed areas, with 486 their characteristically smaller clutch sizes (in comparison to other bird species) and 487 increased parental care being seemingly beneficial in these environments (e.g., Ge et 488 al., 2011; Wang et al., 2011; Li et al., 2015). However, a closer association with 489 agriculture exposes cranes to natural predators. This study did not assess predator 490 presence around nest sites. However, predation via natural predators is an ongoing 491 challenge for ground-nesting birds that inhabit farmland landscapes (Bravo et al., 492 2023) and may help explain some of the associations reported here. I observed and 493 received reports from landowners of some predatory incidences on GCCs (n = 6, 494 Demmer, pers. obs.) by generalist meso-predators (serval Leptailurus serval and jackal Lupulella mesomelas). These predators are commonly associated with 495 496 intensively managed pastures during calving and lambing seasons (Drouilly et al., 497 2018). This may help explain the positive association between GCC breeding success 498 and closer proximity to natural grasslands where such predators are assumed to occur 499 in lower numbers given the lower overall prey densities in those habitats.

500 Wu et al. (2014) provide a summary of comprehensive research on bird habitat 501 selection, concluding that the perception of habitat availability and the concept of 502 habitat selection are influenced by spatial scale. I found some strong associations with 503 other environmental factors apart from rainfall. Nesting on islands, for example, is 504 common in several waterbird species (e.g., Burgess and Hirons, 1992; Scarton and 505 Valle, 2020) and was also utilised among GCCs. Multivariate analyses suggested an 506 association of greater breeding success when nest sites occurred on islands, with a 507 lower risk of terrestrial predation likely contributing to this success. Previous studies indicate that GCCs commonly locate their nest sites in moderate (50 cm) water depth 508 509 amongst taller (60 – 90 cm) vegetation that is further away (100 m) from shore (Wamiti 510 et al., 2020). Most nest sites in this study were surrounded by tall vegetation, likely to 511 conceal nest sites from terrestrial predators (Olupot, 2016). Yet, my results indicate 512 that vegetation height did not necessarily promote reproductive success. Although 513 anecdotal, I observed three instances when birds of prey were at nests, feeding on exposed eggs during nest site monitoring (Demmer, pers. obs.). As birds of prey 514

approach from above, tall vegetation has little effect in concealing the nest site. This
could explain why vegetation height was found to be unimportant concerning breeding
success. Finally, nest sites situated in waterbodies with larger surface areas improved
overall breeding success – likely because large, healthy waterbodies act as
biodiversity hotspots, meeting a greater number of habitat requirements for significant
life events of inhabiting species (Creed et al., 2017; Li et al., 2019; Toussaint et al.,
2021; Donnelly et al., 2022).

522 3.6.6 Conclusions

523 In conclusion, this study provided fundamental insights into the breeding success of 524 GCCs in unprotected areas. It has highlighted a significant attrition rate in GCCs 525 between the egg and hatchling stages and confirmed that macro-environmental factors 526 surrounding nest sites influence the success or failure of a nest. Notably, this study highlights the capability of GCCs to successfully rear young in agricultural landscapes, 527 528 suggesting that improvements to this species' breeding success in non-traditional 529 environments with increased disturbances are possible. However, achieving this will 530 necessitate greater collaboration between conservation initiatives and private 531 landowners, emphasising the preservation of existing nest sites. It is crucial to 532 recognise that the degradation of critical nesting locations outweighs any foraging 533 benefits and threatens future breeding opportunities. I also advocate for a greater focus 534 on implementing effective monitoring methods and regularly collecting and 535 communicating data. This approach will contribute to informed decisions regarding 536 ecosystem health and land-use management and play a pivotal role in sustaining the 537 breeding opportunities of this endangered species.

Chapter 4: Synthesis, conclusions and recommendations

3

2

1

This chapter concludes this study by reviewing my key research findings in relation to
the research aims and questions, while considering the value and contribution of these
findings to crane ecology and conservation. I also evaluate this study's limitations and
provide suggestions for future research.

8 4.1 Research findings in relation to research aims and

9 questions

10 In Chapter 1 I identified fundamental knowledge gaps relating to the monitoring and 11 breeding of the endangered Grey Crowned Crane (GCC). Land-use changes within 12 key GCC habitats pose a continuous threat to population sustainability. These 13 changes, coupled with the isolated nature of GCC populations and their specific 14 breeding habits, hinder our ability to accurately assess population trends. Therefore, 15 developing more effective monitoring methods to gather precise data on breeding 16 success is crucial to inform future conservation strategies. Through extensive 17 experimental investigation, the findings presented in Chapter 2 suggest that drones 18 can be used as an effective ecological monitoring tool for all three GCC groupings 19 (pairs, families, and flocks). Drones were able to approach groupings at significantly 20 closer distances compared with on-foot monitoring. In this context, nesting birds 21 exhibited less evasive behaviour in response to drone flight heights when compared 22 with flocks. However, they were more responsive to drone approach angles at certain 23 stages of their breeding process. The findings of this experimental investigation also 24 helped inform guidelines that focus on using drones to collect breeding metrics at nest 25 sites located among tall, inaccessible wetland vegetation. Following these guidelines, 26 I used a drone to collect breeding metrics from 95 GCC nest sites throughout a single 27 breeding season in a key agricultural area in KwaZulu-Natal (Chapter 3). I found that 28 GCCs displayed a low hatching rate, while climatic and environmental factors also 29 influenced their breeding success. Interestingly, nest sites located closer to human 30 presence were associated with more positive breeding outcomes, suggesting that GCCs show some tolerance to certain anthropogenic conditions. 31

32 4.2 Limitations and future recommendations

This study successfully met its intended objectives, but it is important to contemplate 33 34 its potential limitations along with key aspects that could be explored in future studies. 35 Since informed conservation strategies hinge on accurate data collection and comprehensive conclusions, my primary suggestion is to refine the efforts of this study 36 37 in developing the first species-specific drone guidelines for monitoring GCCs. I also encourage subsequent studies to focus on wetland nesting cranes since several 38 39 aspects of GCC breeding still require further investigation. Secondly, this study was 40 temporally restricted to a single breeding season, which experienced a higher-than-41 average rainfall intensity. While the sample size used to determine GCC breeding success was adequate, future studies are encouraged to replicate this study over a 42 43 longer period to better understand this species' breeding during extreme and nonextreme climatic seasons. Another important aspect may include exploring whether 44 45 GCCs display flexibility in their breeding strategies since such flexibility might help them overcome reproductive losses during abnormal climatic events. Finally, some 46 47 anecdotal observations might also prove useful for future research. For example, I observed more predation incidences by land predators during the agricultural calving 48 49 and lambing season, which partly overlaps with periods when GCC chicks have not 50 yet fledged and are thus more vulnerable. Conservation strategies may benefit from 51 understanding how local predation might influence breeding success, particularly in 52 areas with increased human activity.

53 In considering possible improvements for the effective conservation of these 54 endangered birds, it is important to highlight that extensive collaboration with private 55 landowners was pivotal to the findings of this project. Efforts relating to this aspect 56 included informing, creating interest amongst, and encouraging landowners to 57 safeguard existing wetland nest sites through better land-use practices. Prioritising 58 these relationships ignited a notable enthusiasm for crane conservation among these 59 landowners and other community members, which further initiated subtle changes to farming practices at several study sites. Though my findings suggest an apparent 60 61 adaptability of GCCs to intensive agriculture, I reiterate the detrimental contribution of habitat loss to this species' declining population. Consequently, future collaborative 62 63 conservation efforts should discourage modifications or interference at wetlands, as these disruptions are likely to impact nest site availability and decrease egg-hatching 64 65 rates, ultimately hindering the long-term population recovery of this species. On the

contrary, conservation groups and governmental bodies could acknowledge and
incentivise (e.g., through certificates of recognition) farmers who make efforts to aid in
the conservation of globally endangered species.

69 4.3 Conclusions

70 In summary, this research study addressed fundamental knowledge gaps in this 71 species. It has also provided a foundation for future research and conservation 72 initiatives to implement precise, efficient, and budget-friendly methods for monitoring 73 GCCs and informing their conservation initiatives. Given that cranes primarily inhabit 74 unprotected landscapes, sustaining crane populations relies heavily on private 75 landowners. In many cases, these landowners have played a crucial role in artificially 76 supporting declining crane populations. Thus, the continued existence of this species, 77 along with many other endangered species, relies on constructive collaboration with 78 private landowners, careful monitoring, and effective conservation strategies that 79 balance the inevitable pressures from human and economic development.

1 References

2	
3	Afán, I., Máñez, M., & Díaz-Delgado, R. (2018). Drone monitoring of breeding waterbird
4	populations: The case of the Glossy Ibis. Drones, 2, 42.
5	https://doi.org/10.3390/drones2040042
6	Albores-Barajas, Y. V., Soldatini, C., Ramos-Rodríguez, A., Alcala-Santoyo, J. E., Carmona,
7	R., & Dell'Omo, G. (2018). A new use of technology to solve an old problem:
8	Estimating the population size of a burrow nesting seabird. PLOS ONE, 13,
9	e0202094. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0202094
10	Allan, D. G. (1996). A review of the biology and conservation status of cranes. Proceedings
11	of the African Crane and Wetlands Training Workshop, 1993, 13–51.
12	Alonso, J. A., & Alonso, J. C. (1993). Age-related differences in time budgets and parental
13	care in wintering common cranes. The Auk, 110, 78–88.
14	https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cropro.2013.05.019
15	Altena, B., & Goedemé, T. (2014). Assessing UAV platform types and optical sensor
16	specifications. ISPRS Annals of the Photogrammetry, Remote Sensing and Spatial
17	Information Sciences, II–5, 17–24. https://doi.org/10.5194/isprsannals-II-5-17-2014
18	Altwegg, R., & Anderson, M. D. (2009). Rainfall in arid zones: Possible effects of climate
19	change on the population ecology of blue cranes. <i>Functional Ecology</i> , 23, 1014–
20	1021. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2435.2009.01563.x
21	Amulike, B. B., Fuller, T. K., Houlihan, P. W., & Griffin, C. R. (2020). Seasonal variation in
22	Grey Crowned Crane (Balearica regulorum) abundance in the Ngorongoro Crater,
23	Tanzania. African Journal of Ecology, 58, 685–691. https://doi.org/10.1111/aje.12738
24	Anderson, A., Lindell, C. A., Moxcey, K. M., Siemer, W. F., Linz, G. M., Curtis, P. D., Carroll,
25	J. E., Burrows, C. L., Boulanger, J. R., & Steensma, K. M. M. (2013). Bird damage to
26	select fruit crops: The cost of damage and the benefits of control in five states. <i>Crop</i>
27	<i>Protection</i> , 52, 103–109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cropro.2013.05.019
28	Anderson, G. Q. A., & Green, R. E. (2009). The value of ringing for bird conservation.
29	<i>Ringing & Migration</i> , 24, 205–212. https://doi.org/10.1080/03078698.2009.9674393
30	Anderson, K., & Gaston, K. J. (2013). Lightweight unmanned aerial vehicles will revolutionize
31	spatial ecology. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment, 11, 138–146.
32	https://doi.org/10.1890/120150
33	Arnold, T. W. (2010). Uninformative parameters and model selection using Akaike's
34	Information Criterion. Journal of Wildlife Management, 74, 1175–1178.
35	https://doi.org/10.2193/2009-367
36	Assandri, G., Giacomazzo, M., Brambilla, M., Griggio, M., & Pedrini, P. (2017). Nest density,

37 nest-site selection, and breeding success of birds in vineyards: Management 38 implications for conservation in a highly intensive farming system. *Biological* 39 Conservation, 205, 23-33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2016.11.020 40 Assersohn, K., Marshall, A. F., Morland, F., Brekke, P., & Hemmings, N. (2021). Why do 41 eggs fail? Causes of hatching failure in threatened populations and consequences for 42 conservation. Animal Conservation, 24, 540-551. https://doi.org/10.1111/acv.12674 43 Austin, J. E., Morrison, K. L., & Harris, J. T. (Eds.). (2018). Cranes and Agriculture. 44 International Crane Foundation. 45 Bal, P., Tulloch, A. I., Addison, P. F., McDonald-Madden, E., & Rhodes, J. R. (2018). Selecting indicator species for biodiversity management. Frontiers in Ecology and the 46 47 *Environment*, *16*(10), 589–598. https://doi.org/10.1002/fee.1972 48 Balwan, W. K., & Kour, S. (2021). Wetland-an ecological boon for the environment. East 49 African Scholars Journal of Agriculture and Life Sciences, 4, 38–48. 50 https://doi.org/10.36349/easjals.2021.v04i03.001 51 Barr, J. R., Green, M. C., DeMaso, S. J., & Hardy, T. B. (2020). Drone surveys do not 52 increase colony-wide flight behaviour at waterbird nesting sites, but sensitivity varies 53 among species. Scientific Reports, 10, 3781. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-54 60543-z 55 Barron, D. G., Brawn, J. D., & Weatherhead, P. J. (2010). Meta-analysis of transmitter effects 56 on avian behaviour and ecology. Methods in Ecology and Evolution, 1, 180–187. 57 https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2041-210X.2010.00013.x Bartoń, K. (2023). MuMIn: Multi-Model Inference (1.47.5) [Computer software]. 58 59 https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=MuMIn Bartzen, B. A., Dufour, K. W., Clark, R. G., & Caswell, F. D. (2010). Trends in agricultural 60 61 impact and recovery of wetlands in prairie Canada. Ecological Applications, 20, 525-62 538. https://doi.org/10.1890/08-1650.1 63 Barwisch, I., Mewes, W., & Schmitz Ornés, A. (2022). Long-term monitoring data reveal 64 effects of age, population density, and environmental aspects on hatching success of 65 Common Cranes (Grus grus). Avian Research, 13, 100040. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.avrs.2022.100040 66 67 Bas, Y., Renard, M., & Jiguet, F. (2009). Nesting strategy predicts farmland bird response to 68 agricultural intensity. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 134, 143-147. 69 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2009.06.006 70 Bates, D., Machler, M., Bolker, B. M., & Walker, S. (2015). Fitting linear mixed-effects models 71 using Ime4. Journal of Statistical Software, 67, 1-48. 72 https://doi.org/https>/doi.org/10.18637/jss.v067.i01 73 Beilfuss, R. D., Dodman, T., & Urban, E. K. (2007). The status of cranes in Africa in 2005. 74 Ostrich, 78, 175-184. https://doi.org/10.2989/OSTRICH.2007.78.2.11.91

75 Belton, L. E., Cameron, E. Z., & Dalerum, F. (2018). Spotted hyaena visitation at 76 anthropogenic sites in the Kruger National Park, South Africa. African Zoology, 53(3), 77 113-118. https://doi.org/10.1080/15627020.2018.1518728 78 Bento, C. M., Beilfuss, R. D., & Hockey, P. A. (2007). Distribution, structure and simulation 79 modelling of the Wattled Crane population in the Marromeu Complex of the Zambezi 80 Delta, Mozambique. Ostrich-Journal of African Ornithology, 78, 185–193. 81 Bidwell, M. T. (2004). Breeding habitat selection and reproductive success of Blue Cranes 82 Anthropoides paradiseus in an agricultural landscape of the Western Cape. South 83 Africa. MSc (Conservation Biology) Thesis, University of Cape Town. 84 Bird, J. P., Martin, R., Akçakaya, H. R., Gilroy, J., Burfield, I. J., Garnett, S. T., Symes, A., Taylor, J., Şekercioğlu, Ç. H., & Butchart, S. H. M. (2020). Generation lengths of the 85 86 world's birds and their implications for extinction risk. Conservation Biology, 34, 87 1252-1261. https://doi.org/10.1111/cobi.13486 88 BirdLife International. (2024a). Species factsheet: Anthropoides paradiseus. 89 https://datazone.birdlife.org/species/factsheet/blue-crane-anthropoides-paradiseus 90 BirdLife International. (2024b). Species factsheet: Balearica regulorum. 91 https://datazone.birdlife.org/species/factsheet/grey-crowned-crane-balearica-92 regulorum 93 Blumstein, D. T. (2006). Developing an evolutionary ecology of fear: How life history and 94 natural history traits affect disturbance tolerance in birds. Animal Behaviour, 71, 389-95 399. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2005.05.010 96 Bodey, T. W., Cleasby, I. R., Bell, F., Parr, N., Schultz, A., Votier, S. C., & Bearhop, S. 97 (2018). A phylogenetically controlled meta-analysis of biologging device effects on 98 birds: Deleterious effects and a call for more standardized reporting of study data. 99 Methods in Ecology and Evolution, 9, 946–955. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-100 210X.12934 101 Borad, C. K., Mukherjee, A., & Parasharya, B. M. (2001). Nest site selection by the Indian 102 sarus crane in the paddy crop agroecosystem. Biological Conservation, 98, 89-96. 103 https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-3207(00)00145-2 104 Borrelle, S. B., & Fletcher, A. T. (2017). Will drones reduce investigator disturbance to 105 surface-nesting seabirds? Marine Ornithology, 45, 89-94. 106 Both, C., Bouwhuis, S., Lessells, C. M., & Visser, M. E. (2006). Climate change and 107 population declines in a long-distance migratory bird. *Nature*, 441, 81–83. 108 https://doi.org/10.1038/nature04539 109 Boucher, D. H. (1977). On wasting parental investment. The American Naturalist, 111(980), 110 786-788. 111 Bowkett, A. E. (2009). Recent captive-breeding proposals and the return of the ark concept 112 to global species conservation. Conservation Biology, 23, 773-776.

- 113 https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-1739.2008.01157.x
- Boyce, M. S., Lele, S. R., & Johns, B. W. (2005). Whooping crane recruitment enhanced by
 egg removal. *Biological Conservation*, *126*, 395–401.
- 116 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2005.06.011
- Bravo, C., Sarasa, M., Bretagnolle, V., & Pays, O. (2023). Hedgerows interact with forests to
 shape the abundance of mesopredators and their predation rate on eggs in farmland
 landscapes. *Science of The Total Environment*, *901*, 165712.
- 120 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2023.165712
- Brisson-Curadeau, É., Bird, D., Burke, C., Fifield, D. A., Pace, P., Sherley, R. B., & Elliott, K.
 H. (2017). Seabird species vary in behavioural response to drone census. *Scientific Reports*, 7, 17884. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-18202-3
- Brown, J. L., & Orians, G. H. (1970). Spacing patterns in mobile animals. *Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics*, *1*, 239–262.

126 https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.es.01.110170.001323

- Brown, M. E., Keefer, C. L., & Songsasen, N. (2019). Factors affecting captive whooping
 crane egg fertility: A retrospective analysis. *The Journal of Wildlife Management*, *83*,
 1377–1386. https://doi.org/10.1002/jwmg.21717
- Burgess, N. D., & Hirons, G. J. (1992). Creation and management of artificial nesting sites for
 wetland birds. *Journal of Environmental Management*, *34*, 285–295.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/S0301-4797(11)80004-6
- Burnham, J., Barzen, J., Pidgeon, A. M., Sun, B., Wu, J., Liu, G., & Jiang, H. (2017). Novel
 foraging by wintering Siberian Cranes *Leucogeranus leucogeranus* at China's
 Poyang Lake indicates broader changes in the ecosystem and raises new challenges
 for a critically endangered species. *Bird Conservation International*, *27*(2), 204–223.
 https://doi.org/10.1017/S0959270916000150
- Bussolini, L. T., Crates, R., Magrath, M. J., & Stojanovic, D. (2023). Identifying factors
 affecting captive breeding success in a critically endangered species. *Emu-Austral Ornithology*, *123*, 161–169. https://doi.org/10.1080/01584197.2023.2194541
- Butler, M. J., Metzger, K. L., & Harris, G. M. (2017). Are whooping cranes destined for
 extinction? Climate change imperils recruitment and population growth. *Ecology and*
- 143 *Evolution*, 7, 2821–2834. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.2892
- Callaghan, C. T., Brandis, K. J., Lyons, M. B., Ryall, S., & Kingsford, R. T. (2018). A
 comment on the limitations of UAVS in wildlife research—The example of colonial
- 146 nesting waterbirds. *Journal of Avian Biology*, 49, e01825.

147 https://doi.org/10.1111/jav.01825

Cantu De Leija, A., Mirzadi, R., Randall, J., Portmann, M., Mueller, E., & Gawlik, D. (2023). A
meta-analysis of disturbance caused by drones on nesting birds. *Journal of Field Ornithology*, 94, art3. https://doi.org/10.5751/JFO-00259-940203

- 151 Caswell, H. (2000). Prospective and retrospective perturbation analyses: Their roles in 152 conservation biology. *Ecology*, *81*, 619–627. https://doi.org/10.1890/0012-
- 153 9658(2000)081[0619:parpat]2.0.co;2
- Ceballos, G., Ehrlich, P. R., & Dirzo, R. (2017). Biological annihilation via the ongoing sixth
 mass extinction signaled by vertebrate population losses and declines. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences, 114, E6089–E6096.
- 157 https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1704949114
- 158 Champagnon, J., Carré, H., & Gili, L. (2019). Effects of research disturbance on nest survival 159 in a mixed colony of waterbirds. *PeerJ*, *7*, e7844. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.7844
- 160 Charmantier, A., & Gienapp, P. (2014). Climate change and timing of avian breeding and
 161 migration: Evolutionary versus plastic changes. *Evolutionary Applications*, 7, 15–28.
 162 https://doi.org/10.1111/eva.12126
- 163 Chen, A., Jacob, M., Shoshani, G., & Charter, M. (2023). Using computer vision, image
 164 analysis and UAVs for the automatic recognition and counting of common cranes
 165 (*Grus grus*). *Journal of Environmental Management*, *328*, 116948.
- 166 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2022.116948
- 167 Christensen, R. H. B. (2022). *ordinal—Regression models for ordinal data* (2022.11-16)
 168 [Computer software]. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=ordinal
- Christie, K. S., Gilbert, S. L., Brown, C. L., Hatfield, M., & Hanson, L. (2016). Unmanned
 aircraft systems in wildlife research: Current and future applications of a
 transformative technology. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, *14*, 241–251.
- 172 https://doi.org/10.1002/fee.1281
- Coetzer, C., & Bouwman, H. (2017). Waterbird flight initiation distances at Barberspan Bird
 Sanctuary, South Africa. *Koedoe*, *59*, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.4102/koedoe.v59i1.1419
- Colyn, R. B., Campbell, A., & Smit-Robinson, H. A. (2020). The use of a camera trap and
 acoustic survey design to ascertain the vocalization and breeding status of the highly
 elusive White-winged Flufftail, *Sarothrura ayresi. Avian Conservation and Ecology*,
- 178 *15*, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.5751/ACE-01681-150212
- Connell, J., Hall, M. A., Nimmo, D. G., Watson, S. J., & Clarke, M. F. (2021). Fire, drought
 and flooding rains: The effect of climatic extremes on bird species' responses to time
 since fire. *Diversity and Distributions*, 28, 417–438. https://doi.org/10.1111/ddi.13287
- 182 Conover, R. R., Dinsmore, S. J., & Burger, L. W. (2011). Effects of conservation practices on
 183 bird nest density and survival in intensive agriculture. *Agriculture, Ecosystems &*184 *Environment*, 141, 126–132. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2011.02.022
- Conway, C. J. (2011). Standardized North American marsh bird monitoring protocol. *Waterbirds*, *34*, 319–346. https://doi.org/10.1675/063.034.0307
- 187 Conway, C. J., & Gibbs, J. P. (2011). Summary of intrinsic and extrinsic factors affecting
 188 detection probability of marsh birds. *Wetlands*, *31*, 403–411.

189 https://doi.org/10.1007/s13157-011-0155-x 190 Corcoran, E., Winsen, M., Sudholz, A., & Hamilton, G. (2021). Automated detection of wildlife 191 using drones: Synthesis, opportunities and constraints. Methods in Ecology and 192 Evolution, 12, 1103–1114. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.13581 193 Cordier, C. P., Smith, D. A. E., Smith, Y. E., & Downs, C. T. (2022). Camera trap research in 194 Africa: A systematic review to show trends in wildlife monitoring and its value as a 195 research tool. Global Ecology and Conservation, 40, e02326. 196 Coverdale, B. M. (2006). The use of a geographic information system to investigate the effect 197 of land-use change on wattled crane Bugeranus carunculatus breeding productivity in 198 KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. [MSc]. University of KwaZulu-Natal. Coverdale, B. M., & McCann, K. I. (2003). Breeding age and pair formation of Wattled 199 200 Cranes, Bugeranus carunculatus, in the wild. Ostrich, 74, 226-227. 201 https://doi.org/10.2989/00306520309485397 202 Creed, I. F., Lane, C. R., Serran, J. N., Alexander, L. C., Basu, N. B., Calhoun, A. J. K., 203 Christensen, J. R., Cohen, M. J., Craft, C., D'Amico, E., DeKeyser, E., Fowler, L., 204 Golden, H. E., Jawitz, J. W., Kalla, P., Kirkman, L. K., Lang, M., Leibowitz, S. G., 205 Lewis, D. B., ... Smith, L. (2017). Enhancing protection for vulnerable waters. *Nature* 206 Geoscience, 10, 809–815. https://doi.org/10.1038/ngeo3041 207 Crone, E. E. (2001). Is survivorship a better fitness surrogate than fecundity? *Evolution*, 55, 208 2611–2614. https://doi.org/10.1554/0014-3820(2001)055[2611:isabfs]2.0.co;2 209 Culik, B. M., Bannasch, R., & Wilson, R. P. (1994). External devices on penguins: How 210 important is shape? Marine Biology, 118, 353-357. 211 https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00350291 212 Dalu, T., Wasserman, R. J., & Dalu, M. T. B. (2017). Agricultural intensification and drought 213 frequency increases may have landscape-level consequences for ephemeral 214 ecosystems. Global Change Biology, 23, 983-985. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.13549 215 De Villemereuil, P., Rutschmann, A., Ewen, J. G., Santure, A. W., & Brekke, P. (2019). Can 216 threatened species adapt in a restored habitat? No expected evolutionary response in 217 lay date for the New Zealand hihi. Evolutionary Applications, 12, 482–497. 218 https://doi.org/10.1111/eva.12727 219 Donaldson, L., Bridge, D. J., & Hilton, G. M. (2023). High survival promotes persistence in a 220 reintroduced population of Common Crane (Grus grus). Ibis, 165, 1129–1144. 221 https://doi.org/10.1111/ibi.13198 222 Donnelly, J. P., King, S. L., Knetter, J., Gammonley, J. H., Dreitz, V. J., Grisham, B. A., 223 Nowak, M. C., & Collins, D. P. (2021). Migration efficiency sustains connectivity 224 across agroecological networks supporting sandhill crane migration. Ecosphere, 12. 225 https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.3543 226 Donnelly, J. P., Moore, J. N., Casazza, M. L., & Coons, S. P. (2022). Functional wetland loss

227 drives emerging risks to waterbird migration networks. Frontiers in Ecology and 228 Evolution, 10, 844278. https://doi.org/10.3389/fevo.2022.844278 229 Drouilly, M., Clark, A., & O'Riain, M. J. (2018). Multi-species occupancy modelling of 230 mammal and ground bird communities in rangeland in the Karoo: A case for dryland 231 systems globally. Biological Conservation, 224, 16-25. 232 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2018.05.013 233 Du Rant, S. E., Hopkins, W. A., Hepp, G. R., & Walters, J. R. (2013). Ecological, 234 evolutionary, and conservation implications of incubation temperature-dependent 235 phenotypes in birds: Incubation temperature and avian offspring phenotype. 236 Biological Reviews, 88, 499–509. https://doi.org/10.1111/brv.12015 237 Duporge, I., Spiegel, M. P., Thomson, E. R., Chapman, T., Lamberth, C., Pond, C., 238 Macdonald, D. W., Wang, T., & Klinck, H. (2021). Determination of optimal flight 239 altitude to minimise acoustic drone disturbance to wildlife using species audiograms. 240 Methods in Ecology and Evolution, 12, 2196–2207. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-241 210X.13691 242 Edwards, H. A., Converse, S. J., Swan, K. D., & Moehrenschlager, A. (2022). Trading off 243 hatching success and cost in the captive breeding of Whooping Cranes. Animal 244 Conservation, 25, 101–109. https://doi.org/10.1111/acv.12722 Ekman, J., Hatchwell, B. J., Dickinson, J. L., & Griesser, M. (2004). Delayed Dispersal. In W. 245 246 D. Koening & J. L. Dickinson (Eds.), Ecology and Evolution of Cooperative Breeding 247 in Birds. Cambridge University Press. 248 Fakarayi, T., Mashapa, C., Gandiwa, E., & Kativu, S. (2016). Varying land-use has an 249 influence on wattled and grey crowned cranes' abundance and distribution in 250 Driefontein Grasslands important bird area, Zimbabwe. PLOS ONE, 11, e0166209. 251 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0166209 252 Fern, F. K., Thompson, L. J., & Downs, C. T. (2022). An ethogram for the nesting and 253 breeding behaviour of the Hooded Vulture Necrosyrtes monachus. Ostrich, 1–12. 254 https://doi.org/10.2989/00306525.2022.2072965 Fiedler, W. (2009). New technologies for monitoring bird migration and behaviour. Ringing & 255 256 Migration, 24, 175–179. https://doi.org/10.1080/03078698.2009.9674389 257 Fox, J., Semel, B., & Ward, M. P. (2019). The reproductive success of sandhill cranes in 258 midwestern landscapes. The Journal of Wildlife Management, 83, 1163–1171. 259 https://doi.org/10.1002/jwmg.21662 260 Fraixedas, S., Lindén, A., Piha, M., Cabeza, M., Gregory, R., & Lehikoinen, A. (2020). A 261 state-of-the-art review on birds as indicators of biodiversity: Advances, challenges, 262 and future directions. Ecological Indicators, 118, 106728. 263 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2020.106728 264 Francis, R. J., Kingsford, R. T., & Brandis, K. J. (2022). Using drones and citizen science

- counts to track colonial waterbird breeding, an indicator for ecosystem health on the
 Chobe River, Botswana. *Global Ecology and Conservation*, *38*, e02231.
- 267 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gecco.2022.e02231
- Francis, R. J., Lyons, M. B., Kingsford, R. T., & Brandis, K. J. (2020). Counting mixed
 breeding aggregations of animal species using drones: Lessons from waterbirds on
 semi-automation. *Remote Sensing*, *12*, 1185. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs12071185
- Franklin, J. (2013). Species distribution models in conservation biogeography: Developments
 and challenges. *Diversity and Distributions*, *19*, 1217–1223.
- 273 https://doi.org/10.1111/ddi.12125
- Frommolt, K.-H. (2017). Information obtained from long-term acoustic recordings: Applying
 bioacoustic techniques for monitoring wetland birds during breeding season. *Journal of Ornithology*, *158*, 659–668. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10336-016-1426-3
- Frommolt, K.-H., & Tauchert, K.-H. (2014). Applying bioacoustic methods for long-term
 monitoring of a nocturnal wetland bird. *Ecological Informatics*, *21*, 4–12.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoinf.2013.12.009
- Fudala, K., & Bialik, R. J. (2022). The use of drone-based aerial photogrammetry in
- 281 population monitoring of Southern Giant Petrels in ASMA 1, King George Island,
- 282 maritime Antarctica. *Global Ecology and Conservation*, 33, e01990.
- 283 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gecco.2021.e01990
- Gallego, D., & Sarasola, J. H. (2021). Using drones to reduce human disturbance while
 monitoring breeding status of an endangered raptor. *Remote Sensing in Ecology and Conservation*, 7, 550–561. https://doi.org/10.1002/rse2.206
- 287 Galloway-Griesel, T., Roxburgh, L., Smith, T., Mccann, K., Coverdale, B., Craigie, J.,
- Pretorius, M., Nicholson, S., Michael, M., Durgapersad, K., & Chetty, K. (2022).
 Evidence of the effectiveness of conservation interventions from long-term aerial
 monitoring of three crane species in KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. *Bird Conservation*
- 291 *International*, 33, E7. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0959270921000496
- Ge, C., Beauchamp, G., & Li, Z. (2011). Coordination and synchronisation of anti-predation
 vigilance in two crane species. *PLoS ONE*, *6*, e26447.
- 294 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0026447
- Geldart, E. A., Barnas, A. F., Semeniuk, C. A. D., Gilchrist, H. G., Harris, C. M., & Love, O. P.
 (2022). A colonial-nesting seabird shows no heart-rate response to drone-based
 population surveys. *Scientific Reports*, *12*, 18804. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598022-22492-7
- Geldenhuys, J. N. (1984). The status of cranes (Aves: Gruidae) in the Orange Free State.
 South African Journal of Wildlife Research, 14, 15–18.
- 301 Gichuki, N. (1993). Factors Affecting the Reproductive Success of the Crowned Crane.
 302 [Doctoral]. University of Cambridge.

- 303 Gichuki, N. (1996). Factors affecting the reproductive success of crowned cranes.
- 304 Proceedings 1993 African Crane and Wetland Training Workshop, Maun Botswana, 305 175–181.
- 306 Gichuki, N. (2000). Influence of breeding on foraging behaviour and diet of Crowned Cranes. 307 Ostrich, 71, 74–79. https://doi.org/10.1080/00306525.2000.9639873
- 308 Gonzalez, L., Montes, G., Puig, E., Johnson, S., Mengersen, K., & Gaston, K. (2016). 309 Unmanned aerial vehicles (UAVs) and artificial intelligence revolutionizing wildlife 310 monitoring and conservation. Sensors, 16, 97. https://doi.org/10.3390/s16010097
- 311 Greenwood, J. J. D. (2007). Citizens, science and bird conservation. Journal of Ornithology, 312 148, 77-124. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10336-007-0239-9
- Grêt-Regamey, A., Huber, S. H., & Huber, R. (2019). Actors' diversity and the resilience of 313 314 social-ecological systems to global change. Nature Sustainability, 2, 290-297. 315 https://doi.org/10.1038/s41893-019-0236-z
- 316 Griesser, M., Schneider, N. A., Collis, M.-A., Overs, A., Guppy, M., Guppy, S., Takeuchi, N., 317 Collins, P., Peters, A., & Hall, M. L. (2012). Causes of ring-related leg injuries in birds 318 - evidence and recommendations from four field studies. PLoS ONE, 7, e51891. 319 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0051891
- 320 Grime, J. P. (1998). Benefits of plant diversity to ecosystems: Immediate, filter and founder 321 effects. Journal of Ecology, 86, 902-910.
- 322 Gulati, H., & Rana, S. (2021). Nest characteristics and breeding success of Sarus Crane, 323 Antigone antigone (Linnaeus, 1758) (Aves: Gruidae) in different habitats at Dhanauri 324 Wetland, Uttar Pradesh, India. Records of the Zoological Survey of India, 205–210.
- 325 Hammers, M., Richardson, D. S., Burke, T., & Komdeur, J. (2012). Age-dependent terminal 326 declines in reproductive output in a wild bird. PLoS ONE, 7, e40413. 327
 - https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0040413
- 328 Han, X., Guo, Y., Mi, C., Huettmann, F., & Wen, L. (2017). Machine learning model analysis 329 of breeding habitats for the Black-necked Crane in Central Asian Uplands under 330 anthropogenic pressures. Scientific Reports, 7, 6114. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-331 017-06167-2
- 332 Han, X., Huettmann, F., Guo, Y., Mi, C., & Wen, L. (2018). Conservation prioritization with 333 machine learning predictions for the black-necked crane Grus nigricollis, a flagship 334 species on the Tibetan Plateau for 2070. Regional Environmental Change, 18, 2173-335 2182. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10113-018-1336-4
- 336 Han, Y.-G., Yoo, S. H., & Kwon, O. (2017). Possibility of applying unmanned aerial vehicle 337 (UAV) and mapping software for the monitoring of waterbirds and their habitats. 338 Journal of Ecology and Environment, 41, 21. https://doi.org/10.1186/s41610-017-339 0040-5
- 340 Harris, J., & Mirande, C. (2013). A global overview of cranes: Status, threats and

- 341 conservation priorities. *Chinese Birds*, *4*, 189–209.
- 342 https://doi.org/10.5122/cbirds.2013.0025
- Hartup, B. K., & Horwich, R. H. (1994). Early parental care and chick development in a crossfostering trial with white-naped (*Grus vipio*) and greater sandhill (*Grus canadensis tabida*) cranes. *Bird Behavior*, *10*, 21–27.
- Hayes, M. A. (2022). Phenology of territorial Sandhill Cranes on the breeding grounds in
 South-Central Wisconsin. *The American Midland Naturalist*, *187*, 62–70.
 https://doi.org/10.1674/0003-0031-187.1.62
- Hayes, M., & Barzen, J. (2016). Timing of family dissociation does not affect long-term
 survival of Sandhill crane chicks. *Proceedings of the North American Crane Workshop, Lafayette, LO, 13,* 33–41.
- Hedges, S., & O'Brien, T. (Eds.). (2012). Aerial Survey Methods. In *Monitoring Elephant Populations and Assessing Threats* (pp. 162–171). Universities Press.
- Hemminger, K., König, H., Månsson, J., Bellingrath-Kimura, S., & Nilsson, L. (2022). Winners
 and losers of land use change: A systematic review of interactions between the
 world's crane species (*Gruidae*) and the agricultural sector. *Ecology and Evolution*, *12*(3). https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.8719
- Hodgson, J. C., Baylis, S. M., Mott, R., Herrod, A., & Clarke, R. H. (2016). Precision wildlife
 monitoring using unmanned aerial vehicles. *Scientific Reports*, *6*, 22574.
 https://doi.org/10.1038/srep22574
- Hodgson, J. C., Mott, R., Baylis, S. M., Pham, T. T., Wotherspoon, S., Kilpatrick, A. D., Raja
 Segaran, R., Reid, I., Terauds, A., & Koh, L. P. (2018). Drones count wildlife more
 accurately and precisely than humans. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, *9*, 1160–
 1167. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.12974
- Howard, C., Flather, C. H., & Stephens, P. A. (2020). A global assessment of the drivers of
 threatened terrestrial species richness. *Nature Communications*, *11*, 993.
 https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-14771-6
- Humphreys, R. K., & Ruxton, G. D. (2020). Avian distraction displays: A review. *Ibis*, *162*,
 1125–1145. https://doi.org/10.1111/ibi.12814
- Ivey, G. L., & Dugger, B. D. (2008). Factors influencing nest success of greater sandhill
 cranes at Malheur National Wildlife Refuge, Oregon. *Waterbirds*, *31*, 52–61.
 https://doi.org/10.1674/0003-0031-187.1.62
- Ivosevic, B., Han, Y.-G., Cho, Y., & Kwon, O. (2015). The use of conservation drones in
 ecology and wildlife research. *Journal of Ecology and Environment*, *38*, 113–118.
 https://doi.org/10.5141/ecoenv.2015.012
- Jehle, G., Yackel Adams, A. A., Savidge, J. A., & Skagen, S. K. (2004). Nest survival
 estimation: A review of alternatives to the Mayfield estimator. *The Condor*, *106*(3),
 472–484.

- Johnsgard, P. A. (1983). *Cranes of the World: Crowned Crane (*Balearica pauonina). Indiana
 University Press.
- Jones, C. G., Heck, W., Lewis, R. E., Mungroo, Y., Slade, G., & Cade, T. (1995). The
 restoration of the Mauritius Kestrel *Falco punctatus* population. *Ibis*, *137*, S173–S180.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1474-919X.1995.tb08439.x
- Kanyamibwa, S. (1993). Grey Crowned Cranes as indicators for wetland conservation in
 Rwanda. *Proceedings of the 1993 African Crane and Wetland Training Workshop*,
 Maun, Botswana, 199–202.
- Kay, W. P., Naumann, D. S., Bowen, H. J., Withers, S. J., Evans, B. J., Wilson, R. P.,
 Stringell, T. B., Bull, J. C., Hopkins, P. W., & Börger, L. (2019). Minimizing the impact
 of biologging devices: Using computational fluid dynamics for optimizing tag design
 and positioning. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, *10*, 1222–1233.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.13216
- Kays, R., Arbogast, B. S., Baker-Whatton, M., Beirne, C., Boone, H. M., Bowler, M., Burneo,
 S. F., Cove, M. V., Ding, P., Espinosa, S., Gonçalves, A. L. S., Hansen, C. P.,
- Jansen, P. A., Kolowski, J. M., Knowles, T. W., Lima, M. G. M., Millspaugh, J.,
- McShea, W. J., Pacifici, K., ... Spironello, W. R. (2020). An empirical evaluation of
 camera trap study design: How many, how long and when? *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, *11*, 700–713. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.13370
- Kerr, J. T. (2020). Racing against change: Understanding dispersal and persistence to
 improve species' conservation prospects. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B*, 287,
 20202061. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2020.2061
- King, R. S., Espenshade, J. L., Kirkpatrick-Wahl, S. K., Lapinski, M. K., Malekan, I., & Ricket,
 J. M. (2013). Whooping crane *Grus americana* chick mortality and management
 intervention. *Wildlife Biology*, *19*(4), 420–428. https://doi.org/10.2981/12-133
- Kingsford, R. T., Basset, A., & Jackson, L. (2016). Wetlands: Conservation's poor cousins. *Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems*, *26*(5), 892–916.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/agc.2709
- 407 Kingsford, R. T., & Porter, J. L. (2009). Monitoring waterbird populations with aerial
 408 surveys—What have we learnt? *Wildlife Research*, *36*, 29.
- 409 https://doi.org/10.1071/WR08034
- Kong, D., Møller, A. P., & Zhang, Y. (2021). Disturbance and predation risk influence
 vigilance synchrony of Black-necked Cranes *Grus nigricollis*, but not as strongly as
 expected. *Ecology and Evolution*, *11*, 2289–2298. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.7196
- Krajewski, C., Sipiorski, J. T., & Anderson, F. E. (2010). Complete mitochondrial genome
 sequences and the phylogeny of cranes (Gruiformes: Gruidae). *The Auk*, *127*, 440–
 452. https://doi.org/10.1525/auk.2009.09045
- 416 Krause, D. J., Hinke, J. T., Goebel, M. E., & Perryman, W. L. (2021). Drones minimize

- 417 antarctic predator responses relative to ground survey methods: An appeal for
- 418 context in policy advice. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, *8*, 648772.
- 419 https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2021.648772
- Lacy, A. E., Barzen, J. A., Moore, D. M., & Norris, K. E. (2015). Changes in the number and
 distribution of Greater Sandhill Cranes in the eastern population: Number and
 distribution of eastern Sandhill Cranes. *Journal of Field Ornithology*, *86*, 317–325.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/jofo.12124
- Lameris, T. K., Müskens, G. J. D. M., Kölzsch, A., Dokter, A. M., Van der Jeugd, H. P., &
 Nolet, B. A. (2018). Effects of harness-attached tracking devices on survival,
 migration, and reproduction in three species of migratory waterfowl. *Animal*
- 427 *Biotelemetry*, 6, 7. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40317-018-0153-3
- Laux, A., Waltert, M., & Gottschalk, E. (2022). Camera trap data suggest uneven predation
 risk across vegetation types in a mixed farmland landscape. *Ecology and Evolution*, *12*, e9027. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.9027
- Lavorel, S., Locatelli, B., Colloff, M. J., & Bruley, E. (2020). Co-producing ecosystem services
 for adapting to climate change. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, *375*, 20190119. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2019.0119
- 433 *Biological Sciences*, 373, 20190119. https://doi.org/10.1090/15ib.2019.0119
- Ledwoń, M., Flis, A., Banach, A., Kusal, B., Łożyńska, H., Atamas, N., Broński, S., & Betleja,
 J. (2023). Do females of Whiskered Tern *Chlidonias hybrida* renest after offspring
- 436 desertion? *The European Zoological Journal*, 90, 237–247.
- 437 https://doi.org/10.1080/24750263.2023.2184876
- Lee, W. Y., Park, M., & Hyun, C.-U. (2019). Detection of two Arctic birds in Greenland and an
 endangered bird in Korea using RGB and thermal cameras with an unmanned aerial
 vehicle (UAV). *PLOS ONE*, *14*, e0222088.
- 441 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0222088
- Lees, A. C., Haskell, L., Allinson, T., Bezeng, S. B., Burfield, I. J., Renjifo, L. M., Rosenberg,
 K. V., Viswanathan, A., & Butchart, S. H. M. (2022). State of the world's birds. *Annual Review of Environment and Resources*, *47*, 231–260.
- 445 https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-environ-112420-014642
- Lenth, R. (2023). *emmeans: Estimated Marginal Means, aka Least-Squares Means* (1.8.7)
 [Computer software]. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=emmeans
- Li, C., Zhou, L., Xu, L., Zhao, N., & Beauchamp, G. (2015). Vigilance and activity time-budget
 adjustments of wintering Hooded Cranes, *Grus monacha*, in human-dominated
 foraging habitats. *PLOS ONE*, *10*, e0118928.
- 451 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0118928
- Li, Y., Qian, F., Silbernagel, J., & Larson, H. (2019). Community structure, abundance
 variation and population trends of waterbirds in relation to water level fluctuation in
 Poyang Lake. *Journal of Great Lakes Research*, *45*, 976–985.

455 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jglr.2019.08.002 456 Linchant, J., Lisein, J., Semeki, J., Lejeune, P., & Vermeulen, C. (2015). Are unmanned 457 aircraft systems (UASs) the future of wildlife monitoring? A review of 458 accomplishments and challenges. Mammal Review, 45, 239-252. 459 https://doi.org/https:/doi.org/10.1111/mam.12046 460 Lindenmayer, D. B., & Likens, G. E. (2011). Direct measurement versus surrogate indicator 461 species for evaluating environmental change and biodiversity loss. *Ecosystems*, 14, 462 47-59. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10021-010-9394-6 463 Lyons, M., Brandis, K., Callaghan, C., McCann, J., Mills, C., Ryall, S., & Kingsford, R. (2018). 464 Bird interactions with drones, from individuals to large colonies. Australian Field Ornithology, 35, 51–56. https://doi.org/10.20938/afo35051056 465 466 Malhi, Y., Franklin, J., Seddon, N., Solan, M., Turner, M. G., Field, C. B., & Knowlton, N. 467 (2020). Climate change and ecosystems: Threats, opportunities and solutions. 468 Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 375, 469 20190104. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2019.0104 470 Marcelino, J., Silva, J. P., Gameiro, J., Silva, A., Rego, F. C., Moreira, F., & Catry, I. (2020). 471 Extreme events are more likely to affect the breeding success of lesser kestrels than average climate change. Scientific Reports, 10, 7207. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-472 473 020-64087-0 474 Marchowski, D. (2021). Drones, automatic counting tools, and artificial neural networks in 475 wildlife population censusing. Ecology and Evolution, 11(22), 16214–16227. 476 https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.8302 477 Marchowski, D., Jankowiak, Ł., Ławicki, Ł., & Wysocki, D. (2018). Waterbird counts on large 478 water bodies: Comparing ground and aerial methods during different ice conditions. 479 *PeerJ*, 6, e5195. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.5195 480 Martay, B., Pearce-Higgins, J. W., Harris, S. J., & Gillings, S. (2023). Breeding ground 481 temperature rises, more than habitat change, are associated with spatially variable 482 population trends in two species of migratory bird. Ibis, 165, 34-54. 483 https://doi.org/10.1111/ibi.13101 484 McCann, K. I., & Benn, G. A. (2006). Land use patterns within Wattled Crane (Bugeranus 485 carunculatus) home ranges in an agricultural landscape in KwaZulu-Natal, South 486 Africa. Ostrich, 77, 186–194. https://doi.org/10.2989/00306520609485532 487 McCann, K., & Wilkins, H. (1995). A study of the annual biology and movement patterns of 488 the three crane species in the KwaZulu-Natal Midlands for the purpose of aiding the 489 selection of the route for the Ariadne-Venus 400 kV transmission powerline. 490 Unpublished Report. Johannesburg, South Africa. ESKOM and Endangered Wildlife 491 Trust. p, 65. 492 McDuie, F., Casazza, M. L., Overton, C. T., Herzog, M. P., Hartman, C. A., Peterson, S. H.,

- 493 Feldheim, C. L., & Ackerman, J. T. (2019). GPS tracking data reveals daily spatio-
- 494 temporal movement patterns of waterfowl. *Movement Ecology*, 7, 6.
- 495 https://doi.org/10.1186/s40462-019-0146-8
- Meine, C. D., & Archibald, G. W. (Eds.). (1996). *The cranes: Status survey and conservation action plan.* IUCN.
- Mi, C., Huettmann, F., Guo, Y., Han, X., & Wen, L. (2017). Why choose Random Forest to
 predict rare species distribution with few samples in large undersampled areas?
 Three Asian crane species models provide supporting evidence. *PeerJ*, *5*, e2849.
 https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.2849
- Mikula, P., Tomášek, O., Romportl, D., Aikins, T. K., Avendaño, J. E., Braimoh-Azaki, B. D.,
 Chaskda, A., Cresswell, W., Cunningham, S. J., & Dale, S. (2023). Bird tolerance to
 humans in open tropical ecosystems. *Nature Communications*, *14*(1), 2146.
- Miller, T. P., & Barzen, J. A. (2016). Habitat selection by breeding Sandhill Cranes in Central
 Wisconsin. *Proceedings of the North American Crane Workshop, Lafayette, LO, 13*,
 1–13.
- Mitsch, W. J., Bernal, B., & Hernandez, M. E. (2015). Ecosystem services of wetlands. *International Journal of Biodiversity Science, Ecosystem Services & Management*,
 11, 1–4. https://doi.org/10.1080/21513732.2015.1006250
- Mo, M., & Bonatakis, K. (2022). Approaching wildlife with drones: Using scientific literature to
 identify factors to consider for minimising disturbance. *Australian Zoologist*, *42*, 1–29.
 https://doi.org/10.7882/AZ.2021.015
- Møller, A. P., Rubolini, D., & Lehikoinen, E. (2008). Populations of migratory bird species that
 did not show a phenological response to climate change are declining. *Proceedings*of the National Academy of Sciences, 105, 16195–16200.
- 517 https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0803825105
- Møller, A. P., Samia, D. S. M., Weston, M. A., Guay, P.-J., & Blumstein, D. T. (2016). Flight
 initiation distances in relation to sexual dichromatism and body size in birds from
 three continents. *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society*, *117*(4), 823–831.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/bij.12706
- Moore, J. F., Soanes, K., Balbuena, D., Beirne, C., Bowler, M., Carrasco-Rueda, F., Cheyne,
 S. M., Coutant, O., Forget, P., Haysom, J. K., Houlihan, P. R., Olson, E. R.,
 Lindshield, S., Martin, J., Tobler, M., Whitworth, A., & Gregory, T. (2021). The
- 525 potential and practice of arboreal camera trapping. *Methods in Ecology and* 526 *Evolution*, *12*, 1768–1779. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.13666
- Morelli, F., Benedetti, Y., Díaz, M., Grim, T., Ibáñez-Álamo, J. D., Jokimäki, J., KaisanlahtiJokimäki, M., Tätte, K., Markó, G., Jiang, Y., Tryjanowski, P., & Møller, A. P. (2019).
 Contagious fear: Escape behavior increases with flock size in European gregarious
 birds. *Ecology and Evolution*, *9*, 6096–6104. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.5193

- 531 Morrison, K. (1998). *Habitat utilization and the population ecology of cranes in the Dullstroom* 532 *area of the Mpumalanga province* [MSc]. University of Pretoria.
- 533 Morrison, K. (2015). *International single species action plan for the conservation of the Grey* 534 *Crowned-crane (Balearica regulorum)* (59; AEWA Technical Series).
- Morrison, K., & Bothma, J. (1998). Wetland nesting sites of Wattled and Grey Crowned
 Cranes on the Steenkampsberg Plateau, South Africa. South African Journal of *Wildlife Research*, 28, 110–120.
- Morrison, K., Dodman, T., Scott, A., Shanungu, G., Smallie, J., & Versveld, W. (2019).
 Species review: Grey crowned crane (*Balearica regulorum*). *Crane Conservation Strategy*, 261–271.
- Mouillot, D., Bellwood, D. R., Baraloto, C., Chave, J., Galzin, R., Harmelin-Vivien, M.,
 Kulbicki, M., Lavergne, S., Lavorel, S., Mouquet, N., Paine, C. E. T., Renaud, J., &
- 543Thuiller, W. (2013). Rare species support vulnerable functions in high-diversity544ecosystems. *PLoS Biology*, *11*, e1001569.
- 545 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.1001569
- 546 Mulero-Pázmány, M., Jenni-Eiermann, S., Strebel, N., Sattler, T., Negro, J. J., & Tablado, Z. 547 (2017). Unmanned aircraft systems as a new source of disturbance for wildlife: A
- 548 systematic review. *PLOS ONE*, *12*, e0178448.
- 549 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0178448
- Murray, B. G. (2000). Measuring annual reproductive success in birds. *The Condor*, *102*,
 470–473. https://doi.org/10.1093/condor/102.2.470
- Nasirwa, O., & Bennun, L. A. (2000). Co-ordinated waterbird counts: The Kenyan
 experience. *Ostrich*, *71*(1–2), 99–101.
- 554 https://doi.org/10.1080/00306525.2000.9639881
- Neate-Clegg, M. H. C., Horns, J. J., Adler, F. R., Kemahlı Aytekin, M. Ç., & Şekercioğlu, Ç.
 H. (2020). Monitoring the world's bird populations with community science data. *Biological Conservation*, 248, 108653. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2020.108653
- 558 Nesbitt, S. A. (1988). Nesting, renesting, and manipulating nesting of Florida Sandhill

559 Cranes. *The Journal of Wildlife Management*, 52, 758.

- 560 https://doi.org/10.2307/3800943
- 561 Nichols, J., & Williams, B. (2006). Monitoring for conservation. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, *21*, 668–673. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2006.08.007
- Nilsson, L., Bunnefeld, N., Persson, J., Žydelis, R., & Månsson, J. (2019). Conservation
 success or increased crop damage risk? The Natura 2000 network for a thriving
 migratory and protected bird. *Biological Conservation*, 236, 1–7.
- 566 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2019.05.006
- 567 Nisbet, I. C. T. (2001). Detecting and measuring senescence in wild birds: Experience with
 568 long-lived seabirds. *Experimental Gerontology*, *36*, 833–843.

- 569 https://doi.org/10.1016/S0531-5565(00)00244-8
- Nováková, N., & Robovský, J. (2021). Behaviour of cranes (family Gruidae) mirrors their
 phylogenetic relationships. *Avian Research*, *12*, 40. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40657021-00275-4
- 573 Nowald, G. (2001). Verhalten von Kranichfamilien (*Grus grus*) in Brutrevieren
- 574Nordostdeutschlands: Investition der Altvögel in ihre Nachkommen. Journal Für575Ornithologie, 142, 390–403. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1439-0361.2001.01028.x
- Nowald, G., Fanke, J., & Hansbaurer, M. M. (2018). Linking crane life history and feeding
 ecology with natural habitats and agricultural lands. *Cranes and Agriculture: A Global Guide for Sharing the Landscape. Baraboo, Wisconsin, USA: International Crane Foundation. p*, 18–35.
- 580 Ojaste, I., Leito, A., Suorsa, P., Hedenström, A., Sepp, K., Leivits, M., Sellis, U., & Väli, Ü.
 581 (2020). From northern Europe to Ethiopia: Long-distance migration of Common
 582 Cranes (*Grus grus*). *Ornis Fennica*, 97, 14.
- 583 Okes, N. C., Hockey, P. A. R., & Cumming, G. S. (2008). Habitat use and life history as
 584 predictors of bird responses to habitat change. *Conservation Biology*, *22*, 151–162.
 585 https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-1739.2007.00862.x
- Oksanen, J., Simpson, G. L., Blanchet, F. G., Kindt, R., Legendre, P., Minchin, P. R., O'Hara,
 R. B., Solymos, P., Stevens, M. H. H., Szoecs, E., Wagner, H., Barbour, M.,
- 588 Bedward, M., Bolker, B., Borcard, D., Carvalho, G., Chirico, M., Caceres, M. D.,
- 589 Durand, S., ... Ter Braak, C. J. F. (2022). *vegan: Community Ecology Package* (2.6590 4) [Computer software]. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=vegan
- Oliver, T. H., Heard, M. S., Isaac, N. J. B., Roy, D. B., Procter, D., Eigenbrod, F., Freckleton,
 R., Hector, A., Orme, C. D. L., Petchey, O. L., Proença, V., Raffaelli, D., Suttle, K. B.,
 Mace, G. M., Martín-López, B., Woodcock, B. A., & Bullock, J. M. (2015). Biodiversity
 and resilience of ecosystem functions. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, *30*, 673–684.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2015.08.009
- 596 Olupot, W. (2016). Grey Crowned Crane threat assessment around the wetlands of eastern
 597 Uganda. Ostrich, 87, 263–270. https://doi.org/10.2989/00306525.2016.1214931
- Olupot, W., Mugabe, H., & Plumptre, A. J. (2010). Species conservation on humandominated landscapes: The case of crowned crane breeding and distribution outside
 protected areas in Uganda. *African Journal of Ecology*, *48*, 119–125.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2028.2009.01091.x
- Ortmann, C. R., & Johnson, S. D. (2021). How reliable are motion-triggered camera traps for
 detecting small mammals and birds in ecological studies? *Journal of Zoology*, *313*,
 202–207. https://doi.org/10.1111/jzo.12849
- Owens, I. P. F., & Bennett, P. M. (2000). Ecological basis of extinction risk in birds: Habitat
 loss versus human persecution and introduced predators. *Proceedings of the*

607 *National Academy of Sciences*, 97, 12144–12148.

608 https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.200223397

- Pearce-Higgins, J. W., Dennis, P., Whittingham, M. J., & Yalden, D. W. (2010). Impacts of
 climate on prey abundance account for fluctuations in a population of a northern
 wader at the southern edge of its range: Climate and a northern wader. *Global*
- 612 *Change Biology*, *16*, 12–23. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2009.01883.x
- Peisley, R. K., Saunders, M. E., & Luck, G. W. (2015). A systematic review of the benefits
 and costs of bird and insect activity in agroecosystems. *Springer Science Reviews*, *3*,
 113–125. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40362-015-0035-5
- Pillay, R., Venter, M., Aragon-Osejo, J., González-del-Pliego, P., Hansen, A. J., Watson, J.
 E., & Venter, O. (2022). Tropical forests are home to over half of the world's
 vertebrate species. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, *20*, 10–15.

619 https://doi.org/10.1002/fee.2420

- 620 Pomeroy, D. (1980). Aspects of the ecology of Crowned Cranes *Balearica regulorum*.
 621 *Scopus*, *4*, 29–35.
- Qufa, C. A., & Bekele, A. (2019). A preliminary survey of medium and large-sized mammals
 from Lebu Natural Protected Forest, Southwest Showa, Ethiopia. *Ecology and Evolution*, 9, 12322–12331. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.5733
- R Core Team. (2022). *R: A language and environment for statistical computing* (4.2.1)
 [Computer software]. R Foundation for Statistical Computing. https://www.Rproject.org/
- Ramírez, F., Rodríguez, C., Seoane, J., Figuerola, J., & Bustamante, J. (2018). How will
 climate change affect endangered Mediterranean waterbirds? *PLOS ONE*, *13*,
 e0192702. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0192702
- Rawat, U. S., & Agarwal, N. K. (2015). Biodiversity: Concept, threats and conservation. *Environment Conservation Journal*, *16*, 19–28.
- 633 https://doi.org/10.36953/ECJ.2015.16303
- Rebolo-Ifrán, N., Graña Grilli, M., & Lambertucci, S. A. (2019). Drones as a threat to wildlife:
 YouTube complements science in providing evidence about their effect.
- 636 Environmental Conservation, 46, 205–210.
- 637 https://doi.org/10.1017/S0376892919000080
- Reintsma, K. M., McGowan, P. C., Callahan, C., Collier, T., Gray, D., Sullivan, J. D., &
 Prosser, D. J. (2018). Preliminary evaluation of behavioral response of nesting
 waterbirds to small unmanned aircraft flight. *Waterbirds*, *41*, 326–331.
- 641 https://doi.org/10.1675/063.041.0314
- Rime, Y., Luisier, C., Arlettaz, R., & Jacot, A. (2020). Landscape heterogeneity and
 management practices drive habitat preferences of wintering and breeding birds in
 intensively-managed fruit-tree plantations. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*,
645 295, 106890. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2020.106890 646 Robinson, N. M., Scheele, B. C., Legge, S., Southwell, D. M., Carter, O., Lintermans, M., 647 Radford, J. Q., Skroblin, A., Dickman, C. R., Koleck, J., Wayne, A. F., Kanowski, J., 648 Gillespie, G. R., & Lindenmayer, D. B. (2018). How to ensure threatened species 649 monitoring leads to threatened species conservation. Ecological Management & 650 Restoration, 19, 222-229. https://doi.org/10.1111/emr.12335 651 Root-Bernstein, M. (2021). Why do birds false alarm flight? *Birds*, 3, 29–37. 652 https://doi.org/10.3390/birds3010002 653 Ruiz-Guerra, C., & Echeverry-Galvis, M. Á. (2019). Prey consumed by wading birds in 654 mangrove swamps of the Caribbean coast of Colombia. Journal of Natural History, 655 53, 1823-1836. https://doi.org/10.1080/00222933.2019.1667037 656 Saalfeld, S. T., Hill, B. L., Hunter, C. M., Frost, C. J., & Lanctot, R. B. (2021). Warming Arctic 657 summers unlikely to increase productivity of shorebirds through renesting. Scientific 658 Reports, 11, 15277. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-94788-z 659 Samia, D. S. M., Nakagawa, S., Nomura, F., Rangel, T. F., & Blumstein, D. T. (2015). Increased tolerance to humans among disturbed wildlife. Nature Communications. 6. 660 661 8877. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms9877 662 Sasse, D. B. (2003). Job-related mortality of wildlife workers in the United States, 1937-2000. 663 Wildlife Society Bulletin, 31, 1015–1020. 664 Scarton, F., & Valle, R. (2020). Drone assessment of habitat selection and breeding success 665 of Gull-billed Tern Gelochelidon nilotica nesting on low-accessibility sites: A case 666 study. Rivista Italiana Di Ornitologia, 90. https://doi.org/10.4081/rio.2020.475 667 Schad, L., & Fischer, J. (2022). Opportunities and risks in the use of drones for studying 668 animal behaviour. Methods in Ecology and Evolution, 14, 1864–1872. 669 https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.13922 670 Scholten, B. D., Beard, A. R., Choi, H., Baker, D. M., Caulfield, M. E., & Proppe, D. S. 671 (2020). Short-term exposure to unmanned aerial vehicles does not alter stress 672 responses in breeding tree swallows. Conservation Physiology, 8, coaa080. 673 https://doi.org/10.1093/conphys/coaa080 674 Schroeder, N. M., Panebianco, A., Gonzalez Musso, R., & Carmanchahi, P. (2020). An 675 experimental approach to evaluate the potential of drones in terrestrial mammal 676 research: A gregarious ungulate as a study model. Royal Society Open Science, 7, 677 191482. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsos.191482 678 Seress, G., Sándor, K., Evans, K. L., & Liker, A. (2020). Food availability limits avian 679 reproduction in the city: An experimental study on great tits Parus major. Journal of 680 Animal Ecology, 89, 1570–1580. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.13211 681 Sheriff, M. J., Dantzer, B., Delehanty, B., Palme, R., & Boonstra, R. (2011). Measuring stress 682 in wildlife: Techniques for quantifying glucocorticoids. Oecologia, 166, 869-887.

- 683 https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-011-1943-y
- Sica, Y. V., Gavier-Pizarro, G. I., Pidgeon, A. M., Travaini, A., Bustamante, J., Radeloff, V.
 C., & Quintana, R. D. (2018). Changes in bird assemblages in a wetland ecosystem
 after 14 years of intensified cattle farming. *Austral Ecology*, *43*, 786–797.
- 687 https://doi.org/10.1111/aec.12621
- Sievers, M., Hale, R., Parris, K. M., & Swearer, S. E. (2018). Impacts of human-induced
 environmental change in wetlands on aquatic animals. *Biological Reviews*, *93*, 529–
 554. https://doi.org/10.1111/brv.12358
- 691 Sikora, A., & Marchowski, D. (2023). The use of drones to study the breeding productivity of
 692 Whooper Swan *Cygnus cygnus*. *The European Zoological Journal*, *90*(1), 193–200.
 693 https://doi.org/10.1080/24750263.2023.2181414
- Sillett, T. S., Holmes, R. T., & Sherry, T. W. (2000). Impacts of a global climate cycle on
 population dynamics of a migratory songbird. *Science*, *288*, 2040–2042.
 https://doi.org/10.1126/science.288.5473.2040
- 697 Simmons, R. E., Barnard, P., Dean, W., Midgley, G. F., Thuiller, W., & Hughes, G. (2004).
 698 Climate change and birds: Perspectives and prospects from southern Africa. *Ostrich*,
 699 75, 295–308. https://doi.org/10.2989/00306520409485458
- Singh, N. J., & Milner-Gulland, E. J. (2011). Monitoring ungulates in Central Asia: Current
 constraints and future potential. *Oryx*, *45*, 38–49.
- 702 https://doi.org/10.1017/S0030605310000839
- Soriano-Redondo, A., Inger, R., Sherley, R. B., Rees, E. C., Abadi, F., McElwaine, G.,
 Colhoun, K., Einarsson, O., Thorstensen, S., Newth, J., Brides, K., Hodgson, D. J., &
 Bearhop, S. (2023). Demographic rates reveal the benefits of protected areas in a
 long-lived migratory bird. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *120*,
 e2212035120. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2212035120
- Sorrell, K., Dawlings, F., Mackay, C., & Clarke, R. (2023). Routine and safe operation of
 remotely piloted aircraft systems in areas with high densities of flying birds. *Drones*,
 710 7, 510. https://doi.org/10.3390/drones7080510
- Spalding, M. G., Folk, M. J., Nesbitt, S. A., Folk, M. L., & Kiltie, R. (2009). Environmental
 correlates of reproductive success for introduced resident whooping cranes in Florida. *Waterbirds*, *32*, 538–547.
- Stabach, J. A., Laporte, N., & Olupot, W. (2009). Modeling habitat suitability for Grey
 Crowned-cranes (*Balearica regulorum gibbericeps*) throughout Uganda. *International Journal of Biodiversity and Conservation*, *1*, 177–186.
- 717 https://doi.org/10.5897/IJBC.9000096
- Stark, B., Smith, B., Anderson, A., Viers, J. H., Chen, Y., & Kelsey, R. (2017). Precision
 counting of Sandhill Cranes in Staten Island by FAA approved small unmanned aerial
 system night missions. *World Environmental and Water Resources Congress 2017*,

721 109-123. 722 Stevens, B. S., & Conway, C. J. (2020). Mapping habitat suitability at range-wide scales: 723 Spatially-explicit distribution models to inform conservation and research for marsh 724 birds. Conservation Science and Practice, 2, e178. https://doi.org/10.1111/csp2.178 725 Su, L., & Zou, H. (2012). Status, threats and conservation needs for the continental 726 population of the Red-crowned Crane. Chinese Birds, 3, 147-164. 727 https://doi.org/10.5122/cbirds.2012.0030 728 Sundar, K. S. G. (2009). Are rice paddies suboptimal breeding habitat for Sarus Cranes in Uttar Pradesh, India? The Condor, 111, 611-623. 729 730 https://doi.org/10.1525/cond.2009.080032 731 Sundar, K. S. G., & Choudhury, B. C. (2005). Effect of incubating adult sex and clutch size 732 on egg orientation in Sarus Cranes Grus antigone. Forktail, 21, 179. 733 Sutherland, C., Hare, D., Johnson, P. J., Linden, D. W., Montgomery, R. A., & Droge, E. 734 (2023). Practical advice on variable selection and reporting using Akaike information 735 criterion. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 290, 20231261. 736 https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2023.1261 737 Swanson, A., Kosmala, M., Lintott, C., Simpson, R., Smith, A., & Packer, C. (2015). 738 Snapshot Serengeti, high-frequency annotated camera trap images of 40 mammalian 739 species in an African savanna. Scientific Data, 2, 150026. 740 https://doi.org/10.1038/sdata.2015.26 Swift, R. J., Anteau, M. J., Ring, M. M., Toy, D. L., & Sherfy, M. H. (2020). Low renesting 741 742 propensity and reproductive success make renesting unproductive for the threatened 743 Piping Plover (Charadrius melodus). The Condor, 122, duz066. 744 https://doi.org/10.1093/condor/duz066 745 Teitelbaum, C. S., Converse, S. J., Fagan, W. F., Böhning-Gaese, K., O'Hara, R. B., Lacy, A. 746 E., & Mueller, T. (2016). Experience drives innovation of new migration patterns of 747 whooping cranes in response to global change. Nature Communications, 7, 12793. 748 https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms12793 749 Teitelbaum, C. S., Converse, S. J., & Mueller, T. (2017). Birds choose long-term partners 750 years before breeding. Animal Behaviour, 134, 147-154. 751 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2017.10.015 752 Teitelbaum, C. S., Converse, S. J., & Mueller, T. (2019). The importance of early life 753 experience and animal cultures in reintroductions. Conservation Letters, 12, e12599. 754 https://doi.org/10.1111/conl.12599 755 Thackeray, S. J., Sparks, T. H., Frederiksen, M., Burthe, S., Bacon, P. J., Bell, J. R., Botham, 756 M. S., Brereton, T. M., Bright, P. W., Carvalho, L., Clutton-Brock, T., Dawson, A., Edwards, M., Elliott, J. M., Harrington, R., Johns, D., Jones, I. D., Jones, J. T., Leech, 757 758 D. I., ... Wanless, S. (2010). Trophic level asynchrony in rates of phenological change

- for marine, freshwater and terrestrial environments. *Global Change Biology*, *16*,
- 760 3304–3313. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2010.02165.x
- Thompson, H. L., Gordon, N. M., Bolt, D. P., Lee, J. R., & Szyszkoski, E. K. (2022). Twentyyear status of the eastern migratory Whooping Crane reintroduction. *Proceedings of the North American Crane Workshop, Lubbock, TX*, 34–51.
- Thorup, K., Korner-Nievergelt, F., Cohen, E. B., & Baillie, S. R. (2014). Large-scale spatial
 analysis of ringing and re-encounter data to infer movement patterns: A review
 including methodological perspectives. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, *5*, 1337–
- 767 1350. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.12258
- Tilman, D., Clark, M., Williams, D. R., Kimmel, K., Polasky, S., & Packer, C. (2017). Future
 threats to biodiversity and pathways to their prevention. *Nature*, *546*, 73–81.
 https://doi.org/10.1038/nature22900
- Tilman, D., Isbell, F., & Cowles, J. M. (2014). Biodiversity and ecosystem functioning. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics*, *45*(1), 471–493.
 https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-ecolsys-120213-091917
- Toussaint, A., Brosse, S., Bueno, C. G., Pärtel, M., Tamme, R., & Carmona, C. P. (2021).
 Extinction of threatened vertebrates will lead to idiosyncratic changes in functional
 diversity across the world. *Nature Communications*, *12*, 5162.
 https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-25293-0
- Trolliet, F., Huynen, M.-C., Vermeulen, C., & Hambuckers, A. (2014). Use of camera traps for
 wildlife studies. A review. *Biotechnology, Agronomy, Society and Environment, 18*,
 446–454.
- Tuia, D., Kellenberger, B., Beery, S., Costelloe, B. R., Zuffi, S., Risse, B., Mathis, A., Mathis,
 M. W., van Langevelde, F., Burghardt, T., Kays, R., Klinck, H., Wikelski, M., Couzin, I.
 D., van Horn, G., Crofoot, M. C., Stewart, C. V., & Berger-Wolf, T. (2022).
- 784 Perspectives in machine learning for wildlife conservation. *Nature Communications*,
- 785 13, 792. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-022-27980-y
- Tyrrell, P., Du Toit, J. T., & Macdonald, D. W. (2020). Conservation beyond protected areas:
 Using vertebrate species ranges and biodiversity importance scores to inform policy
 for an east African country in transition. *Conservation Science and Practice*, *2*, e136.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/csp2.136
- Valle, R. G., & Scarton, F. (2019). Effectiveness, efficiency, and safety of censusing Eurasian
 Oystercatchers *Haematopus ostralegus* by unmanned aircraft. *Marine Ornithology*,
 47, 81–87.
- Valle, R. G., & Scarton, F. (2020). Drones improve effectiveness and reduce disturbance of
 censusing common redshanks *Tringa totanus* breeding on salt marshes. *Ardea*, *107*,
 275. https://doi.org/10.5253/arde.v107i3.a3
- Valle, R. G., & Scarton, F. (2021). Monitoring the hatching success of gulls Laridae and terns

797 Sternidae: A comparison of ground and drone methods. *Acta Ornithologica*, *56*, 241–

798 254. https://doi.org/10.3161/00016454AO2021.56.2.010

- van Niekerk, M. H. (2018). Quantifying crop damage by Grey crowned crane *Balearica regulorum regulorum* and evaluating changes in crane distribution in the North
 Eastern Cape, South Africa. In J. E. Austin, K. Morrison, & J. Harris (Eds.), *Cranes and Agriculture* (pp. 200–205). International Crane Foundation.
- van Velden, J. L., Altwegg, R., Shaw, K., & Ryan, P. G. (2017). Movement patterns and
 survival estimates of Blue Cranes in the Western Cape. *Ostrich*, *88*, 33–43.
 https://doi.org/10.2989/00306525.2016.1224782
- Vas, E., Lescroël, A., Duriez, O., Boguszewski, G., & Grémillet, D. (2015). Approaching birds
 with drones: First experiments and ethical guidelines. *Biology Letters*, *11*, 20140754.
 https://doi.org/10.1098/rsbl.2014.0754
- Végvári, Z., Barta, Z., Mustakallio, P., & Székely, T. (2011). Consistent avoidance of human
 disturbance over large geographical distances by a migratory bird. *Biology Letters*, 7,
 811 814–817. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsbl.2011.0295
- Veltheim, I., Cook, S., Palmer, G. C., Hill, F. A. R., & McCarthy, M. A. (2019). Breeding home
 range movements of pre-fledged brolga chicks, *Antigone rubicunda* (Gruidae) in
 Victoria, Australia Implications for wind farm planning and conservation. *Global Ecology and Conservation*, 20, e00703. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gecco.2019.e00703
- Verhoeven, M. A., Loonstra, A. J., McBride, A. D., Macias, P., Kaspersma, W., Hooijmeijer,
 J. C., van der Velde, E., Both, C., Senner, N. R., & Piersma, T. (2020). Geolocators
 lead to better measures of timing and renesting in black-tailed godwits and reveal the
 bias of traditional observational methods. *Journal of Avian Biology*, *51*.
- 820 https://doi.org/10.1111/jav.02259
- Verstraeten, W. W., Vermeulen, B., Stuckens, J., Lhermitte, S., Van der Zande, D., Van
 Ranst, M., & Coppin, P. (2010). Webcams for bird detection and monitoring: A
 demonstration study. *Sensors*, *10*, 3480–3503. https://doi.org/10.3390/s100403480
- Visser, M. E., Gienapp, P., Husby, A., Morrisey, M., De La Hera, I., Pulido, F., & Both, C.
 (2015). Effects of spring temperatures on the strength of selection on timing of
 reproduction in a long-distance migratory bird. *PLOS Biology*, *13*, e1002120.
 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.1002120
- Wamiti, W., Gichuki, N., Sigana, D. A., Njoroge, P., Nowald, G., & Fox, D. (2021).
 Population, flocking behaviour and habitat selection of the Grey Crowned Crane
 Balearica regulorum at Lake Ol'Bolossat basin, Kenya. *Scopus: Journal of East African Ornithology*, *41*(1), 13–23.
- Wamiti, W., Gichuki, N., Sigana, D. A. O., Njoroge, P., Morrison, K., Schröder, W., Ndung'u,
 G., Warui, D., & Rubalcaba, J. G. (2022). Nesting habits of Grey Crowned Crane *Balearica regulorum* in Lake Ol' Bolossat basin, Kenya. *African Journal of Ecology*,

- 835 60, 996–1006. https://doi.org/10.1111/aje.13051
- Wamiti, W., Gichuki, N., Sigana, D., Njoroge, P., Morrison, K., Ndung'u, G., & Rubalcaba, J.
 (2020). Water depth, vegetation height, and offshore distance are critical factors in
 nest-site selection for Grey Crowned Crane at Lake Ol' Bolossat, Kenya. *Authorea*.
 https://doi.org/10.22541/au.160193341.14910098/v1
- Wamiti, W., & Kimani, D. (2020). Kenya's first countrywide census of Grey Crowned Crane
 Balearica regulorum, February–March 2019. *The Bulletin of the African Bird Club*, 27,
 210–218.
- Wang, Z., Li, Z., Beauchamp, G., & Jiang, Z. (2011). Flock size and human disturbance
 affect vigilance of endangered Red-crowned Cranes (*Grus japonensis*). *Biological Conservation*, 144, 101–105. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2010.06.025
- Webster, M. S., Marra, P. P., Haig, S. M., Bensch, S., & Holmes, R. T. (2002). Links between
 worlds: Unraveling migratory connectivity. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, *17*, 76–83.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/S0169-5347(01)02380-1
- Weimerskirch, H., Prudor, A., & Schull, Q. (2018). Flights of drones over sub-Antarctic
 seabirds show species- and status-specific behavioural and physiological responses. *Polar Biology*, *41*, 259–266. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00300-017-2187-z
- Wen, D., Su, L., Hu, Y., Xiong, Z., Liu, M., & Long, Y. (2021). Surveys of large waterfowl and
 their habitats using an unmanned aerial vehicle: A case study on the Siberian Crane. *Drones*, *5*, 102. https://doi.org/10.3390/drones5040102
- Weston, M. A., O'Brien, C., Kostoglou, K. N., & Symonds, M. R. E. (2020). Escape
 responses of terrestrial and aquatic birds to drones: Towards a code of practice to
 minimize disturbance. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 57, 777–785.
- 858 https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.13575
- Weyer, V. D., Granger, J. E., Hill, T. R., & O'Connor, T. G. (2015). Land transformation and
 its implication for biodiversity integrity and hydrological functioning from 1944 to 1999,
 Karkloof catchment, South Africa. *Bothalia*, *45*, 1–13.
- 862 https://doi.org/10.4102/abc.v45i1.1907
- Wiens, J. J. (2011). The niche, biogeography and species interactions. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 366(1576), 2336–2350.
- Willi, M., Pitman, R. T., Cardoso, A. W., Locke, C., Swanson, A., Boyer, A., Veldthuis, M., &
 Fortson, L. (2019). Identifying animal species in camera trap images using deep
 learning and citizen science. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, *10*, 80–91.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.13099
- Williams, D. R., Clark, M., Buchanan, G. M., Ficetola, G. F., Rondinini, C., & Tilman, D.
 (2021). Proactive conservation to prevent habitat losses to agricultural expansion.
- 871 *Nature Sustainability*, *4*, 314–322. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41893-020-00656-5
- Wilson, A. M., Boyle, K. S., Gilmore, J. L., Kiefer, C. J., & Walker, M. F. (2021). Species-

- 873 specific responses of bird song output in the presence of drones. *Drones*, *6*, 1.
- 874 https://doi.org/10.3390/drones6010001
- Wolfson, D. W., Fieberg, J. R., & Andersen, D. E. (2020). Juvenile Sandhill Cranes exhibit
 wider ranging and more exploratory movements than adults during the breeding
 season. *Ibis*, *162*, 556–562. https://doi.org/10.1111/ibi.12786
- Woolley, H. W., Hereford, S. G., & Howard, J. J. (2022). Drivers of annual fledging in the
 Mississippi Sandhill Crane population 1991-2018. *Proceedings of the North American Crane Workshop, Lubbock, TX.* North American Crane Working Group.
- Wu, H., Zha, K., Zhang, M., & Yang, X. (2009). Nest site selection by Black-necked Crane *Grus nigricollis* in the Ruoergai Wetland, China. *Bird Conservation International*, *19*,
 277. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0959270909008168
- Wu, Q., Zou, H., & Ma, J. (2014). Nest site selection of white-naped crane (*Grus vipio*) at
 Zhalong National Nature Reserve, Heilongjiang, China. *Journal of Forestry Research*,
 25, 947–952. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11676-014-0541-3
- Xu, F., Ming, M., Yang, W., Blank, D., Ding, P., & Zhang, T. (2013). Vigilance in Blacknecked Cranes: Effects of predation vulnerability and flock size. *The Wilson Journal*of Ornithology, 125, 208–212.
- Xu, T., Weng, B., Yan, D., Wang, K., Li, X., Bi, W., Li, M., Cheng, X., & Liu, Y. (2019).
 Wetlands of international importance: Status, threats, and future protection. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *16*, 1818.
- 893 https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16101818
- Zacarias, D. A. (2018). Ecological niche modelling of the wattled crane (*Bugeranus carunculatus*) suggest range expansion and contraction during the Pleistocene.
 bioRxiv, 406710. https://doi.org/10.1101/406710
- Zagkle, E., Grosiak, M., Bauchinger, U., & Sadowska, E. T. (2020). Rest-phase hypothermia
 reveals a link between aging and oxidative stress: A novel hypothesis. *Frontiers in Physiology*, *11*, 575060.
- Zbyryt, A., Dylewski, Ł., Morelli, F., Sparks, T. H., & Tryjanowski, P. (2021). Behavioural
 responses of adult and young White Storks *Ciconia ciconia* in nests to an unmanned
 aerial vehicle. *Acta Ornithologica*, *55*, 243–251.
- 903 https://doi.org/10.3161/00016454AO2020.55.2.009
- 2edler, J. (2003). Wetlands at your service: Reducing impacts of agriculture at the watershed
 scale. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, *1*, 66–72.
- 906 https://doi.org/10.1890/1540-9295(2003)001[0065:WAYSRI]2.0.CO;2
- 2elelew, S. A., Abebe, W. B., & Amsalu, T. (2021). Land-use cover change impact on Cranes
 nesting space in the Lake Tana Biosphere Reserve area, Blue Nile Basin. *Wetlands Ecology and Management*, 29, 495–505.
- 910 Zelelew, S. A., Bekele, A., & Archibald, G. (2019). Egg measurements and breeding success

- 911 of the Black Crowned Crane *Balearica pavonina ceciliae* in the Upper Blue Nile Basin
 912 Wetlands, Lake Tana Area, Ethiopia. *Podoces*, *14*, 28–39.
- 2hang, L., An, B., Shu, M., & Yang, X. (2017). Nest-site selection, reproductive ecology and
 shifts within core-use areas of Black-necked Cranes at the northern limit of the
 Tibetan Plateau. *PeerJ*, *5*, e2939. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.2939
- 515 Indean Flateau. Feero, 5, ez555. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.2555
- 2hang, L., An, B., Shu, M., Zhao, C., Yang, X., Suo, Y., Se, Y., & Dabu, X. (2017). Incubation
 strategies of the Black-necked Crane (*Grus nigricollis*) in relation to ambient
 temperature and time of day. *Avian Research*, *8*, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40657-
- 919 017-0076-3
- Zhou, B., & Liang, W. (2020). Avian escape responses to observers wearing clothing of
 different colors: A comparison of urban and rural populations. *Global Ecology and Conservation*, 22, e00921. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gecco.2020.e00921
- 23 Zhu, H., Wang, D., Wang, L., Bai, Y., Fang, J., & Liu, J. (2012). The effects of large herbivore
 grazing on meadow steppe plant and insect diversity. *Journal of Applied Ecology*,
 925 49(5), 1075–1083.
- Zink, R., Kmetova-Biro, E., Agnezy, S., Klisurov, I., & Margalida, A. (2023). Assessing the
 potential disturbance effects on the use of Unmanned Aircraft Systems (UASs) for
 European vultures research: A review and conservation recommendations. *Bird*
- 929 *Conservation International*, 33, e45. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0959270923000102
- 2017 Zuur, A. F., & leno, E. N. (2016). A protocol for conducting and presenting results of
- 933 regression-type analyses. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 7(6), 636–645.